University of Nebraska - Lincoln

DigitalCommons@University of Nebraska - Lincoln

Department of Agronomy and Horticulture: Dissertations, Theses, and Student Research

Agronomy and Horticulture, Department of

5-2024

On-farm Nitrogen and Irrigation Management Strategies to Protect Groundwater Quality in the Bazile Groundwater Management Area

Arshdeep Singh University of Nebraska-Lincoln

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalcommons.unl.edu/agronhortdiss

Part of the Agricultural Science Commons, Agriculture Commons, Agronomy and Crop Sciences Commons, Botany Commons, Horticulture Commons, Other Plant Sciences Commons, and the Plant Biology Commons

Singh, Arshdeep, "On-farm Nitrogen and Irrigation Management Strategies to Protect Groundwater Quality in the Bazile Groundwater Management Area" (2024). *Department of Agronomy and Horticulture: Dissertations, Theses, and Student Research.* 265. https://digitalcommons.unl.edu/agronhortdiss/265

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Agronomy and Horticulture, Department of at DigitalCommons@University of Nebraska - Lincoln. It has been accepted for inclusion in Department of Agronomy and Horticulture: Dissertations, Theses, and Student Research by an authorized administrator of DigitalCommons@University of Nebraska - Lincoln.

ON-FARM NITROGEN AND IRRIGATION MANAGEMENT STRATEGIES TO PROTECT GROUNDWATER QUALITY IN THE BAZILE GROUNDWATER

MANAGEMENT AREA

by

Arshdeep Singh

A DISSERTATION

Presented to the Faculty of

The Graduate College at the University of Nebraska

In Partial Fulfillment of Requirements

For the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Major: Agronomy and Horticulture

(Soil and Water Sciences)

Under the Supervision of Professors Javed Iqbal and Daniel Snow

Lincoln, Nebraska

May, 2024

ON-FARM NITROGEN AND IRRIGATION MANAGEMENT STRATEGIES TO PROTECT GROUNDWATER QUALITY IN THE BAZILE GROUNDWATER MANAGEMENT AREA

Arshdeep Singh, Ph.D.

University of Nebraska, 2024

Advisors: Javed Iqbal and Daniel Snow

Increasing groundwater nitrate (NO₃-N) contamination has raised significant environmental and health concerns in the irrigated sandy soils of Nebraska. Four studies were conducted to evaluate the impact the impact of 1) static (NE Yield Goal) vs. dynamic nitrogen (N) recommendations tools (Maize-N, Canopy Reflectance Sensing, Granular, and Adapt-N), 2) three N (optimum, suboptimum, and low) and irrigation rates (farmer's full irrigation (FIT), 80% FIT, and 60% FIT), 3) conventional N sources vs. enhanced efficiency fertilizers (EEFs), and 4) multiple N splits (2, 3, 4, and 5-N splits) on agronomic (maize yield), environmental (NO₃-N leaching), and economic returns (return to N (RTN) and RTN after considering environmental costs (RTN_{Env}). The first study indicated that the static Nebraska Yield Goal outperformed all the dynamic N tools by predicting the N rate and yield closer to EONR. At the same time, Maize-N recommended N above- and Canopy Reflectance Sensing, Granular, and Adapt-N below the EONR range. Environmentally, N tools did not significantly affect NO₃-N leaching. Economically, all tools were equally effective in determining RTN_{Env}. In the second study, a reduction in N rate by 25% in the suboptimum (202 kg ha⁻¹) and 50% in low N

rate (135 kg ha⁻¹) reduced NO₃-N leaching by 24% (7 kg NO₃-N ha⁻¹) and 51% (15 kg NO₃-N ha⁻¹), maize grain yield by 8% (14.5 Mg ha⁻¹) and 11% (14.0 Mg ha⁻¹), and RTN by \$215 ha⁻¹ and \$298 ha⁻¹, respectively. The 80% FIT had significantly higher grain yield and RTN, and lower NO₃-N leaching by 13-21% than 60% FIT and FIT. In the third study, the use of EEFs (i.e., urea with urease and dual (urease and nitrification) inhibitors) in a single pre-plant application substantially decreased NO₃-N leaching with the levels approaching control treatments in both years, and had the same or better crop yield, and improved economic returns than conventional Urea-UAN split and pre-plant Urea. Lastly, we did not observe any benefit of increasing the number of in-season N-split applications in protecting groundwater quality or improving maize yield in a dry year. Overall, these findings will help producers and policymakers decide the right nitrogen recommendation tools, nitrogen source, and irrigation rates for improving agronomic, economic, and environmental performance.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

An overflow of joy surrounds me as I reflect on the last four years of this journey of growth, both personally and professionally. As the saying goes "If you want to go fast, go alone. If you want to go far, go together." The completion of this dissertation would not have been possible without the support and nurturing of many along the way.

First, I am immensely grateful for the mentors who paved the way for education by actively supporting me to engage in research, extension, teaching, and policymakers. I would like to extend my deepest gratitude to my advisor and mentor Javed Iqbal for his efforts to empower students, promote creative thinking, and convey the importance of communicating expectations and goals. His efforts to prioritize student support among all his many other responsibilities are remarkable. Joining the Soil and Water Quality Team has been a great learning experience with a fundamental role in shaping my career development and future endeavors.

I would also like to extend my sincere thanks to Daniel Snow, Daran Rudnick, and Laila Puntel for their valuable and constructive suggestions during the planning and execution of this project as committee members. Their guidance, support, and contributions cannot be underestimated. In particular, I would like to recognize the efforts of Daran Rudnick for allowing me to work on a water balance model with a new approach and for his patience as I learned the diverse water balance procedures and approaches. I also would like to recognize Dan Snow's support in co-advising throughout the project. I am also grateful for the opportunity provided by Laila Puntel to learn more about the modelling side of the study. Her rich and thought-provoking discussions enlightened my understanding of the processes of integrating data for informed nitrogen recommendations.

I very much appreciate Martha Mamo, Christine Booth, Andrea Basche, Aaron Daigh, Arindam Malakar, and Humberto Blanco for their engagements throughout my program. Special thanks to Morgan McPherson, Lidong Li, Sema Kaplan, Salvador Ramirez II, and Swetabh Patel for helping me on this educational journey and for staying positive and faithful. I cannot leave Nebraska without mentioning Richard Little, Christopher Misar, and the Water for Food Global Institute. The work presented here would not have an impact on the community of stakeholders if it weren't for the collaborative, action-oriented, and integrated approaches that have allowed me to take part in their endeavors as a leader and learner.

Finally, I am very grateful to all my family members and friends in U.S., Punjab India, and beyond. Many thanks to my family and friends who encouraged me from the sidelines all the way through. I am thankful for their unconditional love and support – even miles apart they are constantly present in my thoughts and prayers.

The four years of work summarized in the following several pages have been some of the most pivotal and growth oriented. I am grateful beyond words to all those who were part of this journey. Joy is here, joy is now.

PREFACE

CHAPTER 2 is currently under preparation for submission to Soil Science Society of America Journal

Singh A., Rudnick, D., Snow, D., Proctor, C., & Iqbal, J. "Agronomic, Environmental and Economic Performance of Static vs. Dynamic Nitrogen Recommendation Tools in Irrigated Sandy Soils of Northeast Nebraska".

CHAPTER 3 is currently under preparation for submission to Soil Science Society of America Journal

Singh A., Rudnick, D., Snow, D., Proctor, C., & Iqbal, J. "Tradeoffs Between Maize Yield, Economics, and Groundwater Quality in the Irrigated Sandy Soils of Bazile Groundwater Management Area in Nebraska".

CHAPTER 4 is currently under preparation for submission to Soil Science Society of America Journal

Singh A., Rudnick, D., Snow, D., Proctor, C., & Iqbal, J. "Enhanced Efficiency Fertilizers Improve Groundwater Water Quality in the Bazile Groundwater Management Area of Northeast Nebraska".

CHAPTER 5 is currently under review in Agrosystems, Geosciences & Environment Journal

Singh A., Rudnick, D., Snow, D., Proctor, C., & Iqbal, J. "Impact of split nitrogen applications on nitrate leaching and corn yield in irrigated loamy sand soils of Northeast Nebraska".

TABLE OF CONTENTS

CHAPTER 1 1
MAIZE PRODUCTION, NITROGEN CONSUMPTION AND LOSSES 1
MAIZE NITROGEN RECOMMENDATION TOOLS
OPTIMIZING IRRIGATION AND NITROGEN INPUTS
ENHANCED EFFICIENCY FERTILIZERS
Urease inhibitors
Nitrification inhibitors10
OPTIMIZING NUMBER OF NITROGEN SPLITS
RESEARCH OBJECTIVES13
References
CHAPTER 2
Abstract
INTRODUCTION
MATERIALS AND METHODS
Experimental Site
Experimental design and treatments 42
Crop yield, nitrogen use efficiencies, and economic return
Nitrogen recommendation tools Investigated45
Lysimeter Installation and Water Sampling 49
Water Balance and NO ₃ -N Leaching Calculations
Residual Soil NO ₃ -N and NH ₄ -N Analysis

Statistical Analysis	. 52
Results	. 53
Weather conditions	. 53
NO ₃ -N concentrations in lysimeters	. 55
Maize yield and nitrate leaching response to nitrogen rate	. 59
Which tools gave recommendations close to EONR?	. 59
Performance of tools for agronomic, environmental, and economic response	. 60
Performance of tools for nitrogen use efficiencies	. 62
Residual Soil N for N recommendation tools	. 64
DISCUSSION	. 65
Maize yield and NO ₃ -N leaching response to nitrogen rate	. 65
Agronomic Performance of N tools	. 67
Environmental and Economic Performance of Tools	. 70
CONCLUSION	. 72
References	. 74
CHAPTER 3	. 87
Abstract	. 87
INTRODUCTION	. 88
MATERIALS AND METHODS	. 92
Experimental conditions	. 92
Experimental design and treatments	. 92
Crop Yield, nitrogen and water use efficiencies, and economic return	. 95

v

Lysimeter installation and water sampling	
Water balance and NO ₃ -N leaching calculations	
Residual soil NO3-N and ammonium analysis	
Statistical analysis	
Results	100
Weather conditions	
NO ₃ -N concentration in lysimeters	
Seasonal NO3-N leaching	
Grain yield and aboveground biomass	
Crop N uptake, and other agronomic traits	
Resource (nitrogen and water) use efficiencies	
Economics	
Residual soil nitrogen	
DISCUSSION	
NO3-N leaching	
Crop yield, nitrogen uptake, and net return to nitrogen	
Residual soil nitrogen	
Conclusion	120
References	
CHAPTER 4	
Abstract	
INTRODUCTION	

vi

MATERIALS AND METHODS	144
Experimental conditions	
Site description, experimental design, and crop management	
Crop Yield, Nitrogen Use Efficiencies, and Economic Return	
Lysimeter Installation and Water Sampling	
Water Balance and NO ₃ -N Leaching Calculations	149
Residual Soil NO3-N and NH4-N Analysis	150
Statistical Analysis	151
Results	152
Weather conditions	
NO ₃ -N concentration in lysimeters	
Grain yield and other agronomic parameters	
Economics	
Residual Soil N	
Discussion	
NO3-N leaching	
Crop Yield, Nitrogen Uptake, and Net Returns	
Residual Nitrogen	
Conclusion	
References	
CHAPTER 5	
Abstract	

vii

INTRODUCTION	
MATERIALS AND METHODS	193
Experimental site	193
Experimental design and treatments	193
Crop Yield, Nitrogen Use Efficiencies, and Economic Return	195
Lysimeter Installation and Water Sampling	
Water Balance and NO ₃ -N Leaching Calculations	
Residual Soil Nitrate and Ammonium Analysis	
Statistical Analysis	199
RESULTS	200
Climate	200
NO3-N leaching	200
Agronomic Response, Residual Soil Nitrogen, and Economical Analysis	204
DISCUSSION	
NO3-N Leaching	207
Crop Yield and Nitrogen Use Efficiency	211
Residual N	213
Conclusion	
References	
CHAPTER 6	
SUMMARY AND GENERAL CONCLUSIONS	

LIST OF TABLES

Table 2.1 Selected soil properties at the study site. 42
Table 2.2 Nitrogen rates (kg ha ⁻¹) for the six N rate treatments during 2021 and 2022 44
Table 2.3 Nitrogen rate recommendation from the N recommendation tools during 2021
and 2022
Table 2.4 Residual soil NO ₃ -N and NH ₄ -N from the N recommendation models
Table 3.1 Nitrogen fertilizer inputs at the study site during 2021 and 2022
Table 3.2 Means and probability values for the main effect of nitrogen rate, irrigation
rate, crop growth stage, and their interaction on pore-water NO ₃ -N concentrations during
2021 and 2022
Table 3.3 Treatment means and significance of NO ₃ -N leaching, and agronomic
parameters as affected by treatments in 2021 and 2022 at Creighton, NE 105
Table 3.4 Treatment means and significance of efficiencies and economics as affected by
treatments and their interactions in 2021 and 2022 at Creighton, NE 109
Table 3.5 Treatment means and significance of post-harvest soil NO ₃ -N (a) and NH ₄ -N
(b) at 0-1.2 m soil depth as affected by nitrogen rate, irrigation rate, year and their
interactions in 2021 and 2022 at Creighton, NE
Table 4.1 Timing of N application for various N sources at the study site in the year 2021
and 2022
Table 4.2 Means, probability values, and contrast analysis for the effect of N treatments
on NO ₃ -N concentrations and NO ₃ -N leaching during 2021 and 2022

Table 4.3 Treatment means, significance, and contrast analysis of agronomic paramters as
affected by treatments in 2021 and 2022 at Creighton, NE
Table 4.4 Treatment means, significance, and contrast analysis of efficiencies and
economics as affected by treatments in 2021 and 2022 at Creighton, NE 162
Table 4.5 Treatment means, significance, and contrast analysis for post-harvest soil NO ₃ -
N and NH ₄ -N at 0-1.2 m soil depth as affected by treatments in 2021 and 2022 at
Creighton, NE
Table 5.1 Nitrogen fertilizer treatments in 2021 at the study site
Table 5.2 Treatment means and significance of agronomic paramters, efficiencies, and
economics as affected by N splits at Creighton, NE

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 2.1 Median groundwater NO ₃ -N contamination for Nebraskan townships 41
Figure 2.2 Water amount and nitrate concentrations for three corn growth phases for N
rates in 2021
Figure 2.3 Water amount and nitrate concentrations for three corn growth phases for N
rates in 2022
Figure 2.4 Water amount and nitrate concentrations for three corn growth phases for N
tools in 2021
Figure 2.5 Water amount and nitrate concentrations for three corn growth phases for N
tools in 2022
Figure 2.6 Seasonal average NO ₃ -N concentrations for N rates in (a) 2021 and (b) 2022.
Figure 2.7 Maize yield and NO ₃ -N leaching response to N rates during (a) 2021 and (b)
2022
Figure 2.8 Comparison of N recommendation tool to EONR for N recommendation rate,
maize yield, and NO ₃ -N leaching in the 2021 & 2022
Figure 2.9 RTN and RTN_{Env} (\$ ha ⁻¹) are compared for N recommendation tools against
EONR for 2021 and 2022
Figure 2.10 Partial Factor Productivity and Nitrogen Use Efficiency (kg grain kg-1 N-1)
are compared for N recommendation tools against EONR for 2021 (a and c) and 2022 (b
and d), respectively

Figure 3.1 Water amount and nitrate concentrations for three corn growth phases for N
rates for N and irrigation rates in 2021
Figure 3.2 Water amount and nitrate concentrations for three corn growth phases for N
rates for N and irrigation rates in 2022
Figure 3.3 Relationships of maize yield and NO ₃ -N leaching across two study years for
nitrogen and irrigation rates
Figure 4.1 Water amount and nitrate concentrations for three corn growth phases for N
rates for N sources and timing in 2021
Figure 4.2 Water amount and nitrate concentrations for three corn growth phases for N
rates for N sources and timing in 2022
Figure 4.3 Seasonal average pore water NO ₃ -N concentrations (mg L ⁻¹ ; a, b) and NO ₃ -N
leaching (kg ha ⁻¹ ; c, d) as affected by N treatments in 2021 and 2022 157
Figure 5.1 Water amount and nitrate concentrations for three corn growth phases for N
rates as affected by N-splits
Figure 5.2 Treatment means and significance (error bars) of (a) seasonal average pore-
water NO ₃ -N concentration (mg L^{-1}) and (b) area-based NO ₃ -N leaching (kg ha ⁻¹) as
affected by N-splits
Figure 5.3 Treatment means and significance of agronomic parameters as affected by N-
splits
Figure 5.4 The residual soil N in the soil profile $(0 - 120 \text{ cm})$ at the end of the growing
season

CHAPTER 1

GENERAL INTRODUCTION

Maize Production, Nitrogen Consumption And Losses

Nitrogen (N) is one of the critical crop nutrients needed for increased maize production worldwide. With the increasing population and expanding agricultural lands, N fertilizer consumption has dramatically increased. For example, agricultural use of N fertilizers increased from 11.4 Mega-tonnes (Mt) in 1961 to 107.7 Mt in 2019 (FAOSTAT, 2020) and is predicted to increase by two to three folds by 2050 (Tilman et al., 2002) to meet grain demand increase of 25-70% relative to 2014 (Hunter et al., 2017). When used excessively, N fertilizers lead to a range of environmental problems such as water contamination, biodiversity loss, and greenhouse gas emissions (Iqbal et al., 2013, 2015, 2018; Lin et al., 2012). Nitrogen loss through leaching and runoff deteriorates water resources, both belowground and surface, resulting in non-potable water supplies and eutrophication.

The US is one of the largest maize producers in the world (Hunt et al., 2020). Nebraska produces ~13% of the total maize in the US, with three-fifths of the state under irrigation. Producers in parts of the state commonly use excessive N and irrigation inputs to ensure higher crop yields. However, only 40-60% of the applied N fertilizer is recovered in the harvested crop product (Yan et al., 2014). This indicates low N use efficiency (NUE; the ratio of N recovered in harvested products relative to N inputs) and high potential N losses to the environment. The result of unrecovered N losses is evidenced in groundwater nitrate (NO₃-N) concentrations frequently exceeding the 10 mg L^{-1} EPA drinking water standard (Exner et al., 2014). For example, in the Bazile Groundwater Management Area (BGMA), sandy soils with shallow depth to groundwater and extensive application of N fertilizer and irrigation water have resulted in a high level of NO₃-N contamination in the aquifer. This higher level of NO₃-N leaching to groundwater could be attributed to (1) poor synchrony between N fertilizer applications and crop N demand and (2) excessive N and irrigation inputs. Both result in the leaching of NO₃-N below the crop root zone. Improvements in NUE can be achieved by optimizing N and water inputs based on NO₃-N leaching. Optimized N and water inputs could help communities achieve cropping system goals such as increased crop production, profitability, enhanced environmental protection, and improved sustainability. The following strategies can help optimize nitrogen and water inputs in the irrigated maize cropping system of BGMA in Nebraska and elsewhere.

Maize Nitrogen Recommendation Tools

Excessive N fertilization in annual row crops potentially leads to excessive NO₃-N movement into the groundwater, affecting human health (Spalding et al., 2001), biodiversity, and groundwater-fed riverine systems (Hancock, 2002). On the other hand, reducing the N fertilizer rates decreases the NO₃-N movement and lowers the economic returns and profits to the farmers (Ruan et al., 2016). Therefore, it becomes mandatory to determine the optimum N fertilization rate that has the potential to maintain economically viable crop yields and provide environmental benefits such as reducing in N losses via nitrous oxide emissions and NO₃-N leaching, etc. Some of the factors that complicate the optimization of N include temporal and spatial variability of weather and soil (Archontoulis et al., 2020; Bastos, 2019; Mamo et al., 2003; Puntel et al., 2018, 2024; Thompson et al., 2015) and poor correlation between optimum N rate and yield at optimum N rate (Thorburn et al., 2024).

Variable soil types, weather, and management practices result in under- and over-N application. Therefore, it would be worthwhile to pursue the variable N rate (VNR) application method for site-specific N applications (Mamo et al., 2003; Thompson et al., 2015, 2023). The VNR based on EONR can decrease N application up to 69 kg N ha⁻¹ with little effect on grain yields and increase the profits by \$8-22 ha⁻¹ than uniform N rate (Mamo et al., 2003). Other studies have reported that VNR can also increase N application upto 20 kg N ha⁻¹ compared to uniform N rate with no differences in residual soil N Ferguson et al., 2002). Some earlier results have shown that EONR can typically be about 171-173 g N ha⁻¹ in Nebraska. For example, 32 site-year research trials conducted on irrigated maize on farmer fields and research stations on diverse soils, tillage practices, and climate resulted in an average EONR of 171 kg N ha⁻¹ in Nebraska (2002-2004) (Dobermann et al., 2011). In other 12 site-year research trials from 2004 to 2006, EONR was 173 kg N ha⁻¹ in sandy soils (Alotaibi et al., 2018). Owing to factors such as weather and soil management at diverse temporal and spatial scales (Morris et al., 2018), no maize yield increase was observed to N application in silty clay loam soils from 156 to 234 (Pittelkow et al., 2017) and from 179 to 269 kg N ha⁻¹ in silt loam soils of Illinois (Greer & Pittelkow, 2018); however, high variability for agronomic optimum N rate was observed for Nebraska, Missouri, and Illinois (Kaur et al., 2024).

Furthermore, Puntel et al. (2016) observed higher optimum N rates during the years with above-normal spring precipitation, resulting in a reduction in the mineralization of soil organic matter leading to higher N losses (leaching and denitrification) and lower soil N availability for maize uptake. Similarly, Kaur et al. (2024) observed 80-160 kg N ha⁻¹ higher optimum N rates and 50% lower grain yields in extremely wet climatic conditions than in normal years. Thompson et al. (2023) found that temporal variation was greater than spatial variation and was attributed mainly to inter-annual weather variation, leading to variation in yield.

Agricultural N recommendation tools are developed to optimize N and water inputs to maintain crop yields, reduce N losses, and extend the nutrient inputs to different soil types, seasonal weather variability, and varying management practices. However, the N tools can predict yield, but N rate predictions are highly uncertain (Thorburn et al., 2024). Broadly, two types of N tools exist: (i) static, and (ii) dynamic. The Nebraska yield goal (NE YG) is a static tool with a one-time N recommendation before the growing season (Iqbal et al., 2023). This tool's N recommendations are based on the Stanford yield goal approach that recommends N based on the mass balance equation driven by yield estimates, internal N cycling with soil type, and crop N uptake efficiency (Stanford, 1973). Furthermore, NE YG also possesses the unique features of requiring a wide range of inputs, such as NO₃-N in the maize root zone and irrigation water, N credits from soil organic matter, manure, and leguminous crop, and adjustments for N application timing and prices for yield and N etc, which makes it a successful tool for Nebraska conditions (Iqbal et al., 2023). However, NE YG does not consider annual weather variability for N rate recommendations. Limitations of this method have been described in the literature (Morris et al., 2018).

Meanwhile, other types of tools, known as dynamic N tools, consider annual weather variability in addition to soil and crop inputs, to recommend site-specific N rates

(Mandrini et al., 2021; Morris et al., 2018; Ransom et al., 2020). For example, Maize-N is a crop growth computer simulation model that recommends N based on the soil and crop processes, N transformations, crop N uptake, and soil N depletion (Setiyono et al., 2011). Adapt-N (Melkonian et al., 2008; Melkonian et al., 2005; Melkonian et al., 2007; van Es et al., 2007) and Granular (Gunzenhauser, 2023) are dynamic N tools that consider the site-specific soil and crop conditions, weather, and management inputs to optimize N inputs. Canopy reflectance sensing is another tool that uses active optimal canopy sensing of leaves to determine the leaves' darkness and quantify the in-season N needs using algorithms (Franzen et al., 2016; Holland & Schepers, 2010; Solari et al., 2008). The drawbacks of these dynamic N tools are the added costs of implementation, their accuracy, and their adaptability across diverse soil and weather conditions (Bean et al., 2021; Ransom et al., 2021). At the same time, previous research has shown no significant benefits of using dynamic N tools over static tools (Mandrini et al., 2021). For example, Puntel et al. (2018) reported that yield predictions using process-based models are reliable, but EONR predictions at the V6 maize developmental stage, even with known weather, are uncertain ($R^2 = 0.1$). Similarly, no advantages of weather incorporation in EONR predictions were observed by Qin et al. (2018). Furthermore, Ransom et al. (2020) and Mandrini et al. (2021) also found that dynamic N tools do not consistently give better prediction of the EONR and N losses. However, Sela et al. (2017) found that Adapt-N increased farmer profit and improved EONR prediction compared to the Stanford-type maize nitrogen calculator in 14-site years of field trials in New York. Other examples of dynamic N tools include Agricultural Production Systems Simulator [APSIM; Keating et al. (2003)], Denitrification-Decomposition model [DNDC; Li et al.

(1992)], Hybrid-Maize (Yang et al., 2004), CERES-Maize (Jones & Kiniry, 1986), Decision Support System for Agrotechnology Transfer [DSSAT; Jones et al. (2003)], WOFOST (Van Diepen et al., 1989), and Root Zone Water Quality Model [RZWQM; Ahuja et al. (2000)], etc. All these dynamic N tools have varying water and nutrient use efficiencies. For example, N application based on chlorophyll meter readings saved >100 kg N/ha/year (Schepers et al., 1995). For the variable N fertilization levels, the APSIM, which accounts for N nutrition on crop water use, is likely more accurate (Manschadi et al., 2021). Puntel et al. (2018) predicted grain yield variability (77-81%) using historical weather data and current season growth stage specific weather data in APSIM model. For common fertilization rates, the simpler EVACROP seems appropriate (Vogeler et al., 2020). Results from EONR by RZWQM show that decreasing the N rate by 150 kg N /ha reduces N leaching by 18% (Thorp, 2007). Similarly, advancements in incorporating the historical weather and early season current year weather data help improve the irrigation scheduling and reduce the available N amount moving through the soil profile in the CERES-Maize model (Chen et al., 2020). Research is moving towards optimizing EONR to predict the maize yield gaps and available soil N supply to reduce N application while increasing economic and environmental profits (Morris et al., 2018; Puntel et al., 2018). Incorporation of weather and soil properties in existing maize N recommendation tools reduces the N rate recommendations when the N supply is sufficient whereas weather parameters incorporation leads to an increase in N recommendations (Ransom et al., 2021). Nevertheless, evaluation of static vs. dynamic N tools in high NO₃-Ncontaminated areas in the Midwest is lacking. Moreover, most of the previous studies

have reported the environmental impact of these models using simulations (e.g. Mandrini et al., 2021; Ransom et al. 2018), but not in-field NO₃-N leaching assessments.

Optimizing Irrigation And Nitrogen inputs

Nitrogen and water use significantly affect crop production and N dynamics at the soil-plant-water interface (Bhatti et al., 2022; Ferguson et al., 2012; Gunzenhauser et al., 2020; Irmak et al., 2022; Rudnick et al., 2017; Singh et al., 2021; Tarkalson et al., 2006). So, optimizing both factors based on NO₃-N leaching is necessary to achieve sustainable crop production in the Midwest maize-based cropping system.

Previous studies on N management in maize within Nebraska and neighboring states have primarily focused on N rate trials targeting optimizing N rate based on crop yield response, crop rotations, and soil textures (Banger et al., 2018; Cassman et al., 2003; Dinnes et al., 2002; Dobermann et al., 2011; Maharjan et al., 2016; Martin et al., 1994; Ransom et al., 2020; Rubin et al., 2016; Stanford, 1973; Struffert et al., 2016; Tubaña et al., 2008). However, very few studies have focused on N recommendations based on NO₃-N leaching in environmentally sensitive sites where groundwater NO₃-N contamination is a major concern (Sexton et al., 1998) This is in part because this type of research is often costly and requires intensive sampling for NO₃-N leaching measurements. Meanwhile, in other regions, researchers have suggested the use of suboptimal N rates to decrease NO₃-N leaching because maximizing the maize production with an economical optimum nitrogen rate comes with higher risks of N losses (Rose et al., 2018; Schröder et al., 1998). Moreover, the reduction of N input by half reduces the N losses by >50% (Ju et al., 2009; Vitousek et al., 2009; Quemada et al., 2013). For example, Schröder et al. (1998) in the Netherlands reported that applying N at

a suboptimum N rate can reduce NO₃-N leaching risk with limited effect on maize yield. Similarly, Banger et al. (2020) in 270 distinct soil-climate regions in Canada, found that adjusting the N rate by 23-32% below the optimum N rate can significantly reduce NO₃-N leaching without impacting maize yield. However, Struffert et al. (2016) in Minnesota and Beaudoin et al. (2005) in Northern France reported that reducing N below the optimum level did not decrease NO₃-N leaching. These inconsistent effects of reduced N rates on NO₃-N leaching could be due to site-specific soil and climatic conditions (Li et al., 2023; Mzuku et al., 2005; Simmelsgaard & Djurhuus, 1998; Sogbedji et al., 2000; Zheng et al., 2020).

Similar to N, adjusting the amount of irrigation is another potential strategy to minimize NO₃-N leaching, as excessive irrigation leads to deep percolation below the root zone and results in higher NO₃-N leaching losses (Ferguson et al., 2013; Hergert, 1986; Quemada et al., 2013; Rudnick, 2013; Rudnick & Irmak, 2013, 2014). Sexton et al. (1998) found that even with optimum irrigation, significant NO₃-N leaching can occur when intensive summer thunderstorms happen soon after irrigation or fertilization. Similarly, Waddell et al. (2000) and Sexton et al. (1998) concluded that keeping deficit soil water levels between the irrigation events while maintaining soil water above the allowable depletion limit can significantly reduce NO₃-N leaching. In concurrence, increasing droughts, depleting groundwater levels in the high plain aquifer, and increasing water demands are creating deficit irrigation situations in the central great plains (Mieno et al., 2024; Rudnick et al., 2019; Tarkalson et al., 2006). These deficit irrigations could affect crop production and will need N fertilizer adjustments to meet crop N demand (Quemada et al., 2013). As such, farmers and policymakers are increasingly looking for alternative N and irrigation management strategies to efficiently use existing water resources to protect groundwater quality.

Enhanced Efficiency Fertilizers

Among the N management practices, N source plays a critical role in determining N use efficiency of crop production (Carneiro et al., 2012; Hussain et al., 2022; Neels et al., 2024; Struffert et al., 2016; Zaman et al., 2013). Because of the affordability and ease of application, granular urea and urea ammonium nitrate (UAN) are the most commonly used fertilizer for sandy soils in the region and the world. However, previous studies have shown that urea-based fertilizers have low NUE and high vulnerability for N losses through NH₃ volatilization, nitrous oxide emissions, and NO₃-N leaching (Dobermann et al., 2011; Drury et al., 2016; Woodley et al., 2020; Soares et al., 2023; Rochette et al., 2008; Maharjan et al., 2014; Venterea et al., 2021). Following surface application of urea, it quickly hydrolyzes within 1 or 2 days to NH₄-N, increasing soil pH and potential of NH₃-N volatilization losses in case precipitation or irrigation does not happen soon after application (Gioacchini et al., 2002; Zhengping et al., 1991). Moreover, subsequent nitrification of NH₄-N to NO₃-N in a short period increases the potential for NO₃-N leaching losses up to 80% in case of high precipitation, especially when the NO₃-N availability exceeds crop N uptake during the early season (Acutis et al., 2000; Adriaanse & Human, 1993; Di & Cameron, 2002). Therefore, stabilizing N availability, even with split N application, during the early growing season is critical to meet crop N needs and mitigate environmental N losses.

One possible technique to stabilize N is to slow down the N release by temporarily inhibiting the urease and nitrification (conversion of NH₄-N form of N to NO₃-N) activity during the early growing season when crops do not take up much N from the applied N fertilizers. Broadly, the products delaying the N transformation can be categorized into two groups: (a) Urease inhibitors and (b) Nitrification inhibitors (Franzen, 2017):

Urease Inhibitors

The urease inhibitors are the chemical compounds that inhibit urease enzyme activity. The urease enzymes are commonly found in soil or plant residues. Along with water, these enzymes hydrolyze urea into NH₄-N through a process known as "urea hydrolysis". Urea hydrolysis can occur rapidly on the soil surface, depending on soil pH and plant residues. During this process, urea is converted into ammonia (NH₃) and lost into the air through NH₃ volatilization if not immediately incorporated by rain or irrigation into the soil. Urease inhibitors temporarily inhibit urea hydrolysis and keep the fertilizer in urea form. Inhibition of urea allows for the time for rainfall or irrigation that eventually incorporates the urea into the soil and thus minimizes the NH₃ volatilization during the urea hydrolysis process. One of the widely accepted and chemically stable chemical that inhibits urease is N-(n-butyl) thiophosphoric triamide (NBPT) (Drury et al., 2017; Mateo-Marín et al., 2020; Prakash et al., 1999; Zhengping et al., 1991).

Nitrification Inhibitors

Nitrification inhibitors are the products responsible for inhibiting nitrification, a process of converting NH₄-N to nitrite (NO₂-N) and then nitrate (NO₃-N). There are two groups of bacteria responsible for these conversions. The conversion of NH₄-N to NO₂-N occurs by *Nitrosomonas* spp., while conversion of NO₂-N to NO₃-N is carried out by *Nitrobacter* spp. Nitrification inhibitors temporarily delay NO₃-N production by depressing the activity of *Nitrosomonas* bacteria. The commonly used nitrification

inhibitors are 2-chloro-6-(trichloromethyl)-pyridine (Nitrapyrin) (Wolt, 2000; Woodward et al., 2021; Zhou et al., 2020), Dicyandiamide (DCD) (Boy-Roura et al., 2016; Carneiro et al., 2012; Venterea et al., 2021), and 3,4-dimethylpyrazol-phosphate (DMPP) (Chaves et al., 2006; Díez-López et al., 2008; Dougherty et al., 2016), that can be found in variety of products with tradenames such as Centuro, SuperU, and ESN etc.

The increasing evidence have shown that the use of enhanced efficiency fertilizers (EEFs) including the urease and nitrification inhibitors can stabilize N and significantly reduce N losses without an impact on maize yield but higher economic returns at suboptimum (Allende-Montalbán et al., 2021; Rose et al., 2018), or optimal N rates (Díez-López et al., 2008; Nelson et al., 2008; Sanz-Cobena et al., 2012; Serna et al., 1994; Serna et al., 2000; Souza et al., 2020; Venterea et al., 2021). For example, Diez et al. (2010) found that a single pre-plant application of dicyandiamide (DCD) and 3,4dimethylpyrazole phosphate (DMPP) nitrification inhibitors at the recommended N rate significantly decreased NO₃-N leaching by 29% without any impact on maize yield when compared to split N application in sandy loam soil of irrigated maize. They attributed NO₃-N leaching reduction to 30% lower soil NO₃-N production in the nitrification inhibitor plots than with no nitrification inhibitor. Similarly, Allende-Montalbán et al. (2021) found that single application of urease inhibitors was more effective in delaying urease activity, slowing N availability, and reducing potential N losses than the split application of urea with urease inhibitors in sandy soil in maize. In parallel, Rose et al. (2018) in a meta-analysis reported that the beneficial effects of EEFs in improving NUE and maize yield are more likely at suboptimal N rates.

Optimizing Number Of Nitrogen Splits

Choosing the right N application time is another effective strategy for better synchronizing soil N availability with crop N uptake. Generally, the N losses tend to be greater during the April-June period when soil N is available due to soil organic matter mineralization and fertilizer application but there is limited crop N uptake (Bowles et al., 2018). Meanwhile, narrowing the time between soil N application and crop N uptake can shorten the time for N losses (Nafziger & Rapp, 2020). Therefore, splitting the N application during the growing season is an effective strategy for synchronizing soil N availability with crop N needs (Chen et al., 2006; Ciampitti & Vyn, 2013), improving NUE (Lü et al., 2012; Olson et al., 1986) and reducing N losses (Preza-Fontes et al., 2022; Sitthaphanit et al., 2009). However, optimizing the number of N-splits to improve NUE during the growing season remains unclear. For example, Venterea & Coulter (2015) found that N application in three equal splits did not affect crop yield but increased nitrous oxide emissions more than early season N application in a silt loam soil. Similarly, no yield response to the late split-N application at the R1 maize growth stage in sandy loam soil was observed by Mueller et al. (2017). Other studies reported that delaying N application for too long until tasseling (Walsh et al., 2012) or silking (Silva et al., 2005) can decrease grain yields and NUE (Adriaanse & Human, 1993; Jung et al., 1972). However, some studies reported either a decrease (Binder et al., 2000; Sitthaphanit et al., 2009; Walsh et al., 2012) or no crop yield response (Jaynes & Colvin, 2006; Roberts et al., 2016; Scharf et al., 2002) with late split-N application. The authors of these studies attributed the yield decrease or no yield response to either irreversible yield

loss with early season N stress or sufficient N availability early in the growing season, respectively.

In contrast, Lü et al. (2012) and Zhou et al. (2019) found that applying N in 3splits (V6, V10, and R1) and 4-splits (preplant, V6, V12, and R1) increased grain yield than applying N at 2-N splits (preplant and V6). Nevertheless, optimizing the number of N-splits to improve NUE, increase crop yield, and decrease NO₃-N leaching risk, especially in sandy soils, remain unresolved as an approach to minimize groundwater contamination (Azad et al., 2020; Wang et al., 2016). Moreover, none of the studies have investigated the number of N-splits based on NO₃-N leaching in the Midwest, probably because this type of research is often costly and requires intensive sampling for NO₃-N leaching measurements. Meanwhile, in other regions, studies have reported either a decrease (Sitthaphanit et al., 2009) or no effect (Wang et al., 2016) with increasing the number of split-N applications on NO₃-N leaching in sandy soils. Rubin et al. (2016) recommended splitting the N application for irrigated sandy soils along with an economic optimum N rate to minimize NO₃-N leaching risk.

Research Objectives

The objectives of my research program were to investigate the impact of selective N management tools and practices on improving NUE and maximizing economic returns while protecting groundwater quality in the BGMA. The specific objectives by chapter were to:

 Evaluate the agronomic, environmental, and economic performance of static (NE YG) vs. dynamic N tools (Maize-N, Canopy Reflectance Sensing, Adapt-N, Granular).

- Determine the impact of deficit nitrogen and irrigation rates on NO₃-N leaching, grain yield, N use efficiencies (NUEs), N uptake, water use efficiencies (WUE), residual soil N, and economic profits.
- 3. Evaluate the impact of conventional nitrogen (N) split vs. pre-plant N application, with and without EEFs [Agrotain (urease inhibitor), SuperU (urease and nitrification inhibitor)] on NO₃-N leaching, maize yield, and return to N with (RTN_{Env}) and without environmental cost (RTN).
- 4. Optimize the number of N-splits based on crop yield, NO₃-N leaching losses, and profitability.

References

- Acutis, M., Ducco, G., & Grignani, C. (2000). Stochastic use of the LEACHN model to forecast nitrate leaching in different maize cropping systems. *European Journal of Agronomy*, 13(2–3), 191–206. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1161-0301(00)00074-5
- Adriaanse, F. G., & Human, J. J. (1993). Effect of time of application and nitrate: ammonium ratio on maize grain yield, grain N concentration and soil mineral N concentration in a semi-arid region. *Field Crops Research*, 34(1), 57–70. https://doi.org/10.1016/0378-4290(93)90111-Y
- Ahuja, L., Rojas, K. W., & Hanson, J. D. (2000). Root zone water quality model: modelling management effects on water quality and crop production. Water Resources Publication.
- Allende-Montalbán, R., Martín-Lammerding, D., Delgado, M. del M., Porcel, M. A., & Gabriel, J. L. (2021). Urease inhibitors effects on the nitrogen use efficiency in a maize–wheat rotation with or without water deficit. *Agriculture*, 11(7), 684.
- Alotaibi, K. D., Cambouris, A. N., St. Luce, M., Ziadi, N., & Tremblay, N. (2018).
 Economic optimum nitrogen fertilizer rate and residual soil nitrate as influenced by soil texture in corn production. *Agronomy Journal*, *110*(6), 2233–2242.
- Archontoulis, S. V, Castellano, M. J., Licht, M. A., Nichols, V., Baum, M., Huber, I., Martinez-Feria, R., Puntel, L., Ordóñez, R. A., & Iqbal, J. (2020). Predicting crop yields and soil-plant nitrogen dynamics in the US Corn Belt. *Crop Science*, 60(2), 721–738.
- Azad, N., Behmanesh, J., Rezaverdinejad, V., Abbasi, F., & Navabian, M. (2020). An

analysis of optimal fertigation implications in different soils on reducing environmental impacts of agricultural nitrate leaching. *Scientific Reports*, *10*(1), 1– 15.

- Banger, K., Nafziger, E. D., Wang, J., Muhammad, U., & Pittelkow, C. M. (2018).
 Simulating nitrogen management impacts on maize production in the US Midwest. *PLoS One*, *13*(10), e0201825.
- Banger, K., Wagner-Riddle, C., Grant, B. B., Smith, W. N., Drury, C., & Yang, J. (2020).
 Modifying fertilizer rate and application method reduces environmental nitrogen
 losses and increases corn yield in Ontario. *Science of the Total Environment*, 722, 137851.
- Bastos, L. M. (2019). Evaluation of Stabilized Fertilizers and Crop Canopy Sensors as Next-Generation Nitrogen Management Technologies in Irrigated Corn. The University of Nebraska-Lincoln.
- Bean, G. Mac, Ransom, C. J., Kitchen, N. R., Scharf, P. C., Veum, K. S., Camberato, J. J., Ferguson, R. B., Fernández, F. G., Franzen, D. W., & Laboski, C. A. M. (2021).
 Soil hydrologic grouping guide which soil and weather properties best estimate corn nitrogen need. *Agronomy Journal*, *113*(6), 5541–5555.
- Beaudoin, N., Saad, J. K., Van Laethem, C., Machet, J. M., Maucorps, J., & Mary, B.
 (2005). Nitrate leaching in intensive agriculture in Northern France: Effect of farming practices, soils and crop rotations. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment*, *111*(1–4), 292–310.

Bhatti, S., Heeren, D. M., Evett, S. R., O'Shaughnessy, S. A., Rudnick, D. R., Franz, T.

E., Ge, Y., & Neale, C. M. U. (2022). Crop response to thermal stress without yield loss in irrigated maize and soybean in Nebraska. *Agricultural Water Management*, 274, 107946.

- Binder, D. L., Sander, D. H., & Walters, D. T. (2000). Maize response to time of nitrogen application as affected by level of nitrogen deficiency. *Agronomy Journal*, 92(6), 1228–1236.
- Boy-Roura, M., Cameron, K. C., & Di, H. J. (2016). Identification of nitrate leaching loss indicators through regression methods based on a meta-analysis of lysimeter studies. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*, 23(4), 3671–3680.
- Carneiro, J. P., Coutinho, J., & Trindade, H. (2012). Nitrate leaching from a maize×oats double-cropping forage system fertilized with organic residues under Mediterranean conditions. *Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment, 160*(3), 29–39.
- Cassman, K. G., Dobermann, A., Walters, D. T., & Yang, H. (2003). Meeting cereal demand while protecting natural resources and improving environmental quality. *Annual Review of Environment and Resources*, 28(1), 315–358.
- Chaves, B., Opoku, A., De Neve, S., Boeckx, P., Van Cleemput, O., & Hofman, G.
 (2006). Influence of DCD and DMPP on soil N dynamics after incorporation of vegetable crop residues. *Biology and Fertility of Soils*, 43, 62–68.
- Chen, S., Jiang, T., Ma, H., He, C., Xu, F., Malone, R. W., Feng, H., Yu, Q., Siddique, K.
 H. M., & He, J. (2020). Dynamic within-season irrigation scheduling for maize
 production in Northwest China: A Method Based on Weather Data Fusion and yield
 prediction by DSSAT. *Agricultural and Forest Meteorology*, 285, 107928.

- Chen, X., Zhang, F., Römheld, V., Horlacher, D., Schulz, R., Böning-Zilkens, M., Wang,
 P., & Claupein, W. (2006). Synchronizing N supply from soil and fertilizer and N
 demand of winter wheat by an improved Nmin method. *Nutrient Cycling in Agroecosystems*, 74(2), 91–98.
- Ciampitti, I. A., & Vyn, T. J. (2013). Grain nitrogen source changes over time in maize: a review. *Crop Science*, *53*(2), 366–377.
- Di, H. J., & Cameron, K. C. (2002). Nitrate leaching in temperate agroecosystems:
 Sources, factors and mitigating strategies. *Nutrient Cycling in Agroecosystems*, 64(3), 237–256.
- Díez-López, J. A., Hernaiz-Algarra, P., Arauzo-Sánchez, M., & Carrasco-Martín, I.
 (2008). Effect of a nitrification inhibitor (DMPP) on nitrate leaching and maize yield during two growing seasons. *Spanish Journal of Agricultural Research*, 6(2), 294–303.
- Diez, J. A., Arauzo, M., Hernaiz, P. J., Sanz, A., & Vallejo, A. (2010). Comparison of nitrification inhibitors to restrict nitrate leaching in a maize crop irrigated under mediterranean conditions. *Spanish Journal of Agricultural Research*, 8(2), 481–492.
- Dinnes, D. L., Karlen, D. L., Jaynes, D. B., Kaspar, T. C., Hatfield, J. L., Colvin, T. S., & Cambardella, C. A. (2002). Nitrogen management strategies to reduce nitrate leaching in tile-drained Midwestern soils. *Agronomy Journal*, 94(1), 153–171.
- Dobermann, A., Wortmann, C. S., Ferguson, R. B., Hergert, G. W., Shapiro, C. A., Tarkalson, D. D., & Walters, D. T. (2011). Nitrogen response and economics for irrigated corn in Nebraska. *Agronomy Journal*, 103(1), 67–75.

- Dougherty, W. J., Collins, D., Van Zwieten, L., & Rowlings, D. W. (2016). Nitrification (DMPP) and urease (NBPT) inhibitors had no effect on pasture yield, nitrous oxide emissions, or nitrate leaching under irrigation in a hot-dry climate. *Soil Research*, 54(5), 675–683.
- Drury, C F, Reynolds, W. D., Parkin, G. W., Lauzon, J. D., Saso, J. K., Zhang, T. Q., Yang, X. M., Tan, C. S., Liu, K., & Calder, W. (2016). Solute dynamics and the Ontario nitrogen index: II. Nitrate leaching. *Canadian Journal of Soil Science*, 96(2), 122–135.
- Drury, Craig F, Yang, X., Reynolds, W. D., Calder, W., Oloya, T. O., & Woodley, A. L. (2017). Combining urease and nitrification inhibitors with incorporation reduces ammonia and nitrous oxide emissions and increases corn yields. *Journal of Environmental Quality*, 46(5), 939–949.
- Exner, M. E., Hirsh, A. J., & Spalding, R. F. (2014). Nebraska's groundwater legacy:
 Nitrate contamination beneath irrigated cropland. *Water Resources Research*, 50(5), 4474–4489.
- Ferguson, R. B., Hergert, G. W., Schepers, J. S., Gotway, C. A., Cahoon, J. E., & Peterson, T. A. (2002). Site-specific nitrogen management of irrigated maize: Yield and soil residual nitrate effects. *Soil Science Society of America Journal*, 66(2), 544– 553.
- Ferguson, R, Schmer, M., Shaver, T., Wienhold, B., Van Donk, S., Irmak, S., Rudnick,
 D., Ward, N., Jin, V., & Francis, D. (2013). Variable rate irrigation and nitrogen
 fertilization of maize across landscape positions. *Precision Agriculture* '13, 729–736.

- Ferguson, Richard, Shaver, T., Ward, N., Irmak, S., Van Donk, S., Rudnick, D.,
 Wienhold, B., Schmer, M., Jin, V., & Francis, D. (2012). Landscape influences on soil nitrogen supply and water holding capacity for irrigated corn. *International Conference on Precision Agriculture Abstracts & Proceedings*.
- Franzen, D., Kitchen, N., Holland, K., Schepers, J., & Raun, W. (2016). Algorithms for in-season nutrient management in cereals. *Agronomy Journal*, 108(5), 1775–1781.
- Gioacchini, P., Nastri, A., Marzadori, C., Giovannini, C., Vittori Antisari, L., & Gessa, C.
 (2002). Influence of urease and nitrification inhibitors on N losses from soils
 fertilized with urea. *Biology and Fertility of Soils*, *36*, 129–135.
- Greer, K. D., & Pittelkow, C. M. (2018). Linking nitrogen losses with crop productivity in maize agroecosystems. *Frontiers in Sustainable Food Systems*, *2*, 29.
- Gunzenhauser, R. (2023). Granular Agronomy Nitrogen Management BT Precision
 Agriculture: Modelling (D. Cammarano, F. K. van Evert, & C. Kempenaar (eds.);_{PP}.
 209–222). Springer International Publishing.
- Gunzenhauser, R., Rose, T. J., Kearney, L. J., Morris, S. G., van Zwieten, L., Erler, D. V, Morris, T. F., Murrell, T. S., Beegle, D. B., Camberato, J. J., Ferguson, R. B., Grove, J., Ketterings, Q., Kyveryga, P. M., Laboski, C. A. M., McGrath, J. M., Hergert, G. W., Margheim, J. F. M., Pavlista, A. D., ... Sands, G. R. (2020). Nitrate leaching in a silage maize field under different irrigation and nitrogen fertilizer rates. *Agronomy Journal*, *58*(1), 55–67. 0
- FAOSTAT (2020) Statistical Database. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, Rome.
- Hancock, P. J. (2002). Human impacts on the stream–groundwater exchange zone. *Environmental Management*, 29, 763–781.
- Hergert, G. W. (1986). Nitrate leaching through sandy soil as affected by sprinkler irrigation management. *Journal of Environmental Quality*, *15*(3), 272-278.
- Holland, K. H., & Schepers, J. S. (2010). Derivation of a variable rate nitrogen application model for in-season fertilization of corn. *Agronomy Journal*, 102(5), 1415–1424.
- Hunt, N. D., Liebman, M., Thakrar, S. K., & Hill, J. D. (2020). Fossil energy use, climate change impacts, and air quality-related human health damages of conventional and diversified cropping systems in Iowa, USA. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 54(18), 11002–11014.
- Hunter, M. C., Smith, R. G., Schipanski, M. E., Atwood, L. W., & Mortensen, D. A. (2017). Agriculture in 2050: recalibrating targets for sustainable intensification. *Bioscience*, 67(4), 386–391.
- Hussain, Z., Cheng, T., Irshad, M., Khattak, R. A., Yao, C., Song, D., & Mohiuddin, M. (2022). Bentonite clay with different nitrogen sources can effectively reduce nitrate leaching from sandy soil. *Plos One*, *17*(12), e0278824.
- Iqbal, J., Castellano, M. J., & Parkin, T. B. (2013). Evaluation of photoacoustic infrared spectroscopy for simultaneous measurement of N 2 O and CO 2 gas concentrations and fluxes at the soil surface. *Global Change Biology*, 19(1), 327–336.
- Iqbal, J., Necpalova, M., Archontoulis, S. V, Anex, R. P., Bourguignon, M., Herzmann,

D., Mitchell, D. C., Sawyer, J. E., Zhu, Q., & Castellano, M. J. (2018). Extreme weather-year sequences have nonadditive effects on environmental nitrogen losses. *Global Change Biology*, *24*(1), e303–e317.

- Iqbal, J., Ferguson, R. B., Maharjan, B., & Thompson, L. (2023) Nutrient Management Suggestions for Corn. Nebraska Extension, EC 117.
- Iqbal, J., Parkin, T. B., Helmers, M. J., Zhou, X., & Castellano, M. J. (2015).
 Denitrification and nitrous oxide emissions in annual croplands, perennial grass
 buffers, and restored perennial grasslands. *Soil Science Society of America Journal*, 79(1), 239–250.
- Irmak, S., Mohammed, A. T., & Kukal, M. S. (2022). Maize response to coupled irrigation and nitrogen fertilization under center pivot, subsurface drip and surface (furrow) irrigation: Growth, development and productivity. *Agricultural Water Management*, 263, 107457.
- Jaynes, D. B., & Colvin, T. S. (2006). Corn yield and nitrate loss in subsurface drainage from midseason nitrogen fertilizer application. *Agronomy Journal*, 98(6), 1479– 1487. https://doi.org/10.2134/agronj2006.0046
- Jones, J. W., Hoogenboom, G., Porter, C. H., Boote, K. J., Batchelor, W. D., Hunt, L. A., Wilkens, P. W., Singh, U., Gijsman, A. J., & Ritchie, J. T. (2003). The DSSAT cropping system model. *European Journal of Agronomy*, 18(3–4), 235–265.
- Jones, C. A. & Kiniry, J. R. (Ed.) (1986). *CERES-Maize: A Simulation Model of Maize Growth and Development*. Texas A& M University Press, College Station, Texas.

Jung, P. E., Peterson, L. A., & Schrader, L. E. (1972). Response of Irrigated Corn to

Time, Rate, and Source of Applied N on Sandy Soils 1 . *Agronomy Journal*, 64(5), 668–670.

- Kaur, H., Nelson, K. A., Wikle, C. K., Ferguson, R., & Singh, G. (2024). Nitrogen fertilizer and pronitridine rates for corn production in the Midwest US. *Field Crops Research*, 306, 109200.
- Keating, B. A., Carberry, P. S., Hammer, G. L., Probert, M. E., Robertson, M. J.,
 Holzworth, D., Huth, N. I., Hargreaves, J. N. G., Meinke, H., & Hochman, Z.
 (2003). An overview of APSIM, a model designed for farming systems simulation. *European Journal of Agronomy*, 18(3–4), 267–288.
- Li, C., Frolking, S., & Frolking, T. A. (1992). A model of nitrous oxide evolution from soil driven by rainfall events: 2. Model applications. *Journal of Geophysical Research: Atmospheres*, 97(D9), 9777–9783.
- Li, J., Hu, W., Chau, H. W., Beare, M., Cichota, R., Teixeira, E., Moore, T., Di, H.,
 Cameron, K., & Guo, J. (2023). Response of nitrate leaching to no-tillage is
 dependent on soil, climate, and management factors: A global meta-analysis. *Global Change Biology*, 29(8), 2172–2187.
- Lin, S., Iqbal, J., Hu, R., Ruan, L., Wu, J., Zhao, J., & Wang, P. (2012). Differences in nitrous oxide fluxes from red soil under different land uses in mid-subtropical China. Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment, 146(1), 168–178.
- Lü, P., Zhang, J. W., Jin, L. B., Liu, W., Dong, S. T., & Liu, P. (2012). Effects of nitrogen application stage on grain yield and nitrogen use efficiency of high-yield summer maize. *Plant, Soil and Environment*, 58(5), 211–216.

- Maharjan, B., Rosen, C. J., Lamb, J. A., & Venterea, R. T. (2016). Corn response to nitrogen management under fully-irrigated vs. water-stressed conditions. *Agronomy Journal*, 108(5), 2089–2098.
- Mamo, M., Malzer, G. L., Mulla, D. J., Huggins, D. R., & Strock, J. (2003). Spatial and temporal variation in economically optimum nitrogen rate for corn. *Agronomy Journal*, 95(4), 958–964.
- Mandrini, G., Pittelkow, C. M., Archontoulis, S. V, Mieno, T., & Martin, N. F. (2021). Understanding differences between static and dynamic nitrogen fertilizer tools using simulation modeling. *Agricultural Systems*, 194, 103275.
- Manschadi, A. M., Eitzinger, J., Breisch, M., Fuchs, W., Neubauer, T., & Soltani, A.
 (2021). Full parameterisation matters for the best performance of crop models: intercomparison of a simple and a detailed maize model. *International Journal of Plant Production*, 15, 61–78.
- Martin, E. C., Loudon, T. L., Ritchie, J. T., & Werner, A. (1994). Use of drainage lysimeters to evaluate nitrogen and irrigation management strategies to minimize nitrate leaching in maize production. *Transactions of the ASAE*, *37*(1), 79–83.
- Mateo-Marín, N., Quílez, D., & Isla, R. (2020). Utility of stabilized nitrogen fertilizers to reduce nitrate leaching under optimal management practices. *Journal of Plant Nutrition and Soil Science*, 183(5), 567–578.
- Melkonian, J. J., Van Es, H. M., DeGaetano, A. T., & Joseph, L. (2008). ADAPT-N:
 Adaptive nitrogen management for maize using high-resolution climate data and model simulations. *Proceedings of the 9th International Conference on Precision*

Agriculture, 20–23.

- Melkonian, J, Van Es, H. M., & Joseph, L. (2005). Precision Nitrogen Management model: Simulation of nitrogen and water fluxes in the soil-crop-atmosphere continuum in maize (Zea mays L.) production systems. *Research Series*, *R05-2*.
- Melkonian, Jeff, Van Es, H. M., DeGaetano, A. T., Sogbedji, J. M., Joseph, L., &
 Bruulsema, T. (2007). Application of dynamic simulation modeling for nitrogen management in maize. *Managing Crop Nutrition for Weather*, 14–22.
- Mieno, T., Foster, T., Kakimoto, S., & Brozović, N. (2024). Aquifer depletion exacerbates agricultural drought losses in the US High Plains. *Nature Water*, 1–11.
- Morris, T. F., Murrell, T. S., Beegle, D. B., Camberato, J. J., Ferguson, R. B., Grove, J., Ketterings, Q., Kyveryga, P. M., Laboski, C. A. M., & McGrath, J. M. (2018).
 Strengths and limitations of nitrogen rate recommendations for corn and opportunities for improvement. *Agronomy Journal*, *110*(1), 1–37.
- Mueller, S. M., Camberato, J. J., Messina, C., Shanahan, J., Zhang, H., & Vyn, T. J. (2017). Late-split nitrogen applications increased maize plant nitrogen recovery but not yield under moderate to high nitrogen rates. *Agronomy Journal*, 109(6), 2689-2699.
- Mzuku, M., Khosla, R., Reich, R., Inman, D., Smith, F., & MacDonald, L. (2005). Spatial variability of measured soil properties across site-specific management zones. *Soil Science Society of America Journal*, 69(5), 1572–1579.

Nafziger, E. D., & Rapp, D. (2020). Corn yield response to late-split nitrogen fertilizer.

Agronomy Journal, 113(1), 527-536.

- Neels, W., Jhala, A., Maharjan, B., Patel, S., Slator, G., & Iqbal, J. (2024). Nitrogen source affects in-season nitrogen availability more than nitrification inhibitor and herbicide in a fine-textured soil. *Soil Science Society of America Journal*, 88(2), 419–433.
- Nelson, K. A., Scharf, P. C., Bundy, L. G., & Tracy, P. (2008). Agricultural Managment of Enhanced-Efficiency Fertilizers in the North-Central United States. *Crop Management*. 7(1), 1-12
- Olson, R. A., Raun, W. R., Chun, Y. S., & Skopp, J. (1986). Nitrogen Management and Interseeding Effects on Irrigated Corn and Sorghum and on Soil Strength1. *Agronomy Journal*, 78(5), 856–862.
- Pittelkow, C. M., Clover, M. W., Hoeft, R. G., Nafziger, E. D., Warren, J. J., Gonzini, L. C., & Greer, K. D. (2017). Tile drainage nitrate losses and corn yield response to fall and spring nitrogen management. *Journal of Environmental Quality*, 46(5), 1057–1064.
- Prakash, O., Alva, A., & Paramasivam, S. (1999). Use of the Urease Inhibitor N-(n-BUTYL)-Thiophosphoric Triamide Decreased Nitrogen Leaching from Urea in a Fine Sandy Soil. *Water, Air, and Soil Pollution*, 116, 587–595.
- Preza-Fontes, G., Christianson, L. E., Greer, K., Bhattarai, R., & Pittelkow, C. M. (2022).
 In-season split nitrogen application and cover cropping effects on nitrous oxide
 emissions in rainfed maize. *Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment, 326*, 107813.

- Puntel, L. A., Sawyer, J. E., Barker, D. W., Dietzel, R., Poffenbarger, H., Castellano, M. J., Moore, K. J., Thorburn, P., & Archontoulis, S. V. (2016). Modeling long-term corn yield response to nitrogen rate and crop rotation. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, *7*, 1630.
- Puntel, L. A., Sawyer, J. E., Barker, D. W., Thorburn, P. J., Castellano, M. J., Moore, K. J., VanLoocke, A., Heaton, E. A., & Archontoulis, S. V. (2018). A systems modeling approach to forecast corn economic optimum nitrogen rate. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, *9*, 436.
- Puntel, L. A., Thompson, L. J., & Mieno, T. (2024). Leveraging digital agriculture for on-farm testing of technologies. *Frontiers in Agronomy*, 6, 1234232.
- Quemada, M., Baranski, M., Nobel-de Lange, M. N. J., Vallejo, A., & Cooper, J. M. (2013). Meta-analysis of strategies to control nitrate leaching in irrigated agricultural systems and their effects on crop yield. *Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment,* 174, 1–10.
- Ransom, C. J., Kitchen, N. R., Camberato, J. J., Carter, P. R., Ferguson, R. B., Fernández,
 F. G., Franzen, D. W., Laboski, C. A. M., Nafziger, E. D., & Sawyer, J. E. (2020).
 Corn nitrogen rate recommendation tools' performance across eight US midwest
 corn belt states. *Agronomy Journal*, *112*(1), 470–492.
- Ransom, C. J., Kitchen, N. R., Sawyer, J. E., Camberato, J. J., Carter, P. R., Ferguson, R.
 B., Fernández, F. G., Franzen, D. W., Laboski, C. A. M., & Myers, D. B. (2021).
 Improving publicly available corn nitrogen rate recommendation tools with soil and weather measurements. *Agronomy Journal*, *113*(2), 2068–2090.

- Roberts, T. L., Slaton, N. A., Kelley, J. P., Greub, C. E., & Fulford, A. M. (2016). Fertilizer nitrogen recovery efficiency of furrow-irrigated corn. *Agronomy Journal*, 108(5), 2123-2128.
- Rose, T. J., Quin, P., Morris, S. G., Kearney, L. J., Kimber, S., Rose, M. T., & Van Zwieten, L. (2018). No evidence for higher agronomic N use efficiency or lower nitrous oxide emissions from enhanced efficiency fertilisers in aerobic subtropical rice. *Field Crops Research*, 225, 47–54.
- Ruan, L., Bhardwaj, A. K., Hamilton, S. K., & Robertson, G. P. (2016). Nitrogen fertilization challenges the climate benefit of cellulosic biofuels. *Environmental Research Letters*, 11(6), 64007.
- Rubin, J. C., Struffert, A. M., Fernández, F. G., & Lamb, J. A. (2016). Maize yield and nitrogen use efficiency in Upper midwest irrigated sandy soils. *Agronomy Journal*, *108*(4), 1681–1691.
- Rudnick, D. (2013). Impact of Water and Nitrogen Management on Maize Actual Evapotranspiration, Soil Water Extraction and Crop Water Productivity in South Central Nebraska, USA. The Uniersity of Nebraksa-Lincoln.
- Rudnick, D., Irmak, S., Ray, C., Schneekloth, J., Schipanski, M., Kisekka, I., Schlegel,
 A., Aguilar, J., Rogers, D., & Mitchell, D. (2017). Deficit irrigation management of
 corn in the high plains: A review. *Proceedings of the 29th Annual Central Plains Irrigation Conference*, 21–22.
- Rudnick, D R, Irmak, S., West, C., Chávez, J. L., Kisekka, I., Marek, T. H., Schneekloth,J. P., Mitchell McCallister, D., Sharma, V., & Djaman, K. (2019). Deficit irrigation

management of maize in the high plains aquifer region: a review. *JAWRA Journal of the American Water Resources Association*, 55(1), 38–55.

- Rudnick, Daran R, & Irmak, S. (2013). Impact of water and nitrogen management strategies on maize yield and water productivity indices under linear-move sprinkler irrigation. *Transactions of the ASABE*, 56(5), 1769–1783.
- Rudnick, Daran R, & Irmak, S. (2014). Spatial and temporal maize soil water extraction (Depletion) dynamics: Part II. Impact of water and nitrogen management strategies on soil water extraction. *Transactions of the ASABE*, *57*(2), 445–462.
- Sanz-Cobena, A., Sánchez-Martín, L., García-Torres, L., & Vallejo, A. (2012). Gaseous emissions of N2O and NO and NO₃– leaching from urea applied with urease and nitrification inhibitors to a maize (*Zea mays*) crop. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment*, 149, 64–73.
- Scharf, P. C., Weibold, W. ., & Lory, J. (2002). Corn Yield Reponse to Nitrogen Fertilizer Timing and Deficiency Level. *Agronomy Journal*, *94*, 435–441.
- Schepers, J. S., Varvel, G. E., & Watts, D. G. (1995). Nitrogen and water management strategies to reduce nitrate leaching under irrigated maize. *Journal of Contaminant Hydrology*, 20(3–4), 227–239.
- Schröder, J. J., Neeteson, J. J., Withagen, J. C. M., & Noij, I. (1998). Effects of N application on agronomic and environmental parameters in silage maize production on sandy soils. *Field Crops Research*, 58(1), 55–67.
- Sela, S., van Es, H. M., Moebius-Clune, B. N., Marjerison, R., Moebius-Clune, D.,

Schindelbeck, R., Severson, K., & Young, E. (2017). Dynamic model improves agronomic and environmental outcomes for maize nitrogen management over static approach. *Journal of Environmental Quality*, *46*(2), 311–319.

- Serna, M D, Legaz, F., & Primo-Millo, E. (1994). Efficacy of dicyandiamide as a soil nitrification inhibitor in citrus production. *Soil Science Society of America Journal*, 58(6), 1817–1824.
- Serna, María D, Banuls, J., Quinones, A., Primo-Millo, E., & Legaz, F. (2000). Evaluation of 3, 4-dimethylpyrazole phosphate as a nitrification inhibitor in a Citruscultivated soil. *Biology and Fertility of Soils*, 32, 41–46.
- Setiyono, T. D., Yang, H., Walters, D. T., Dobermann, A., Ferguson, R. B., Roberts, D.
 F., Lyon, D. J., Clay, D. E., & Cassman, K. G. (2011). Maize-N: A decision tool for nitrogen management in maize. *Agronomy Journal*, *103*(4), 1276–1283.
- Sexton, B. T., Moncrief, J. F., Rosen, C. J., Gupta, S. C., & Cheng, H. H. (1996).
 Optimizing nitrogen and irrigation inputs for corn based on nitrate leaching and yield on a coarse-textured soil. (Vol. 25, No. 5, PP. 982-992). American Society of Agronomy, Crop Science Society of America, and Soil Science Society of America.
- Silva, R. G., Holub, S. M., Jorgensen, E. E., & Ashanuzzaman, A. N. M. (2005).
 Indicators of nitrate leaching loss under different land use of clayey and sandy soils in southeastern Oklahoma. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment, 109*(3–4), 346– 359.
- Simmelsgaard, S. E., & Djurhuus, J. (1998). An empirical model for estimating nitrate leaching as affected by crop type and the long-term N fertilizer rate. *Soil Use and*

Management, *14*(1), 37–43.

- Singh, A., Kukal, M. S., Shapiro, C. A., Snow, D. D., Irmak, S., & Iqbal, J. (2021).
 Growth phase-specific evaporative demand and nighttime temperatures determine
 Maize (*Zea Mays* L.) yield deviations as revealed from a long-term field experiment. *Agricultural and Forest Meteorology*, 308, 108543.
- Sitthaphanit, S., Limpinuntana, V., Toomsan, B., Panchaban, S., & Bell, R. (2009). Fertiliser strategies for improved nutrient use efficiency on sandy soils in high rainfall regimes. *Nutr Cycl Agroecosyst*, 85, 123–139.
- Sogbedji, J. M., van Es, H. M., Yang, C. L., Geohring, L. D., & Magdoff, F. R. (2000). *Nitrate leaching and nitrogen budget as affected by maize nitrogen rate and soil type*. (Vol. 29, No. 6, PP. 1813-1820). American Society of Agronomy, Crop Science
 Society of America, and Soil Science Society of America.
- Solari, F., Shanahan, J., Ferguson, R., Schepers, J., & Gitelson, A. (2008). Active sensor reflectance measurements of corn nitrogen status and yield potential. *Agronomy Journal*, 100(3), 571–579.
- Souza, E. F. C., Soratto, R. P., Sandaña, P., Venterea, R. T., & Rosen, C. J. (2020). Split application of stabilized ammonium nitrate improved potato yield and nitrogen-use efficiency with reduced application rate in tropical sandy soils. *Field Crops Research*, 254, 107847.
- Spalding, R. F., Watts, D. G., Schepers, J. S., Burbach, M. E., Exner, M. E., Poreda, R. J., & Martin, G. E. (2001). Controlling nitrate leaching in irrigated agriculture. *Journal* of Environmental Quality, 30(4), 1184–1194.

- Stanford, G. (1973). Rationale for optimum nitrogen fertilization in corn production. *Journal of Environmental Quality*, 2(2), 159–166.
- Struffert, A. M., Rubin, J. C., Fernández, F. G., & Lamb, J. A. (2016). Nitrogen Management for Corn and Groundwater Quality in Upper Midwest Irrigated Sands. *Journal of Environmental Quality*, 45(5), 1557–1564.
- Tarkalson, D. D., Payero, J. O., Ensley, S. M., & Shapiro, C. A. (2006). Nitrate accumulation and movement under deficit irrigation in soil receiving cattle manure and commercial fertilizer. *Agricultural Water Management*, 85(1–2), 201–210.
- Thompson, L. J., Archontoulis, S., & Puntel, L. A. (2023). Determining site-specific corn nitrogen rate over time with APSIM model. In *Precision agriculture* '23 (pp. 1099– 1105). Wageningen Academic.
- Thompson, L. J., Ferguson, R. B., Kitchen, N., Frazen, D. W., Mamo, M., Yang, H., & Schepers, J. S. (2015). Model and sensor-based recommendation approaches for inseason nitrogen management in corn. *Agronomy Journal*, 107(6), 2020–2030.
- Thorburn, P. J., Biggs, J. S., Puntel, L. A., Sawyer, J. E., Everingham, Y. L., & Archontoulis, S. V. (2024). The nitrogen fertilizer conundrum: why is yield a poor determinant of crops' nitrogen fertilizer requirements? *Agronomy for Sustainable Development*, 44(2), 18.
- Thorp, K. (2007). Using RZWQM-DSSAT to simulate drainage water management across the United States Corn Belt. *ASA-CSSA-SSSA Annual Meeting Abstracts*.
- Tilman, D., Cassman, K. G., Matson, P. A., Naylor, R., & Polasky, S. (2002).

Agricultural sustainability and intensive production practices. *Nature*, *418*(6898), 671–677.

- Tubaña, B. S., Arnall, D. B., Walsh, O., Chung, B., Solie, J. B., Girma, K., & Raun, W.
 R. (2008). Adjusting midseason nitrogen rate using a sensor-based optimization algorithm to increase use efficiency in corn. *Journal of Plant Nutrition*, *31*(8), 1393–1419.
- Van Diepen, C. A. van, Wolf, J. van, Van Keulen, H., & Rappoldt, C. (1989). WOFOST: a simulation model of crop production. *Soil Use and Management*, *5*(1), 16–24.
- van Es, H. M., Kay, B. D., Melkonian, J. J., & Sogbedji, J. M. (2007). Nitrogen
 Management for Maize in Humid Regions: Case for a Dynamic Modeling
 Approach. In. Managing Crop Nutrition for Weather. *Proceedings of the Symposium "Integrating Weather Variability into Nitrogen Recommendations"*.
- Venterea, R. T., Clough, T. J., Coulter, J. A., Souza, E. F. C., Breuillin-Sessoms, F., Spokas, K. A., Sadowsky, M. J., Gupta, S. K., & Bronson, K. F. (2021).
 Temperature alters dicyandiamide (DCD) efficacy for multiple reactive nitrogen species in urea-amended soils: Experiments and modeling. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, *160*, 108341.
- Venterea, R. T., & Coulter, J. A. (2015). Split application of urea does not decrease and may increase nitrous oxide emissions in rainfed corn. *Agronomy Journal*, 107(1), 337–348.
- Vitousek, P. M., Naylor, R., Crews, T., David, M. B., Drinkwater, L. E., Holland, E., Johnes, P. J., Katzenberger, J., Martinelli, L. A., & Matson, P. A. (2009). Nutrient

imbalances in agricultural development. Science, 324(5934), 1519–1520.

- Vogeler, I., Hansen, E. M., Nielsen, S., Labouriau, R., Cichota, R., Olesen, J. E., & Thomsen, I. K. (2020). *Nitrate leaching from suction cup data: Influence of method of drainage calculation and concentration interpolation*. (Vol. 49, No. 2, PP. 440-449).
- Walsh, O., Raun, W., Klatt, A., & Solie, J. (2012). Effect of delayed nitrogen fertilization on maize (Zea mays L.) grain yields and nitrogen use efficiency. *Journal of Plant Nutrition*, 35(4), 538–555.
- Wang, S., Luo, S., & Yue, S. (2016). Fate of 15 N fertilizer under different nitrogen split applications to plastic mulched maize in semiarid farmland. *Nutrient Cycling in Agroecosystems*, 105(2), 129–140.
- Wolt, J. D. (2000). Nitrapyrin behavior in soils and environmental considerations. *Journal of Environmental Quality*, 29(2), 367–379.
- Woodley, A. L., Drury, C. F., Yang, X. Y., Phillips, L. A., Reynolds, D. W., Calder, W., & Oloya, T. O. (2020). Ammonia volatilization, nitrous oxide emissions, and corn yields as influenced by nitrogen placement and enhanced efficiency fertilizers. *Soil Science Society of America Journal*, *84*(4), 1327–1341.
- Woodward, E. E., Edwards, T. M., Givens, C. E., Kolpin, D. W., & Hladik, M. L. (2021).
 Widespread use of the nitrification inhibitor nitrapyrin: assessing benefits and costs to agriculture, ecosystems, and environmental health. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 55(3), 1345–1353.

- Yan, P., Yue, S., Qiu, M., Chen, X., Cui, Z., & Chen, F. (2014). Using maize hybrids and in-season nitrogen management to improve grain yield and grain nitrogen concentrations. *Field Crops Research*, 166, 38–45.
- Yang, H. S., Dobermann, A., Lindquist, J. L., Walters, D. T., Arkebauer, T. J., & Cassman, K. G. (2004). Hybrid-maize—a maize simulation model that combines two crop modeling approaches. *Field Crops Research*, 87(2–3), 131–154.
- Zaman, M., Zaman, S., Adhinarayanan, C., Nguyen, M. L., Nawaz, S., & Dawar, K. M. (2013). Effects of urease and nitrification inhibitors on the efficient use of urea for pastoral systems. *Soil Science and Plant Nutrition*, 59(4), 649–659.
- Zheng, W., Wang, S., Tan, K., & Lei, Y. (2020). Nitrate accumulation and leaching potential is controlled by land-use and extreme precipitation in a headwater catchment in the North China Plain. *Science of the Total Environment*, 707, 136168.
- Zhengping, W., Van Cleemput, O., Demeyer, P., & Baert, L. (1991). Effect of urease inhibitors on urea hydrolysis and ammonia volatilization. *Biology and Fertility of Soils*, 11, 43–47.
- Zhou, B., Sun, X., Wang, D., Ding, Z., Li, C., Ma, W., & Zhao, M. (2019). Integrated agronomic practice increases maize grain yield and nitrogen use efficiency under various soil fertility conditions. *The Crop Journal*, 7(4), 527–538.
- Zhou, X., Wang, S., Ma, S., Zheng, X., Wang, Z., & Lu, C. (2020). Effects of commonly used nitrification inhibitors—dicyandiamide (DCD), 3, 4-dimethylpyrazole phosphate (DMPP), and nitrapyrin—on soil nitrogen dynamics and nitrifiers in three typical paddy soils. *Geoderma*, 380, 114637.

CHAPTER 2

STATIC VS. DYNAMIC MAIZE NITROGEN RATE RECOMMENDATION TOOLS' PERFORMANCE

Abstract

The performance of static vs. dynamic maize nitrogen (N) recommendation tools has recently received much attention for improving N management in the Midwest maize production system. The objectives of this study were to evaluate the agronomic, environmental, and economic performance of a static NE yield goal vs. four dynamic nitrogen tools of Maize-N, Canopy Reflectance Sensing, Granular, and Adapt-N. The study included six N rates at an increment of 67 kg N ha⁻¹ to calculate EONR, which was then compared to the N recommendations from N tools during the two study years (2021-2022) at a farmer's site in the Bazile Groundwater Management Area of Northeast Nebraska. Agronomically, the NE YG outperformed all the dynamic N tools by predicting N rate and yield closer to EONR. Maize-N recommended N above EONR but had grain yield within the EONR range. Other dynamic N tools (Canopy Reflectance Sensing, Granular, and Adapt-N) recommended N below EONR, resulting in a yield penalty (3-18 Mg ha⁻¹) more than half the time. Environmentally, nitrogen tools did not significantly affect nitrate leaching. However, three dynamic N tools (Canopy Reflectance Sensing, Granular, and Adapt-N) reduced nitrate leaching by 18% more than half the time. Economically, all tools were equally effective in determining economic returns when environmental costs of nitrate leaching (RTN_{Env}) were included. The findings of this study highlight a tradeoff of using static vs. dynamic N tools for agronomic, environmental, and economic benefits in groundwater-contaminated areas.

Policymakers and stakeholders need to identify priorities while using these N recommendation tools.

Introduction

Nitrogen (N) is the most limiting factor affecting crop production and has increasingly been used for maize production in the United States (Archontoulis et al., 2020; Ronald J Gehl et al., 2005; Puntel et al., 2024; Thorburn et al., 2024). At the same time, optimizing N is necessary to sustain agricultural production while protecting the environment. Researchers have spent decades of research predicting the most economical optimum N rate (Dobermann & Cassman, 2002; Mamo et al., 2003; Puntel et al., 2018; Thompson et al., 2015, 2023). However, no consensus has yet been reached on the methodology for finding a more accurate and site-specific N rate. This is partly due to complex biophysical N transformations occurring at spatial and temporal scales that induce error in determining the accurate specific-site N rate (Archontoulis et al., 2020; Mandrini et al., 2022; Puntel et al., 2016, 2024; Thompson et al., 2023; Thorburn et al., 2024; Sawyer et al., 2006). As a result, farmers either under or over-apply N fertilizer, resulting in a profit loss or degradation of the environment (Maharjan et al., 2014). Mostly, the farmers over-apply N to avoid the risk of profit loss, which eventually degrades the environment (Ferguson, 2015; Iqbal et al., 2018). In Nebraska, over application of N fertilizer is evidenced by groundwater NO₃-N levels far exceeding the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) safe drinking water limit of 10 mg L⁻¹ on about one million hectares of Nebraska (Exner et al., 2014; Juntakut et al., 2019). Simultaneously, more than 80% of Nebraska's rural population relies on groundwater for drinking purposes which results in adverse health effects in several Nebraska towns

(Ouattara, 2022). So, several Nebraska towns have to pay millions of dollars to treat the contaminated water (Pennino et al., 2020; Ray et al., 2022).

To address the groundwater contamination risks, Natural Resource Districts (NRDs), a watershed-level government agency, passed legislation in 1987 and established groundwater management areas to set strategies for protecting groundwater quality. One of the major NO₃-N contaminated areas in the state (Juntakut et al., 2019) is the Bazile Groundwater Management Area (BGMA), which was developed by Nebraska in 1986 and accepted by the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) in 2016 (Figure 2.1). BGMA comprises 1958 sq. km. area under sandy soil and lies within three counties (Antelope, Knox, Pierce) of the state. These sandy areas in BGMA are well above >10 mg NO₃-N L⁻¹ (Figure 2.1) and provide drinking water to 7000 Nebraskans (Bartels, 2022). Though the shallow groundwater table depth in this area offers an inexpensive water supply to irrigate crops, it also results in a substantial NO₃-N leaching risk to the groundwater in the area (Gosselin, 1991; Hobza & Steele, 2020; Hou et al., 2023). To address the N management in BGMA and other groundwater management areas in Nebraska, NRDs set phase areas with increasing NO₃-N concentrations in the groundwater. i.e. Phase I: 0-5 mg NO₃-N L⁻¹, Phase II: 5.1-9.0 mg L⁻¹, Phase III: >9 mg NO_3 -N L⁻¹, Phase IV – areas in Phase III for five years. In each phase management area, there are different N and irrigation regulations to improve the N use efficiency (NUE) and protect groundwater quality (Bartels, 2022; Exner et al., 2014). One of the major regulations is not to apply N before March 1st but to apply N in split during the growing season. Given that more than four-fifths of NO₃-N leaching occurs during maize early vegetative phase (March-May) due to high precipitation and N applications (Banger et

al., 2018; Jin & Sands, 2003), the producers are recommended to split N at optimum N rate using the University of Nebraska-Lincoln Yield Goal Tool (NE YG).

The Nebraska yield goal (NE YG) is a static tool that gives a one-time N recommendation before the growing season (Iqbal et al., 2023). This tool's N recommendations are based on the Stanford yield goal approach that recommends N based on the mass balance equation driven by yield estimates, internal N cycling with soil type, and crop N uptake efficiency (Stanford, 1973). Furthermore, NE YG also possesses the unique features of requiring a wide range of inputs, such as NO₃-N in the maize root zone and irrigation water, N credits from soil organic matter, manure, and leguminous crop, and adjustments for N application timing and prices for yield and nitrogen etc., which makes it a successful tool for Nebraska conditions (Iqbal et al., 2023). However, NE YG does not consider annual weather variability for N rate recommendations. Limitations of this method has been described in the literature (Morris et al., 2018).

Meanwhile, other types of N recommendation tools, known as dynamic tools, consider annual weather variability in addition to soil and crop inputs, to recommend sitespecific N rates (Mandrini et al., 2022; Morris et al., 2018; Ransom et al., 2021). For example, Maize-N is a crop growth computer simulation model that recommends N based on the soil and crop processes, N transformations, crop N uptake, and soil N depletion (Setiyono et al., 2011). Adapt-N (Melkonian et al., 2005; Moebius-Clune et al., 2013) and Granular (Gunzenhauser, 2023) are dynamic tools that consider the sitespecific soil and crop conditions, weather, and management inputs to optimize N inputs. Canopy reflectance sensing is another tool that uses active optimal canopy sensing of leaves to determine the leaves' darkness and quantify the in-season N needs using algorithms (Franzen et al., 2016; Holland & Schepers, 2010; Solari et al., 2008). The drawbacks of these dynamic N tools are the added costs of implementation, their accuracy, and their adaptability across diverse soil and weather conditions (Ransom et al., 2021). At the same time, previous research has shown no significant benefits of using dynamic N tools over static N tools (Mandrini et al., 2021; Ransom, 2018). For example, Puntel et al., (2018) reported that yield predictions using process-based models are reliable, but economic optimum N rate (EONR) predictions at the V6 maize developmental stage, even with known weather, are uncertain ($R^2 = 0.1$). Similarly, no advantages of weather incorporation in EONR predictions were observed by Qin et al., (2018). Furthermore, Ransom et al. (2020) and Mandirini et al. (2021) found that dynamic N tools do not consistently give better prediction of the EONR and N losses. However, Sela et al. (2017) found that Adapt-N increased farmer profit and improved EONR prediction compared to the Stanford-type maize N calculator in 14-site years of field trials in New York.

Nevertheless, evaluation of static vs. dynamic N tools in high NO₃-N contaminated areas in the US Midwest is lacking. Moreover, most of the previous studies have reported the environmental impact of these models using simulations (e.g. Mandrini et al., 2021; Ransom, 2018), but not in-field NO₃-N leaching assessments. This study was conducted to evaluate the agronomic, environmental, and economic performance of static (NE YG) vs. dynamic N tools (Maize-N, Canopy Reflectance Sensing, Adapt-N, Granular) in the BGMA, an area with mounting NO₃-N leaching. Specific objectives of this study were to evaluate the impact of static vs. dynamic N tools on 1) prescribing N recommendation rate, and 2) evaluating their agronomic (grain yield, N use efficiencies),

environmental (NO₃-N leaching *via* suction cup lysimeters), and economic performance (economic returns with and without including environmental costs) in the BGMA.



Figure 2.1 Median groundwater NO₃-N contamination for Nebraskan townships. The white rectangle in northeast Nebraska shows Bazile Groundwater Management Area (BGMA) and white star symbol shows the experimental site. (Adapted from NDEE, 2020).

Materials and Methods

Experimental Site

A two years (2021 and 2022) on-farm experiment was conducted near Creighton (lat. 42°25'02.3"N, long. 98°02'52.3"W, 568m elevation), Nebraska, United States. This site has an elevation of 568 m and is located in Phase III of the Bazile Groundwater Management Area (BGMA) in the Upper Elkhorn Natural Resource District (NRD). The climate at the study site is classified as humid (Singh et al., 2021), with an annual average precipitation of 714 mm and annual average temperature of 9.6^oC. The site has an excessively drained Thurman loamy sand soil, with 82.3% sand, 9.7% silt, and 8% clay.

A detailed description of the soil chemical and physical properties is provided in Table

2.1.

Table 2.1 Selected soil properties at the study site.						
Soil property	Units	Value				
Organic Matter	%	1.23				
NO ₃ -N	mg kg ⁻¹	2.46				
Phosphorus	mg kg ⁻¹	25.3				
Potassium	mg kg ⁻¹	157				
Sulfate-S	mg kg ⁻¹	6.36				
Zinc	mg kg ⁻¹	4.88				
Iron	mg kg ⁻¹	36.5				
Manganese	mg kg ⁻¹	5.27				
Copper	mg kg ⁻¹	0.28				
Calcium	mg kg ⁻¹	807				
Magnesium	mg kg ⁻¹	73.7				
Sodium	mg kg ⁻¹	8.43				
Cation exchange capacity	me 100g ⁻¹	6.18				
(CEC)		0110				
Bulk Density	g cm ⁻³	1.27				

Table 2.1 Selected soil properties at the study site

Experimental Design And Treatments

The experiment was conducted in a field with a center-pivot overhead sprinkler irrigation system. The outer two spans of the pivot were equipped with a variable rate irrigation (VRI) system (Valmont Industries, Valley, NE) and used to establish the experimental plots. The crop rotation was continuous maize. The treatments were applied to the same experimental plots in each study year. During 2021, maize was grown in a no-till field on May 12th. Due to high maize stubbles, the farmer tilled the field on April 14th, 2022, and planted maize on April 26th, 2022. Channel 20906 109 days mature maize variety was used during both years.

The treatments included six nitrogen rates from 0 to 336 kg N ha⁻¹ with an increment of 67 kg N ha⁻¹ and fertilizer-N rates from N tools (see Table 2.2 and 2.3)

arranged in a randomized complete block design consisting of 24 m long and 36 m wide plots. The nitrogen at each rate was applied in 5-splits via pre-plant, sidedress at V4, and three fertigations at V8, V12, and VT. To minimize the ammonia (NH_3) volatilization losses at pre-plant, a urease inhibitor (AGROTAIN) from Koch Industries was used to coat urea at the recommended rate of 2.1 L AGROTAIN per ton Urea. The AGROTAINcoated urea was surface broadcasted at pre-plant with a 3-m wide dry fertilizer drop spreader (Barber Engineering Co.). The side-dress N application with UAN (32%) was performed in furrows, using the 6-m wide liquid applicator at 4-leaf maize growth stage (V4). To minimize NH₃ volatilization losses, 19 mm irrigation was applied within 24 hours following side-dressing. The center pivot with variable rate sprinkler irrigation was used for irrigation and fertigation (with UAN 28%) purposes. The GPS-based irrigation and fertigation maps were uploaded before irrigation and/or fertigation events. During 2022, the application timing was adjusted by increasing early season N amounts (Table 2.2). We assume the differences in N application timing between the two years would not affect measured parameters, as the companion study showed no significant differences in N application timing on the parameters measured in this study, likely due to below than normal precipitation during both study years. A detailed description of the N application rate at different maize growth stages is provided in Table 2.2. To meet crop phosphorus requirements, the farmer applied Mono Ammonium Phosphate (MAP) before planting at 140 kg ha⁻¹ (equivalent to 16 kg N ha⁻¹) and 105 kg ha⁻¹ (equivalent to 12 kg N ha⁻¹) to the entire pivot field, including the experimental plots during 2021 and 2022, respectively. To meet potassium, magnesium, and sulfur needs, farmers broadcasted K-Mag from Mosaic at 86 kg K-Mag ha⁻¹ (equivalent to 19 kg K₂O, 10 kg Mg, 19 kg S) to

entire pivot field, including the experimental plots before planting maize each year. The management decisions such as crop hybrid selection, herbicide application, and irrigation scheduling were at the discretion of the farmer.

Total N	Dueuleut	Sidedress	Fertigation			
	Preplant	$V4^*$	V8	V12	VT	
	Agrotain	UAN [†]				
kg N ha ⁻¹						
0 (0) ‡	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)	
67 (67)	22 (22)	11 (20)	11 (0)	11 (12)	11 (12)	
135 (135)	45 (45)	11 (20)	11 (25)	33 (22)	33 (22)	
202 (202)	67 (67)	35 (62)	33 (25)	33 (25)	33 (25)	
269 (269)	90 (90)	78 (142)	33 (0)	33 (20)	33 (16)	
336 (336)	112 (112)	123 (224)	33 (0)	33 (0)	33 (0)	

Table 2.2 Nitrogen rates (kg ha⁻¹) for the six N rate treatments during 2021 and 2022.

† UAN, Urea NH₄-NO₃.

*V4, 4-leaf stage; V8, 8-leaf stage; V12, 12-leaf stage; VT, tasseling.

‡ indicate N input values in 2021 and 2022 (in parenthesis).

Crop Yield, Nitrogen Use Efficiencies, And Economic Return

At the physiological maturity in both years, the maize was hand-harvested from the middle two 3m rows per plot. The hand-harvested maize grain, and stover (stalk, leaves, cobs) were separated and analyzed for maize yield, and N uptake by maize. The stover was shredded using a portable woodchipper. Ears and subsamples of chopped maize stover were weighed and dried at 71°C to determine moisture content. Ears were shelled to separate grain and cobs. Grain and stover were milled and analyzed for total nitrogen using the dry combustion method at Ward Lab (Kearney, NE). Hand harvest grain yield at 15.5% moisture, nitrogen concentration in grain and stover, and plant population were used to calculate nitrogen uptake. Furthermore, different nitrogen use efficiency indicators (partial factor productivity (PFP, Eq. 2.1) and maize nitrogen use efficiency (NUE_{maize}; Eq. 2.2).) and net return to nitrogen (RTN; Eq. 2.3), and net return to nitrogen considering environmental costs (RTN_{Env}; Eq. 2.4) were calculated as follows:

PFP (kg kg⁻¹) = $\frac{\text{Grain yield}}{\text{Fertilizer N}}$ (Eq. 2.1)

 $NUE_{maize}(kg kg^{-1}) = \frac{Grain N uptake}{Fertilizer N} (Eq. 2.2)$

 $RTN = (Yield_{Maize} \times Price_{Maize}) - (Input_N \times Price_N) (Eq. 2.3)$

 $RTN_{Env} = RTN - (NO3 - N_{leached} \times 18.54) (Eq. 2.4)$

where 18.54 US\$ kg⁻¹ NO₃-N is the environmental cost associated with NO₃-N leached (Preza-Fontes et al., 2022; Sobota et al., 2015).

Nitrogen Recommendation Tools Investigated

Nebraska Yield Goal (YG)

Nitrogen recommendation (Eq. 2.5) using the static Nebraska YG (Iqbal et al., 2023) developed by the University of Nebraska-Lincoln was calculated as follows:

$$N_{rec} = 1.12^{+} x \{ [35 + (1.2 \text{ x YG}) - (8 \text{ x NO}_{3} - N_{(0-120\text{ cm})}) - (0.14 \text{ x YG x OM}) - \text{other N credits}] x \text{ Time}_{adj} \text{ x Price}_{adj} \} (Eq. 2.5)$$

where YG represents the yield goal calculated as the 105% of five-year yield average, 1.12[†] was the conversion factor from lb ac-1 to kg ha⁻¹, NO₃ – N_(0-120cm) constitutes the average NO₃-N concentrations for the maize root zone (0-120 cm), OM stands for organic matter percentage, other N credits included NO₃-N concentrations from irrigation water, previous legume crop, manure, or any other N source, Time_{adj} and Price_{adj} were the adjustment factors for N application timing (fall, spring, split) and prices of maize and N, respectively.

Maize-N Crop Growth Model

Maize-N version 2018.4 was used to develop N recommendation. Maize-N, developed by the University of Nebraska-Lincoln, predicts the N recommendations using the long-term historical and in-season daily climate data input, soil data (soil organic carbon, soil texture, bulk density, soil NO₃-N in the maize root zone), water data (irrigation amounts, N credits from irrigation water), and crop and management inputs (type and timing of tillage, N application timing, N fertilizer price). The weather data was used from the nearest weather station of the High Plains Regional Climate Center. Maize-N uses the Hybrid-Maize for yield predictions (H. S. Yang et al., 2004). The full detail of Maize-N is provided by Setiyono et al. (2011)). Maize-N has been previously validated in many studies (Grassini et al., 2009; Ransom et al., 2021; Thompson et al., 2015). For year 2022, the N in the Maize-N model was accidentally applied in excess, therefore, the 2022 Maize-N treatment from here onwards would be called "Excess N".

Canopy Reflectance Sensing

Canopy reflectance measurements were obtained for both years using the RapidSCAN CS-45 (Holland Scientific, Lincoln, NE) two days prior to split N application at V8 maize development stage. The Holland and Schepers algorithm (Holland & Schepers, 2010) was used to calculate an N fertilizer recommendation derived from these reflectance measurements. All plots associated with reflectance measurements received four N splits via pre-plant, and three fertigations at V8, V12, and VT. The treatment plots received 67 kg N ha⁻¹ as preplant. Before fertigation at V8, NDRE values from sensing treatment plots were subtracted from NDRE obtained from the "reference N" plot i.e., 336 kg N ha⁻¹ and called as sufficiency index (SI) (Eq. 2.6).

$$SI = {VI_{67} / VI_{reference}} (Eq. 2.6)$$

where VI_{67} was the vegetation index obtained from all crop sensing treatment plots after averaging NDRE values that received 67 kg N ha⁻¹ as preplant N application and $VI_{reference}$ was the vegetation index obtained from "reference N" plot i.e., 336 kg N ha⁻¹. The NDRE vegetative index (Eq. 2.7) was calculated as:

$$NDRE = (NIR - RE)/(NIR + RE) (Eq. 2.7)$$

where RE and NIR represent red-edge (730 nm) and near-infrared (780 nm) wavelengths, respectively. Fertilizer N recommendations (Eq. 2.8) were then calculated as described by Holland and Schepers (2010) as shown below:

$$N_{rec} = (MZ_i \cdot N_{Opt} - N_{PreFert} - N_{CRD} + N_{Comp}) x \sqrt{\frac{(1-SI)}{\Delta SI}} (Eq. 2.8)$$

where N_{rec} represents calculated N recommendation; MZ_i was considered scaling value $(0 \ge MZ_i \le 2)$ represents the adjustment of the N recommendation relative to high and low yielding areas and was kept 1 in our case; N_{Opt} means base N rate determined by producer and was kept as previous five-year average N rate applied by producer; $N_{PreFert}$ represents the N applied prior to sensing (i.e. 67 kg N ha⁻¹ or VI₆₇); N_{CRD} consists of previous N credits similar to NE YG; N_{Comp} represents the compensation factor for growth-limiting conditions and is optional and was set to zero; SI means sufficiency index, and Δ SI represents the value defining the response range with recommended value of 0.30 that provides a response range for the measured vegetative index value between 0.70 and 1.00.

Adapt-N

Adapt-N, developed by Cornell University and recently acquired by Ever.Ag, is a web-based N recommendation tool (Ever.Ag; https://www.ever.ag/adapt-n-fieldalytics/) which was built around Precision Nitrogen Management (PNM) model (Melkonian et al., 2005; van Es et al., 2007), using an integrated and enhanced combination of the LEACHM model (Hutson, 2003), and a maize N uptake, growth, and yield model (Sinclair & Muchow, 1995). An important feature of Adapt-N is its dynamic access to gridded high-resolution (4 by 4 km) weather data. Importantly, the Adapt-N provides information regarding the maize N uptake and N losses depending on soil type, rooting depth, slope, and other factors. Adapt-N mostly provides in-season N recommendations at any crop growth stage. More details about the model can be found in Morris et al. (2018).

Granular

Granular Agronomy N Management, started as Encirca N Management in 2013, is a web-based, mechanistic, daily time-step crop growth model that uses weather, soil properties, management, and genetic information to estimate N requirements by simulating both aboveground and belowground processes. Nitrogen recommendations are provided based on the yield goal along with distinct decision zones, generated with spatial inputs such as soil water holding capacity, drainage, organic matter, irrigation etc. Granular uses historical, current, and 8-day forecast weather information for N recommendations and considers all N dynamics and losses (leaching, denitrification, nitrification, and volatilization). More details can be found in Gunzenhauser et al. (2023). The N recommendations from all N recommendation tools are provided in Table 2.3.

N Baaammandat	Recomm	Applied	Pre-	Sidedress	Fertigation		
	ended N	Ν	plant	V*4	V8	V12	VT
ion tool		Agrotain			UAN†		
	kg N ha ⁻¹						
Adapt-N	‡168	168	67	35	22	22	22
	(189)	(200)	(67)	(111)	(0)	(11)	(11)
Granular	169	168	67	36	22	22	22
	(222)	(242)	(67)	(175)	(0)	(0)	(0)
Canopy	165	169	67	0	34	34	34
sensing	(177)	(169)	(67)	(0)	(34)	(34)	(34)
Maize-N	268	268	67	99	34	34	34
(Excess-N)	(354)	(439)	(67)	(372)	(0)	(0)	(0)
NE YG	250	250	67	81	34	34	34
	(239)	(242)	(67)	(142)	(11)	(11)	(11)

Table 2.3 Nitrogen rate recommendation from N recommendation tools during 2021and 2022

† UAN, Urea NH₄-NO₃.

*V4, 4-leaf stage; V8, 8-leaf stage; V12, 12-leaf stage; VT, tasseling.

‡ indicate N input values in 2021 and 2022 (in parenthesis).

Lysimeter Installation And Water Sampling

To monitor the pore water NO₃-N and NH₄-N concentration below the crop rootzone, two suction-cup lysimeters were installed approximately 30 m apart at 1.2 m soil depth in each experimental plot following the method described by Venterea et al. (2011) and Maharajan et al. (2014). The suction cup lysimeters were developed by the Irrometer Company Inc. (Model SSAT - Soil Solution Access Tube) and contained 100kPa high flow ceramic cup attached to rubber tubing designed to apply the pressure and collect water samples at the soil surface. The suction cup lysimeters were installed using silica powder slurry to cover the ceramic cup at the bottom of the vertical hole bored with a soil probe. The soil from the hole was used to re-fill the hole around the lysimeter tube, followed by the placement of a finely powdered bentonite layer at the soil surface to prevent the preferential flow of water. Pore-water samples from the lysimeters were collected one to three times a week following rain or irrigation events from 20 May to 15 October of 2021 and 13 May to 17 September of 2022. To pull the pore water from the ceramic cup, a pressure of ~80 kpa was applied to the suction cup through the rubber tubes. After about 4 hours, the rubber tube line was opened to collect the pore-water sample with a 20 mL syringe and acidified with 0.1N HCl before transferring to the lab in a cooler. There were 23 and 26 water sample collection events during the years 2021 and 2022, respectively.

Water Balance And NO₃-N Leaching Calculations

A soil water balance equation (Eq. 2.9) was used to estimate the draining water via deep percolation below the root zone using the following approach (Djaman & Irmak, 2013):

$$DP_i = P_i + I_i - R_i - ET_i \pm \Delta S_i (Eq. 2.9)$$

where DP is deep percolation, P is precipitation, I is irrigation, ET is evapotranspiration, Δ S is soil water storage in the root zone, and i is the current day. Units are mm day-1. The value of P was determined using High Plains Regional Climate Center (HPRCC) data collected at a weather station near the site, while I is the amount of irrigation applied in the field by the farmer. The ET values were calculated as a product of an alfalfa reference mean crop coefficient (K_{cr}) based on the stage of growing degree days (Lo et al., 2019) and the reference ET estimates incorporated with the daily weather data using the Penman-Monteith equation (Allen et al., 1998). The K_{cr} values for the curve were derived from the NDVI data collected during the R1 maize growth stage using the relationship [K_{cr} = 1.308*(NDVI) + 0.027] given by Singh & Irmak (2009) for irrigated maize in Nebraska. The water in the soil profile at the start of the growing season was assumed to be at field capacity. We estimated runoff for our experiment using the United States Department of Agriculture–Natural Resources Conservation Service (USDA NRCS) curve number method (USDA NRCS, 1985). Daily leaching amount of NO₃-N and NH₄-N were determined as the product of daily deep percolation and daily NO₃-N and NH₄-N concentration. The daily NO₃-N (Eq. 10) and NH₄-N amount from suction-cup lysimeters water sample were the product of (a) daily estimation(s) of deep percolation and (b) average of previous days pore water NO₃-N and NH₄-N concentrations after last deep percolation event occurred, and (c) 0.01 (kg ha⁻¹) unit conversion factor (Pawlick et al., 2019).

$$[NO_3 - N]_{leached} = \frac{1}{n} \sum_{i=1}^{n} [NO_3 - N]_{120cm} \ge DP_i \ge 0.01 \text{ (Eq. 2.10)}$$

To calculate seasonal average pore water NO₃-N concentrations, the daily pore water NO₃-N concentrations were averaged across days in the maize growth stage. Subseasonal pore water NO₃-N concentrations were calculated based on the maize growth stages and the sampling dates between (i) planting and 8-leaf stage (early vegetative phase), (ii) 8-leaf to tasseling (late vegetative phase), and (iii) tasseling to physiological maturity (reproductive phase), derived and validated from field observations to compute the effect of treatments over time (Rudnick et al., 2017). For seasonal pore water concentrations, the average was performed across all dates while the daily NO₃-N amounts were summed up for area-scaled based seasonal NO₃-N leaching losses. Our data showed that >70% of NH₄-N values were below detection limit, therefore, ammonium data analysis was not performed.

Residual Soil NO₃-N And NH₄-N Analysis

In fall, six undisturbed deep core (0-120 cm) soil samples were collected after maize harvest from each experimental plot within non-trafficked rows. The truck mounted Giddings hydraulic probe (Giddings Machine Co., Fort Collins, CO) was used for sampling soil cores with a diameter of 44 mm. The intact cores were sliced at the following depth increments: 0-30, 30-60, 60-90, and 90-120 cm. The six soil cores per plot were composited by depth before transferring to the lab in a cooler. The soil samples were extracted with 2M KCl solution (5:1 solution to soil ratio) after shaking for 1 hr, followed by filtration through Whatman #1 filter paper. Soil extracts from deep core soil samples and lysimeter water samples were analyzed for NO₃-N and NH₄-N concentration using VCl₃/Griess method (Miranda et al., 2001) and the Berthelot reaction (Kandeler & Gerber, 1988), respectively.

Statistical Analysis

The maize yield was analyzed separately for each site-year to obtain EONR by fitting the yield to applied N rates using linear, quadratic, linear plateau and quadratic plateau models using the PROC NLIN procedure in SAS (Cerrato and Blackmer, 1990, Cho et al., 2023). We found that quadratic-plateau model performed better with higher coefficient of determination (R^2) and lower root mean square error (RMSE) than others. Our mode choice followed the von Liebig's law of the minimum which states that plant growth occurs at a constant rate with nutrients contributing to grain production in a fixed proportion until some factors become limiting (Swanson, 1963). EONR range was calculated using the ±\$2.47 ha⁻¹ of the EONR (Greer & Pittelkow, 2018; Laboski et al., 2014; Morris et al., 2018; Curtis J Ransom et al., 2020; Sawyer & Sawyer, 2013; Sela et al., 2017). The recommendations of N tools outside the EONR range were considered

significantly different. Another parameter used was the one-way analysis (ANOVA) for the maize yield, NO₃-N leaching, RTN, RTN_{Env}, PFP, NUEcrop using PROC GLIMMIX with N tools as fixed factor and replications as random factors. Similarly, we performed two-way ANOVA with N tools, soil depth, and their interaction as fixed factors while replications and interaction of replications with N tools as random factors. For NO₃-N daily and sub-seasonal analysis, two-way repeated measures ANOVA was performed with date or sub season as repeated measure along with N tools, and their interaction as fixed factor but the replication was considered random factor. The significance threshold considered for all analysis was 0.05.

Results

Weather Conditions

The growing season precipitation during 2021 (May through October; Figure 2.2a-c) and 2022 (April through September; Figure 2.3a-c) was 376 and 283 mm, respectively, which was 11 % and 25% lower than the last ten year's average growing season precipitation (424mm) at the site. The frequency of precipitation was different between the two years. In 2021, precipitation accounted for 15%, 49%, and 35% of the total growing season precipitation during the early vegetative, late vegetative, and reproductive phases, respectively. While in 2022, the precipitation accounted for 45%, 25%, and 28% of total growing season precipitation received during the early vegetative, late vegetative, late vegetative, late vegetative, and reproductive phases, respectively (Fig 2.3a-c). When total water inputs from precipitation and irrigation were considered, the water input in each phase differed from precipitation only. For example, in 2021, the higher total water input occurred in the reproductive phase (43%) and the late vegetative phase (43%) followed by early (14%) vegetative phase, respectively. While in 2022, the higher total water input

occurred in the reproductive phase (46%), followed by the late (28%) and early (25%) vegetative phases, respectively.



Figure 2.2 The upper panels (a-c) show water inputs (mm) for three maize growth phases – early vegetative (planting to V8), late vegetative (V8-VT) and reproductive phases (R1-R6), while daily and subseasonal pore water NO₃-N concentrations (mg L^{-1}) are shown in the middle panels (d-f) and lower panels (g-i), respectively in 2021.



Figure 2.3 The upper panels (a-c) show water inputs (mm) for three maize growth phases – early vegetative (planting to V8), late vegetative (V8-VT) and reproductive phases (R1-R6), while daily and subseasonal pore water NO₃-N concentrations (mg L⁻¹) are shown in the middle panels (d-f) and lower panels (g-i), respectively in 2022.

NO₃-N Concentrations In Lysimeters

The pore-water samples from six N rates and N tool treatments were analyzed for NO_3 -N concentrations following the 23 and 26 leaching events in 2021 and 2022, respectively (Figure 2.2, 2.3, and A1). Across all treatments, NO_3 -N concentrations ranged from 0 to 20 mg L⁻¹ in 2021 and from 0 to 257 mg L⁻¹ in 2022. Among the six N rates, NO_3 -N concentration increased with an increase in N rates during all maize growth stages. However, the increasing trend in NO_3 -N concentration was different across two years. In 2021, NO_3 -N concentrations increased linearly with increasing N rate for the early and late vegetative phases but exponentially during the reproductive phase (Figure

2.2 g-i). Moreover, the early vegetative phase (7.8 mg L^{-1}) had significantly higher NO₃-N concentrations, followed by the late vegetative (4.7 mg L^{-1}) and reproductive phase (1.04 mg L^{-1}). Over the entire 2021 season, there was a significant linear increase in average NO₃-N concentrations with increasing N rate (Figure 2.6).



Figure 2.4 The upper panels (a-c) show water inputs (mm) for three maize growth phases – early vegetative (planting to V8), late vegetative (V8-VT) and reproductive phases (R1-R6), while daily and subseasonal pore water NO₃-N concentrations (mg L^{-1}) are shown in the middle panels (d-f) and lower panels (g-i), respectively in 2021.


Figure 2.5 The upper panels (a-c) show water inputs (mm) for three maize growth phases – early vegetative (planting to V8), late vegetative (V8-VT) and reproductive phases (R1-R6), while daily and subseasonal pore water NO₃-N concentrations (mg L^{-1}) are shown in the middle panels (d-f) and lower panels (g-i), respectively in 2022.

Unlike 2021, NO₃-N concentration increased exponentially with an increasing N rate during all growth stages and the entire season in 2022 (Figure 2.7). Similar to 2021, the NO₃-N concentrations in 2022 were significantly higher in the early vegetative (27 mg L⁻¹) followed by the late vegetative (17 mg L⁻¹) and reproductive phases (16 mg L⁻¹). Across two years, average NO₃-N concentrations in 2022 were 3.8 times higher than in 2021. Like N rate treatments, N tool treatments had similar temporal trends for porewater NO₃-N concentrations in both seasons (Figures 2.4 & 2.5).



Figure 2.6 Seasonal average NO₃-N concentrations for N rates in (a) 2021 and (b) 2022.



Figure 2.7 Maize yield (Mg ha⁻¹; dashed line with hollow circles) and NO₃-N leaching (kg ha⁻¹; solid line with filled triangles) response to N rates during (a) 2021 and (b) 2022. Green and red colors represent under and over-application than economic optimum N rate range (white shaded region), respectively.

Maize Yield And Nitrate Leaching Response To Nitrogen Rate

The maize yield and NO₃-N leaching response to applied N rates are shown in Figure 2.7. Nitrate leaching was calculated as a product of deep percolation and NO₃-N concentrations. Across two years, grain yield followed a similar response to the N rate.

However, NO₃-N leaching responded differently. In 2021, the maize yield ranged from 13 to 17 Mg ha⁻¹ and increased with increasing N rate with a quadratic plateau response at EONR of 258 kg ha⁻¹ (ranging from 247 to 271 kg ha⁻¹; $R^2 = 0.97$; RMSE = 7.4; p = 0.005) and corresponding yield of 16.26 Mg ha⁻¹ (ranging from 16.19 to 16.33) Mg ha⁻¹). In contrast, NO₃-N leaching had a linear increase with an increase in N rate and averaged 17.4 kg NO₃-N ha⁻¹ at EONR. Similar to 2021, in 2022, the maize yields (ranging from 12.5 Mg ha⁻¹ to 15.3 Mg ha⁻¹) increased with an increase in N rate and followed a quadratic plateau response with EONR of 252 kg ha⁻¹ (ranging from 241 to 270 kg N ha⁻¹) and a corresponding yield of 15.20 Mg ha⁻¹ (ranging from 15.06 to 15.28 Mg ha⁻¹). Unlike 2021, in 2022, NO₃-N leaching increased exponentially with an increase in N rate and averaged 41 kg NO₃-N ha⁻¹ at EONR. On the other hand, NO₃-N leaching was lower at a lower N rate and increased exponentially before the grain yield leveled off. Though EONR did not differ much by year, maize yield and NO₃-N leaching differed across years. At 2022 EONR, maize yield was 1.3 Mg ha⁻¹ lower, and NO₃-N leaching was 2.3 times higher than at 2021 EONR.

Which Tools Gave Recommendations Close To EONR?

The average difference between the tool's N recommendation and EONR was used to evaluate the tool's performance in this study. Evaluating tools using this approach helped to determine which tools could best predict the EONR for each year. Across all N tools, the difference between N recommendation tools and EONR (dEONR) ranged from -77 kg N ha⁻¹ to + 13 kg N ha⁻¹. Among all tools, the static NE YG was the best predicting tool for this site as dEONR was within the EONR range and ranged from -5 to -10 kg N ha⁻¹ across both years (Figure 2.8 a, d). Among the dynamic N tools, both the Canopy reflectance sensing and Adapt-N predicted lower N recommendations than EONR and had dEONR from -53 to - 77 kg N ha⁻¹. The Granular recommended lower N in 2021 (dEONR of -73 kg N ha⁻¹) but was in the EONR range in 2022 (dEONR of -10 kg N ha⁻¹). In contrast, Maize-N recommended N rates above the EONR range in both years with dEONR of +13 to +102 kg N ha⁻¹.





Performance Of Tools For Agronomic, Environmental, And Economic Response

Two metrics, 1) dEONR and 2) ANOVA of dEONR, were used to test the agronomic, environmental, and economic performance of N tools. Across all tools, dEONR for grain yield ranged from 0 to -3 Mg ha⁻¹. Using the first metric, NE YG and Maize-N had grain yield dEONR within the EONR range in both years. Canopy reflectance sensing had grain yield dEONR (-2.6 to -2.7 Mg ha⁻¹) lower than the EONR

range in both years. Granular and Adapt-N had variable responses in each year. Granular had grain yield dEONR below (-1 Mg ha⁻¹) and within the EONR range (-0.5 Mg ha⁻¹) in 2021 and 2022, respectively. Conversely, Adapt-N had grain yield dEONR within (-0.5 Mg ha⁻¹) and below (-0.9 Mg ha⁻¹) EONR range in 2021 and 2022, respectively. Using the 2nd metric of ANOVA resulted in significant grain yield differences among N tools. All tools had similar grain yield except Canopy reflectance sensing, which had significantly lower grain yield in both years (Figure 2.8 b, e).

Using both metrics, NO₃-N leaching significantly differed among the N tools. Using the dEONR metric for N tools, the direction of NO₃-N leaching followed the direction of N input 7 out of 10 times (Figure 2.8 c,f). The NE YG had NO₃-N leaching dEONR within (+2 kg NO₃-N ha⁻¹) and above (+14 kg NO₃-N ha⁻¹) EONR range in 2021 and 2022, respectively. In both years, Maize-N and Excess-N had NO₃-N leaching dEONR (+3 to + 42 kg NO₃-N ha⁻¹) above the EONR range. However, the three N tools, namely Canopy reflectance sensing, Granular and Adapt-N, had NO₃-N leaching dEONR (-2 to -9 kg NO₃-N ha⁻¹) below the EONR range in 5 out of 6 times. Using the 2nd metric of ANOVA resulted in an insignificant effect of NO₃-N leaching dEONR among N tools in 2021. While in 2022, Excess-N had significantly higher NO₃-N leaching dEONR than all other N tools (Figure 2.8 c, f).

All the N tools had negative RTN and RTN_{Env} values in both years (Figure 2.9). Across all tools, dEONR of RTN and RTN_{Env} ranged from -\$758 ha-1 to - \$8 ha-1 and -\$2035 ha-1 to -\$11 ha-1, respectively. Nebraska YG had RTN and RTN_{Env} dEONR closer to EONR in both years. Similarly, Maize-N had RTN and RTN_{Env} dEONR within the EONR range in 2021. However, Excess-N had both RTN and RTN_{Env} dEONR below the EONR range. In both years, Canopy reflectance sensing had RTN and RTN_{Env} dEONR below the EONR range. Conversely, Granular and Adapt-N had RTN dEONR below the EONR range in both years. However, among these two tools, the dEONR of RTN_{Env} was within the EONR range 3 out of 4 times in both years. Using the 2^{nd} metric of ANOVA resulted in statistically similar values of RTN dEONR among N tools except Canopy reflectance sensing with lower values in 2021. However, no differences in RTN_{Env} among tools occurred in the same year. Conversely, in 2022, no differences in RTN occurred. However, RTN_{Env} dEONR was significantly lower in Excess-N than all other N tools.

Performance Of Tools For Nitrogen Use Efficiencies

Using the first metric, the dEONR of PFP was higher than the mean EONR and ranged from +1 to +33 kg grain kg-1 N during 2021 (Figure 2.10). However, in 2022, dEONR values were in either direction of the mean EONR and ranged from –27 to +7 kg grain kg⁻¹ N. The NE YG and Maize-N had PFP dEONR within the EONR range. However, Excess-N had dEONR below the EONR range. Canopy reflectance sensing had dEONR above in 2021 but below the EONR range in 2022. Granular and Adapt-N had dEONR above the EONR range 3 out of 4 times. Using the 2nd metric of ANOVA resulted in significant differences of dEONR with lower values with NE YG and Maize-N than the other three tools in 2021. However, in 2022, there were no differences in dEONR among all tools except Excess-N, with significantly lower dEONR.



Figure 2.9 RTN and RTN_{Env} (\$ ha⁻¹) are compared for N recommendation tools against EONR for 2021 (a and c) and 2022 (b and d), respectively. Significant differences at alpha = 0.05 are shown in different letters.







In 2021, NUE_{crop} dEONR values were positive and above EONR in all the N tools and ranged from +0.1 to +0.5 kg grain kg⁻¹ N (Figure 2.10) in 2021. In contrast, in 2022, NUE_{crop} dEONR values were negative and below EONR in all tools and ranged from – 0.5 to – 0.2 kg grain kg⁻¹ N. Using the 2nd metric of ANOVA resulted in significant differences of dEONR with lower values with NE YG and Maize-N than the other three tools in 2021. However, in 2022, there were no differences in dEONR among all tools except Excess-N, with significantly lower dEONR.

Residual Soil N For N Recommendation Tools

No main or interactive effect of N-tools and soil depth on residual soil NO₃-N and NH₄-N occurred in 2021 (Table 2.4). When averaged across depths, the residual soil NO₃-N and NH₄-N ranged from 0.02 to 1.21 kg ha⁻¹ and 4.31 to 8.84 kg N ha⁻¹ among all N tools, respectively. In 2022, there were no main effects of N-tools and N-tools-depth interaction. However, soil depth significantly affected residual soil NO₃-N and NH₄-N. Among all N tools, the residual soil NO₃-N and soil NH₄-N ranged from 2.56 to 7.76 kg ha⁻¹ and 11.06 to 14.55 kg N ha⁻¹, respectively. Residual soil NO₃-N was higher in the lower 90-120 cm depth than in the Upper three depths at 0-90 cm. Similarly, residual soil NH₄-N increased with soil depth with significantly higher values at the lower than the Upper soil depths. Overall, 2022 had three times higher (9 kg N ha⁻¹) residual soil N than in 2021. Interestingly, residual soil NH₄-N was three times and nine times higher than the residual soil NO₃-N in 2021 and 2022, respectively.

Source of Effect	2021		2022	
	NO ₃ -N	NH ₄ -N	NO ₃ -N	NH ₄ -N
N recommendation				
tools				
Adapt-N	0.02	4.69	6.24	13.86
Granular	0.25	5.51	7.76	14.55
Holland-Schepers	1.21	5.48	2.58	13.40
Maize-N	0.10	8.84	-	-
UNL-N	0.55	4.31	6.95	11.06
Depth (cm)				
0-30	0.62	4.27	5.71ab	10.65b
30-60	0.06	3.59	3.25b	12.99ab
60-90	0.46	9.71	4.53b	13.56a
90-120	0.56	5.50	10.04a	15.66a
SE	0.57	2.33	1.72	1.11
Significance	Pr>F			
N tools	0.566	0.800	0.194	0.172
Depth	0.424	0.242	0.028	0.014
N-tools x Depth	0.291	0.604	0.483	0.268

Table 2.4 Residual soil NO₃-N and NH₄-N from the N recommendation models

Discussion

Maize Yield And NO₃-N Leaching Response To Nitrogen Rate

A need to link maize productivity to environmental N losses has been wellhighlighted in the past (Eagle et al., 2017; Puntel et al., 2016; Sela et al., 2017). Meanwhile, the associated consequence of high N application rates to groundwater quality is of concern (Exner et al., 2014; Saint-Fort et al., 1991; Schepers et al., 1995; Spalding et al., 2001). To our knowledge, no previous studies have reported agronomic, economic and NO₃-N leaching response with environmental cost to N rate and N recommendations from N tools. This study explored these responses and found the variable effect of the N rates and N recommendation tools on these responses.

Though the EONR was not much different between the two years in this study, maize grain yield, nitrate leaching, RTN, and RTN_{Env} were considerably different at EONR between years, indicating the importance of yearly weather and management impacts on agronomic, environmental, and economic performance. The quadratic plateau maize yield response observed in this study was similar to the observation in previous studies (Kaur et al., 2024; Manevski et al., 2016; Yang et al., 2017). However, in this study, both linear and exponential nitrate leaching responses in 2021 and 2022 were inconsistent with earlier findings with either linear (Vogeler et al., 2020) or exponential nitrate leaching responses with N rates (Delin & Stenberg, 2014). Interestingly, a linear increase above or below EONR in 2021 was accompanied by relatively lower NO₃-N leaching, indicating less potential for N losses. Conversely, the exponential increase in NO₃-N leaching above and below EONR in 2022 reflected a higher potential for NO₃-N leaching losses. These results were consistent with the findings of Delin & Stenberg (2014) who found an exponential increase in NO₃-N leaching and attributed that to lower grain yield in their study. Similarly, the higher NO_3 -N leaching in 2022 of this study were also reflected by the lower grain yield, PFP, and NUE_{crop} than in 2021. The higher NO_3 -N leaching in 2022 could partly be due to disk tillage by farmer in 2022 than no-till in 2021, as rainfall intensification has been shown to increase NO₃-N leaching from tilled cropping systems compared to no-till cropping system (Hess et al., 2020; Ritter et al., 1993). Although we applied slightly higher N during the early season in 2022 than in 2021, we assume the differences in N application amounts across times between the two years would not impact NO₃-N leaching in the study years, as the companion study showed no differences in NO₃-N leaching between 2-N vs. 3N vs. 4N vs. 5N splits, likely because of dry year with below than normal early and total seasonal precipitation (Singh et al., under review).

Agronomic Performance Of N Tools

The recognition of the best N recommendation tool can be site-specific or regional based on the goal of either crop productivity or environmental N losses or both, but available static and dynamic N tools do have some limitations on their performance (Asseng et al., 2013; Banger et al., 2018; Brilli et al., 2017). In this study, static and dynamic N tools had a wide range of responses in predicting EONR, NO₃-N leaching, RTN, RTN_{Env}, and N use efficiency under the same weather conditions and soil type. This was not surprising as static and dynamic N tools use different input parameters to recommend EONR (Morris et al., 2018). However, it was surprising that despite not accounting for local weather conditions, static NE YG succeeded in both years in predicting an N rate close to EONR than all the dynamic N tools that account for site-specific soil and weather conditions (Morris et al., 2018). Discussion on the agronomic performance of each tool is given below:

Nebraska Yield Goal

Ransom et al. (2020) reported that NE YG was among the best performing tools among 31 evaluated N-tools and underestimated the N rate by only 12 kg N ha⁻¹ at planting and by 27 kg N ha⁻¹ during split-N (preplant and V8 side-dress) application but was within the EONR range of ± 30 kg N ha⁻¹. Similarly, this study found that NE YG was successful in recommending the N rate within the EONR range in the irrigated sandy soils. This was in contrast with previous studies that reported a weak correlation of yield goal tools to EONR (Oglesby et al., 2023; Vanotti & Bundy, 1994). However, Nebraska YG is well-known for possessing the unique features of requiring a wide range of inputs, such as NO₃-N in the maize root zone and irrigation water, nitrogen credit from soil organic matter and leguminous crop, and adjustments for N application timing and prices for yield and nitrogen etc, which makes it a successful model for Nebraska conditions (Iqbal et al., 2023). Moreover, NE YG recommends 5% less N for in-season N application than the pre-plant N rates, which generally improves its performance (Ransom et al., 2020).

Maize-N

Among all tools, Maize-N was the only model that recommended an N rate above EONR (13 to 102 kg N ha⁻¹) in both years (Figure 2.8). Similar to the results of this study, Thompson et al. (2015) found that Maize-N had 61 kg N ha⁻¹ higher N recommendations compared to Canopy reflectance sensing on 9 out of 11 sites in the US Midwest. High N recommendations from Maize-N partially could be due to a lower estimation of N from mineralization (Thomspon et al., 2015) as lower soil organic matter generally translates to lower mineralized N (Myrold and Bottomley, 2008) and subsequently a lower estimation of soil N availability for crop uptake. Although Maize-N currently possesses the ability to respond to in-season growing conditions of weather variability impacting N mineralization while combining Hybrid-Maize for yield estimations and considering the response of maize yield to N (Setiyono et al., 2011; Thompson et al., 2015; Yang et al., 2004), it still needs to incorporate the denitrification estimation algorithms (Banger et al. 2018; Morris et al., 2018). Moreover, many of the model coefficients in Maize-N are simplified estimates of genetics, management, and soil characteristics and could be altered to better match crop N needs (Ransom et al., 2020).

Canopy Reflectance Sensing

Canopy reflectance sensing using Holland-Schepers algorithm did not perform well and underestimated N recommendation by 63-77 kg N ha⁻¹ than EONR, resulting in a 2.6-2.7 Mg ha⁻¹ yield penalty across both years. Previous studies have reported variable results with no differences (Barker & Sawyer, 2012), under prediction (Bean et al., 2018; Ransom et al., 2020) or over prediction of N (Thompson et al., 2015) with the canopy reflectance sensing than EONR, indicating a non-linearity of N recommendations to EONR across a wide range of environments (Ransom et al., 2020). At our site, the Canopy reflectance sensing tool might not have performed well because of the early season N stress as N was sidedressed at the V4 growth stage at all other N tools except Canopy reflectance sensing, which might have caused irreversible yield loss (Sitthaphanit et al., 2009; Walsh et al., 2012). The N stress in the Canopy reflectance sensing during the early season could have also resulted from the observed higher NO₃-N leaching losses from the pre-plant N during the early vegetative phase (Figure 2.5) as sandy soils possess greater NO₃-N leaching risk to groundwater due to high soil porosity, hydraulic conductivity, and lower water holding capacity, compared to clay soils (Silva et al., 2005). Therefore, a continuous supply of N in multiple N splits during the early season could be necessary to ensure adequate N supply without a yield loss (Gehl et al., 2005; Jung et al., 1972). The poor performance of the Canopy reflectance sensing with lack of sidedress N application at V4 was also evidenced by relatively lower maize yield by this N tool (13.7 Mg ha⁻¹) than the Granular (15.3 Mg ha⁻¹) that received the same seasonal total N rate as Canopy reflectance sensing but with sidedress N application at V4.

Granular and Adapt-N

Granular and Adapt-N recommended 10-74 kg N ha⁻¹ lower N than EONR for the three site-years, resulting in maize yield loss of 0.5-1.0 Mg ha⁻¹. Previous studies have reported variable performance of these tools. For example, Sela et al. (2016) found that compared to farmer's N rate, Adapt-N reduced N recommendation by 34%, with no difference in maize yield observed in 113 on-farm trials in Iowa and New York. However, in N-rate trials of North Carolina, Adapt-N under- and over-estimated N up to 68 and 225 kg N ha⁻¹ than agronomic optimum N rate, respectively. The differences in N recommendation across the sites could be due to variations in weather conditions (Puntel et al., 2018) which let the model provide wide ranges (up to 138 kg N ha⁻¹) of N recommendations after preplant spring application (Sela & van Es, 2018). Moreover, both N tools simulate the nitrification, denitrification, NO₃-N leaching, and NH₃ volatilization losses using daily weather data, and soil properties from the Soil Survey Geographic Database (SSURGO) (Morris et al., 2018; Gunzenhauser, 2023) which can have erroneous boundaries (Sangwan & Merwade, 2015) and might lead to variation in N recommendation. In addition, in our study, a considerable amount of N was credited from irrigation water (55-57 kg N ha⁻¹), which might have led to an underestimation of N from these tools. Therefore, improvement in N utilization estimates from areas with high NO₃-N concentration irrigation water might improve these tools' performance.

Environmental And Economic Performance of Tools

Despite a wide range of differences in N recommendations among the N tools, ANOVA did not result in statistical differences in NO₃-N leaching among all the tools except Excess N with higher NO₃-N leaching of 94 kg NO₃-N ha⁻¹ than EONR. In general, the direction of NO₃-N leaching followed the direction of N recommendation 7 out of 10 times among all N tools. The lack of significant effect of NO₃-N leaching among the majority of the N tools was consistent with the findings of Delin and Stenberg (2014) who found that N fertilizer application did not significantly affect NO₃-N leaching when each extra kg resulted in 10 kg grain yield increase and beyond that level, the NO₃-N leaching increased exponentially. In fact, the pattern of higher NO₃-N leaching from the Excess-N and no differences of NO₃-N leaching around or below EONR was consistent with the higher NO₃-N leaching above EONR than below EONR in 2022 NO₃-N leaching response curve in this study (Figure 2.7). Moreover, the results were aligned with Hong et al. (2007), who reported no differences in potential N loss (i.e. residual NO₃-N) until the N rate exceeded 30 kg N ha⁻¹. Interestingly, this was similar to insignificant differences in residual NO₃-N among all N tools except Excess-N, with significantly higher residual NO₃-N in this study (Table 2.4). Despite insignificant differences, three dynamic N tools decreased NO₃-N leaching by 18% (5 out of 6 times) in both years, indicating a trend of decreased NO₃-N leaching with the dynamic N tools. ANOVA resulted in no statistical differences in RTN among all tools except the Canopy reflectance sensing with lower RTN, which could be explained by the lower grain yield. However, the significantly lower RTN from the canopy reflectance turned into insignificant lower RTN_{Env} effects due to NO₃-N leaching reduction with lower N rate from the Canopy reflectance sensing (Figure 2.9). Conversely, despite the wide range of RTN (-\$758 to -\$8 ha⁻¹), there were no significant effects among tools on RTN in 2022. However, higher NO₃-N leaching in the Excess N model resulted in significantly lower RTN_{Env} from Excess N than all other tools, indicating negative implications of higher N application on groundwater and profitability.

Overall, all N tools (excluding Excess-N) were equally effective in determining economic returns when environmental costs of NO₃-N leaching (RTN_{Env}) were included. Despite having multiple in-season inputs from the dynamic N tools with added costs of implementation, no significant improvement in agronomic, environmental, and economic performance questions the adaptability of these tools in improving RTN_{Env} in high NO₃-N contaminated areas. In fact, dynamics N tools are expected to perform better as they require more soil and crop information and implementation costs than the dynamic N tools (Ransom et al., 2020; Mandirini et al., 2021). Nevertheless, three dynamic N tools (Canopy Reflectance Sensing, Granular, and Adapt-N) reduced NO₃-N leaching by 18% more than half of the time, suggesting the potential for environmental benefits using these tools. On the other hand, static NE YG performed better in predicting EONR and yield but did not provide environmental benefits. State stakeholders need to priorities their agronomic and environmental goals using these N recommendation tools. Furthermore, future research can focus on refining and integrating positive aspects of multiple N tools to provide better N recommendations.

Conclusion

Higher groundwater NO₃-N contamination in the sandy soils of the BGMA poses a high risk to the environment and human health. Identifying and evaluating the best N recommendation tools are critical to sustaining crop production with minimal impact on water quality in this area. This study assessed the agronomic, environmental, and economic performance of static NE YG vs. multiple dynamic N tools. The results showed that the static NE YG tool was more effective in predicting EONR and grain yield than the dynamic N tools. Furthermore, dynamic N tools predicted nitrogen rates below EONR, resulting in yield penalties more than half of the time. However, three dynamic N tools (Canopy Reflectance Sensing, Granular, and Adapt-N) reduced nitrate leaching by 18% more than half of the time, suggesting the potential for environmental benefits using these tools. Economically, all N tools were equally effective in determining economic returns when environmental costs of NO₃-N leaching (RTN_{Env}) were included. These results highlight challenges in adopting dynamic N tools as these provide some environmental benefits but with yield penalties and no economic benefits. On the other hand, the static NE YG can provide agronomic and economic benefits but no environmental benefits. Policymakers and farmers need to prioritize environmental or economic benefits while preferring any of these N recommendation tools.

References

- Allen, R. G., Pereira, L. S., Raes, D., & Smith, M. (1998). Crop evapotranspiration-Guidelines for computing crop water requirements-FAO Irrigation and drainage paper 56. *Fao, Rome*, 300(9), D05109.
- Archontoulis, S. V, Castellano, M. J., Licht, M. A., Nichols, V., Baum, M., Huber, I., Martinez-Feria, R., Puntel, L., Ordóñez, R. A., & Iqbal, J. (2020). Predicting crop yields and soil-plant nitrogen dynamics in the US Corn Belt. *Crop Science*, 60(2), 721–738.
- Asseng, S., Ewert, F., Rosenzweig, C., Jones, J. W., Hatfield, J. L., Ruane, A. C., Boote, K. J., Thorburn, P. J., Rötter, R. P., & Cammarano, D. (2013). Uncertainty in simulating wheat yields under climate change. *Nature Climate Change*, *3*(9), 827–832.
- Banger, K., Nafziger, E. D., Wang, J., Muhammad, U., & Pittelkow, C. M. (2018).
 Simulating nitrogen management impacts on maize production in the US Midwest. *PLoS One*, *13*(10), e0201825.
- Barker, D. W., & Sawyer, J. E. (2012). Using active canopy sensing to adjust nitrogen application rate in corn. *Agronomy Journal*, *104*(4), 926–933.
- Bartels, A. J. (2022). To protect and conserve: Fifty years of Nebraska's Natural Resources Districts. *Journal of Soil and Water Conservation*, 77(3), 37A-42A.
- Brilli, L., Bechini, L., Bindi, M., Carozzi, M., Cavalli, D., Conant, R., Dorich, C. D.,Doro, L., Ehrhardt, F., & Farina, R. (2017). Review and analysis of strengths andweaknesses of agro-ecosystem models for simulating C and N fluxes. *Science of the*

Total Environment, 598, 445–470.

- Delin, S., & Stenberg, M. (2014). Effect of nitrogen fertilization on nitrate leaching in relation to grain yield response on loamy sand in Sweden. *European Journal of Agronomy*, 52, 291–296.
- Dobermann, A., & Cassman, K. G. (2002). Plant nutrient management for enhanced productivity in intensive grain production systems of the United States and Asia. *Plant and Soil*, 247, 153–175.
- Eagle, A. J., Olander, L. P., Locklier, K. L., Heffernan, J. B., & Bernhardt, E. S. (2017).
 Fertilizer management and environmental factors drive N2O and NO₃ losses in corn: A meta-analysis. *Soil Science Society of America Journal*, *81*(5), 1191–1202.
- Exner, M. E., Hirsh, A. J., & Spalding, R. F. (2014). Nebraska's groundwater legacy:
 Nitrate contamination beneath irrigated cropland. *Water Resources Research*, 50(5), 4474–4489.
- Ferguson, R. B. (2015). Groundwater quality and nitrogen use efficiency in Nebraska's Central Platte River Valley. *Journal of Environmental Quality*, 44(2), 449–459.
- Franzen, D., Kitchen, N., Holland, K., Schepers, J., & Raun, W. (2016). Algorithms for in-season nutrient management in cereals. *Agronomy Journal*, 108(5), 1775–1781.
- Gehl, R. J., Schmidt, J. P., Stone, L. R., Schlegel, A. J., & Clark, G. A. (2005). In Situ Measurements of Nitrate Leaching Implicate Poor Nitrogen and Irrigation Management on Sandy Soils. *Journal of Environmental Quality*, *34*(6), 2243–2254. https://doi.org/10.2134/jeq2005.0047

- Gehl, Ronald J, Schmidt, J. P., Maddux, L. D., & Gordon, W. B. (2005). Corn yield response to nitrogen rate and timing in sandy irrigated soils. *Agronomy Journal*, 97(4), 1230–1238.
- Gosselin, D. C. (1991). Bazile triangle groundwater quality study. *Conservation and Survey Division*. 146. http://digitalcommons.unl.edu/conservationsurvey/146
- Grassini, P., Yang, H., & Cassman, K. G. (2009). Limits to maize productivity in
 Western Corn-Belt: A simulation analysis for fully irrigated and rainfed conditions. *Agricultural and Forest Meteorology*, 149(8), 1254–1265.
- Greer, K. D., & Pittelkow, C. M. (2018). Linking nitrogen losses with crop productivity in maize agroecosystems. *Frontiers in Sustainable Food Systems*, *2*, 29.
- Gunzenhauser, R. (2023). Granular Agronomy Nitrogen Management. In *Precision Agriculture: Modelling* (pp. 209–222). Springer.
- Hess, L. J. T., Hinckley, E.-L. S., Robertson, G. P., & Matson, P. A. (2020). Rainfall intensification increases nitrate leaching from tilled but not no-till cropping systems in the US Midwest. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment, 290*, 106747.
- Hobza, C. M., & Steele, G. V. (2020). Interpretation of Hydrogeologic Data to Support Groundwater Management, Bazile Groundwater Management Area, Northeast Nebraska, 2019—A Case Demonstration of the Nebraska Geocloud. (ver. 1.1, December 15, 2020): U.S. Geological Survey Scientific Investigations Report 2020– 5113, 46 p., https://doi.org/10.3133/sir20205113.

Holland, K. H., & Schepers, J. S. (2010). Derivation of a variable rate nitrogen

application model for in-season fertilization of corn. *Agronomy Journal*, *102*(5), 1415–1424.

- Hong, N., Scharf, P. C., Davis, J. G., Kitchen, N. R., & Sudduth, K. A. (2007). Economically optimal nitrogen rate reduces soil residual nitrate. *Journal of environmental quality*, 36(2), 354-362.
- Hou, L., Fan, X., Qi, Z., Wan, L., & Hu, K. (2023). Simulation of water drainage and nitrate leaching at an irrigated maize (*Zea mays* L.) oasis cropland with a shallow groundwater table. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment, 355*, 108573.
- Iqbal, J., Necpalova, M., Archontoulis, S. V, Anex, R. P., Bourguignon, M., Herzmann, D., Mitchell, D. C., Sawyer, J. E., Zhu, Q., & Castellano, M. J. (2018). Extreme weather-year sequences have nonadditive effects on environmental nitrogen losses. *Global Change Biology*, 24(1), e303–e317.
- Iqbal, J., Ferguson, R. B., Maharjan, B., & Thompson, L. (2023) Nutrient Management Suggestions for Corn. *Nebraska Extension*, EC 117.
- Jin, C., & Sands, G. R. (2003). The long–term field–scale hydrology of subsurface drainage systems in a cold climate. *Transactions of the ASAE*, *46*(4), 1011.
- Jung Jr, P. E., Peterson, L. A., & Schrader, L. E. (1972). Response of Irrigated Corn to Time, Rate, and Source of Applied N on Sandy Soils. *Agronomy Journal*, 64(5), 668–670.
- Juntakut, P., Snow, D. D., Haacker, E. M. K., & Ray, C. (2019). The long term effect of agricultural, vadose zone and climatic factors on nitrate contamination in Nebraska's

groundwater system. Journal of Contaminant Hydrology, 220, 33–48.

- Kaur, H., Nelson, K. A., Wikle, C. K., Ferguson, R., & Singh, G. (2024). Nitrogen fertilizer and pronitridine rates for corn production in the Midwest US. *Field Crops Research*, 306, 109200.
- Laboski, C. A. M., Camberato, J. J., & Sawyer, J. E. (2014). Evaluation of Adapt-N in the corn belt. Wisconsin Agri-Business Association Distinguished Service Awards, 91.
- Lo, T. H., Rudnick, D. R., Burr, C. A., Stockton, M. C., & Werle, R. (2019). Approaches to evaluating grower irrigation and fertilizer nitrogen amount and timing. *Agricultural Water Management*, 213, 693–706.
- Maharjan, B., Venterea, R. T., & Rosen, C. (2014). Fertilizer and irrigation management effects on nitrous oxide emissions and nitrate leaching. *Agronomy Journal*, 106(2), 703–714.
- Mamo, M., Malzer, G. L., Mulla, D. J., Huggins, D. R., & Strock, J. (2003). Spatial and temporal variation in economically optimum nitrogen rate for corn. *Agronomy Journal*, 95(4), 958–964.
- Mandrini, G., Pittelkow, C. M., Archontoulis, S., Kanter, D., & Martin, N. F. (2022). Exploring trade-offs between profit, yield, and the environmental footprint of potential nitrogen fertilizer regulations in the US Midwest. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, 13, 852116.

Mandrini, G., Pittelkow, C. M., Archontoulis, S. V, Mieno, T., & Martin, N. F. (2021).

Understanding differences between static and dynamic nitrogen fertilizer tools using simulation modeling. *Agricultural Systems*, *194*, 103275.

- Manevski, K., Børgesen, C. D., Li, X., Andersen, M. N., Zhang, X., Abrahamsen, P., Hu, C., & Hansen, S. (2016). Optimising crop production and nitrate leaching in China: Measured and simulated effects of straw incorporation and nitrogen fertilisation. *European Journal of Agronomy*, 80, 32–44.
- Melkonian, J., van Es, H. M., & Joseph, L. (2005). Precision Nitrogen Management model: Simulation of nitrogen and water fluxes in the soil-crop-atmosphere continuum in maize (Zea mays L.) production systems. *Research Series*, *R05-2*.
 Dep. of Crop and Soil Sci., Maizeell Univ., Ithaca, NY.
- Melkonian, J., van Es, H.M., DeGaetano, A.T., Sogbedji, J.M., Joseph, L. (2007).
 Application of dynamic simulation modeling for nitrogen management in maize. In:
 T. Bruulsema, Editor, Managing crop nutrition for weather. *Int. Plant Nutrition Inst.*Publ., Peachtree Maizeers, GA. p. 14–22.
- Melkonian, J., van Es, H.M., DeGaetano, A.T., Sogbedji, J.M., Joseph, L. (2008).
 ADAPT-N: Adaptive nitrogen management for maize using high resolution climate data and model simulations. In: R. Khosla, Editor, *Proceedings 9th International Conference on Precision Agriculture, Denver, CO.* 18–21 July 2010. *International Soc. Precision Agric.*, Monticello, IL.
- Moebius-Clune, B., Es, H. van, & Melkonian, J. (2013). Adapt-N uses models and weather data to improve nitrogen management for corn. *Better Crops*, 97(4), 7-9.

Morris, T. F., Murrell, T. S., Beegle, D. B., Camberato, J. J., Ferguson, R. B., Grove, J.,

Ketterings, Q., Kyveryga, P. M., Laboski, C. A. M., McGrath, J. M., Meisinger, J.J., Melkonian, J., Moebius-Clune, B. N., Nafziger, E. D., Osmond, D., Sawyer, J. E., Scharf, P.C., Smith, W., Spargo, J. T., van Es, H. M., & Yang H. (2018). Strengths and limitations of nitrogen rate recommendations for corn and opportunities for improvement. *Agronomy Journal*, *110*(1), 1–37.

- Myrold, D. D., & Bottomley, P. J. (2008). Nitrogen mineralization and immobilization. *Nitrogen in agricultural systems*, 49, 157-172.
- Oglesby, C., Dhillon, J., Fox, A., Singh, G., Ferguson, C., Li, X., Kumar, R., Dew, J., & Varco, J. (2023). Discrepancy between the crop yield goal rate and the optimum nitrogen rates for maize production in Mississippi. *Agronomy Journal*, *115*(1), 340–350.
- Ouattara, B. S. (2022). "Agrichemicals (Nitrate and Atrazine) In Drinking Water and Adverse Health Outcomes in Children in Nebraska." *Theses & Dissertations*. 668. https://digitalcommons.unmc.edu/etd/668
- Pennino, M. J., Leibowitz, S. G., Compton, J. E., Hill, R. A., & Sabo, R. D. (2020).
 Patterns and predictions of drinking water nitrate violations across the conterminous United States. *Science of the Total Environment*, 722, 137661.
- Preza-Fontes, G., Christianson, L. E., Greer, K., Bhattarai, R., & Pittelkow, C. M. (2022). In-season split nitrogen application and cover cropping effects on nitrous oxide emissions in rainfed maize. *Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment, 326*, 107813.
- Puntel, L. A., Sawyer, J. E., Barker, D. W., Dietzel, R., Poffenbarger, H., Castellano, M. J., Moore, K. J., Thorburn, P., & Archontoulis, S. V. (2016). Modeling long-term

corn yield response to nitrogen rate and crop rotation. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, 7, 1630.

- Puntel, L. A., Sawyer, J. E., Barker, D. W., Thorburn, P. J., Castellano, M. J., Moore, K. J., VanLoocke, A., Heaton, E. A., & Archontoulis, S. V. (2018). A systems modeling approach to forecast corn economic optimum nitrogen rate. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, *9*, 436.
- Puntel, L. A., Thompson, L. J., & Mieno, T. (2024). Leveraging digital agriculture for on-farm testing of technologies. *Frontiers in Agronomy*, 6, 1234232.
- Qin, Z., Myers, D. B., Ransom, C. J., Kitchen, N. R., Liang, S., Camberato, J. J., Carter,
 P. R., Ferguson, R. B., Fernandez, F. G., & Franzen, D. W. (2018). Application of
 machine learning methodologies for predicting corn economic optimal nitrogen rate. *Agronomy Journal*, *110*(6), 2596–2607.
- Ransom, Curtis J, Kitchen, N. R., Camberato, J. J., Carter, P. R., Ferguson, R. B.,
 Fernández, F. G., Franzen, D. W., Laboski, C. A. M., Nafziger, E. D., & Sawyer, J.
 E. (2020). Corn nitrogen rate recommendation tools' performance across eight US midwest corn belt states. *Agronomy Journal*, *112*(1), 470–492.
- Ransom, Curtis J, Kitchen, N. R., Sawyer, J. E., Camberato, J. J., Carter, P. R., Ferguson,
 R. B., Fernández, F. G., Franzen, D. W., Laboski, C. A. M., & Myers, D. B. (2021).
 Improving publicly available corn nitrogen rate recommendation tools with soil and weather measurements. *Agronomy Journal*, *113*(2), 2068–2090.
- Ransom, C. J. (2018). Evaluating and improving corn nitrogen fertilizer recommendation tools across the US Midwest. [University of Missouri-Columbia, Doctoral

Dissertation].

- Ray, C., Malakar, A., & Snow, D. D. (2022). Letter to editor: response to "groundwater storage recovery raises the risk of nitrate pollution." *Environmental Science & Technology*, 56(5), 2841–2842.
- Ritter, W. F., Scarborough, R. W., & Chirnside, A. E. M. (1993). Nitrate leaching under irrigated corn. *Journal of Irrigation and Drainage Engineering*, *119*(3), 544-553.
- Rudnick, D. R., Irmak, S., Djaman, K., & Sharma, V. (2017). Impact of irrigation and nitrogen fertilizer rate on soil water trends and maize evapotranspiration during the vegetative and reproductive periods. *Agricultural Water Management*, 191, 77–84.
- Saint-Fort, R., Schepers, J. S., & Spalding, R. F. (1991). Potentially Mineralizable
 Nitrogen And Nitrate Leaching Under Different Land-Use Conditions In Western
 Nebraska. *Journal of Environmental Science and Health. Part A: Environmental Science and Engineering and Toxicology*, 26(3), 335–345.
- Sangwan, N., & Merwade, V. (2015). A faster and economical approach to floodplain mapping using soil information. JAWRA Journal of the American Water Resources Association, 51(5), 1286–1304.
- Sawyer, J., Nafziger, E., Randall, G., Bundy, L., Rehm, G., Joern, B., et al. (2006).Concepts and Rationale for Regional Nitrogen Rate Guidelines for Maize. IowaState University-University Extension, Ames, IA.
- Sawyer, J. (2013). Comparison of the MRTN and Adapt-N derived N rates for corn. 43rd North Central Extension-Industry Soil Fertility Conference, Des Moines, IA. 29, 60-

- 67.
- Schepers, J. S., Varvel, G. E., & Watts, D. G. (1995). Nitrogen and water management strategies to reduce nitrate leaching under irrigated maize. *Journal of Contaminant Hydrology*, 20(3–4), 227–239.
- United States Department of Agrciulture Natural Resources Conservation Service (USDA NRCS) (1985). National engineering handbook, section 4: hydrology. US Soil Conservation Service, USDA, Washington, DC.
- Sela, S., McLellan, E., Es, H. van, & Marjerison, R. (2016). *Improving nutrient use* efficiency and reducing environmental losses of nitrogen: insights from a processbased model and on-farm trials [Conference poster].
- Sela, S., & van Es, H. M. (2018). Dynamic tools unify fragmented 4Rs into an integrative nitrogen management approach. *Journal of Soil and Water Conservation*, 73(4), 107A-112A.
- Sela, S., van Es, H. M., Moebius-Clune, B. N., Marjerison, R., Moebius-Clune, D., Schindelbeck, R., Severson, K., & Young, E. (2017). Dynamic model improves agronomic and environmental outcomes for maize nitrogen management over static approach. *Journal of Environmental Quality*, 46(2), 311–319.
- Setiyono, T. D., Yang, H., Walters, D. T., Dobermann, A., Ferguson, R. B., Roberts, D.
 F., Lyon, D. J., Clay, D. E., & Cassman, K. G. (2011). Maize-N: A decision tool for nitrogen management in maize. *Agronomy Journal*, *103*(4), 1276–1283.
- Shapiro, C. A., Ferguson, R., Wortmann, C. S., Maharjan, B., & Krienke, B. T. (2019).

Nutrient management suggestions for corn. *University of Nebraska Extension*. EC-117.

- Sinclair, T. R., & Muchow, R. C. (1995). Effect of nitrogen supply on maize yield: I. Modeling physiological responses. *Agronomy Journal*, 87(4), 632–641.
- Singh, A., Kukal, M. S., Shapiro, C. A., Snow, D. D., Irmak, S., & Iqbal, J. (2021).
 Growth phase-specific evaporative demand and nighttime temperatures determine
 Maize (Zea Mays L.) yield deviations as revealed from a long-term field experiment. *Agricultural and Forest Meteorology*, 308, 108543.
- Singh, R. K., & Irmak, A. (2009). Estimation of crop coefficients using satellite remote sensing. *Journal of Irrigation and Drainage Engineering*, 135(5), 597–608.
- Sitthaphanit, S., Limpinuntana, V., Toomsan, B., Panchaban, S., & Bell, R. W. (2009). Fertiliser strategies for improved nutrient use efficiency on sandy soils in high rainfall regimes. *Nutrient Cycling in Agroecosystems*, 85, 123–139.
- Sobota, D. J., Compton, J. E., McCrackin, M. L., & Singh, S. (2015). Cost of reactive nitrogen release from human activities to the environment in the United States. *Environmental Research Letters*, 10(2), 25006.
- Solari, F., Shanahan, J., Ferguson, R., Schepers, J., & Gitelson, A. (2008). Active sensor reflectance measurements of corn nitrogen status and yield potential. *Agronomy Journal*, 100(3), 571–579.
- Spalding, R. F., Watts, D. G., Schepers, J. S., Burbach, M. E., Exner, M. E., Poreda, R. J.,& Martin, G. E. (2001). Controlling nitrate leaching in irrigated agriculture. *Journal*

of Environmental Quality, 30(4), 1184–1194.

- Stanford, G. (1973). Rationale for optimum nitrogen fertilization in corn production. *Journal of Environmental Quality*, 2(2), 159–166.
- Swanson, E. R. (1963). The static theory of the firm and three laws of plant growth. *Soil Science*, *95*(5), 338–343.
- Thompson, L. J., Archontoulis, S., & Puntel, L. A. (2023). Determining site-specific corn nitrogen rate over time with APSIM model. In *Precision agriculture* '23 (pp. 1099– 1105). Wageningen Academic.
- Thompson, L. J., Ferguson, R. B., Kitchen, N., Frazen, D. W., Mamo, M., Yang, H., & Schepers, J. S. (2015). Model and sensor-based recommendation approaches for inseason nitrogen management in corn. *Agronomy Journal*, 107(6), 2020–2030.
- Thorburn, P. J., Biggs, J. S., Puntel, L. A., Sawyer, J. E., Everingham, Y. L., & Archontoulis, S. V. (2024). The nitrogen fertilizer conundrum: why is yield a poor determinant of crops' nitrogen fertilizer requirements? *Agronomy for Sustainable Development*, 44(2), 18.
- van Es, H. M., Kay, B. D., Melkonian, J. J., & Sogbedji, J. M. (2007). Nitrogen Management for Maize in Humid Regions: Case for a Dynamic Modeling Approach.
 Proceedings of the Symposium "Integrating Weather Variability into Nitrogen Recommendations". International Plant Nutrition Institute. 2, 1-9.
- Vanotti, M. B., & Bundy, L. G. (1994a). An alternative rationale for corn nitrogen fertilizer recommendations. *Journal of Production Agriculture*, 7(2), 243–249.

- Vanotti, M. B., & Bundy, L. G. (1994b). Corn nitrogen recommendations based on yield response data. *Journal of Production Agriculture*, 7(2), 249–256.
- Venterea, R. T., Hyatt, C. R., & Rosen, C. J. (2011). Fertilizer management effects on nitrate leaching and indirect nitrous oxide emissions in irrigated potato production. *Journal of Environmental Quality*, 40(4), 1103–1112.
- Vogeler, I., Hansen, E. M., Nielsen, S., Labouriau, R., Cichota, R., Olesen, J. E., & Thomsen, I. K. (2020). Nitrate leaching from suction cup data: Influence of method of drainage calculation and concentration interpolation. *Journal of Environmental Quality*, 49, 440–449.
- Walsh, O., Raun, W., Klatt, A., & Solie, J. (2012). Effect of delayed nitrogen fertilization on maize (*Zea mays* L.) grain yields and nitrogen use efficiency. *Journal of Plant Nutrition*, 35(4), 538–555.
- Yang, H. S., Dobermann, A., Lindquist, J. L., Walters, D. T., Arkebauer, T. J., & Cassman, K. G. (2004). Hybrid-maize - a maize simulation model that combines two crop modeling approaches. *Field Crops Research*, 87(2–3), 131–154.
- Yang, X., Lu, Y., Ding, Y., Yin, X., Raza, S., & Tong, Y. (2017). Optimising nitrogen fertilisation: A key to improving nitrogen-use efficiency and minimising nitrate leaching losses in an intensive wheat/maize rotation (2008–2014). *Field Crops Research*, 206, 1–10.

CHAPTER 3

TRADEOFFS OF NITROGEN AND IRRIGATION MANAGEMENT FOR MAIZE YIELD, ECONOMICS, AND GROUNDWATER QUALITY Abstract

Increasing groundwater nitrate (NO₃-N) contamination has raised significant environmental and health concerns in the irrigated sandy soils of Nebraska. The objectives of this study were to evaluate the impact of nitrogen (N) and irrigation rates on NO₃-N leaching (measured via suction cup lysimeters), crop yield, agronomic indicators, and return to nitrogen with (RTN_{Env}) and without environmental cost (RTN). The twoyear on-farm study included a factorial combination of three N rates (optimum, suboptimum, and low) and three irrigation rates (farmer's full irrigation (FIT), 80% of FIT, and 60% of FIT,) in continuous maize and irrigated sandy soils of Bazile Groundwater Management Area of Nebraska. The results showed that a reduction in N rate by 25% in the suboptimum (202 kg ha⁻¹) and 50% in low N rate (135 kg ha⁻¹) reduced NO₃-N leaching by 24% (7 kg NO₃-N ha⁻¹) and 51% (15 kg NO₃-N ha⁻¹), maize grain yield by 8% (14.5 Mg ha⁻¹) and 11% (14.0 Mg ha⁻¹), and RTN by \$215 ha⁻¹ and \$298 ha⁻¹, respectively. However, reduced N rates did not affect RTN_{Env}. The 80% FIT had significantly higher grain yield and RTN, and lower NO₃-N leaching by 13-21% than 60% FIT and FIT. Furthermore, the year had a significant effect on most measured parameters. The year 2021 with an 8% higher grain yield, and 64% lower NO₃-N leaching (explained by 38% lower irrigation, 37% higher grain N uptake and 74% lower residual N), resulted in \$214 more RTN and \$587 more RTN_{Env} than in 2022. These findings highlight a tradeoff of adjusting N below the optimum N rate and decreasing

irrigation rates. While this approach substantially reduced NO₃-N leaching, it also reduced yield and had a higher RTN_{Env} in the groundwater contaminated area.

Introduction

Groundwater NO₃-N contamination has raised significant environmental and health concerns in the Midwestern United States (Exner et al., 2014; Ferguson et al., 1991; Juntakut et al., 2019, 2020; Mittelstet et al., 2019; Ouattara, 2022; Pennino et al., 2020; Ransom et al., 2022). In Nebraska, more than 80% of the population relies on groundwater for drinking (Skipton et al., 2011; NDEE, 2024). At the same time, increasing NO₃-N levels as observed in the Nebraska groundwater has caused adverse health effects such as birth defects, cancer, and methemoglobinemia (Ziebarth, 1991; Ouattara, 2022). These higher NO₃-N levels in groundwater are closely associated with excessive nitrogen (N) fertilizer use, especially in coarse-textured soils, as these soils possess greater NO₃-N leaching risk to groundwater due to high soil porosity, hydraulic conductivity, and lower water holding capacity (Ferguson et al., 2015; Owens et al., 1995; Silva et al., 2005). A recent report from the Nebraska Department of Environment and Energy showed that groundwater NO₃-N concentration frequently exceeded drinking water quality limits of 10 mg L⁻¹ in several wellhead protection areas of Nebraska (NDEE 2023; See Figure 2.1). To address the increasing groundwater NO₃-N contamination, Natural Resource Districts (NRDs) of Nebraska, serving as watershed-based government entities, passed legislation in 1987 to establish groundwater management areas and set some regulatory strategies to protect groundwater quality (Ferguson et al., 2015).

One of the major NO₃-N contaminated areas in the state (Juntakut et al., 2019) is the Bazile Groundwater Management Area (BGMA), which was developed by Nebraska in 1986 and accepted by the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) in 2016 (Figure 2.1). BGMA comprises 1958 sq. km. area under sandy soil and lies within three Nebraska counties (Antelope, Knox, Pierce). These sandy areas in BGMA are well above the EPA maximum contaminant level (MCL) of 10 mg NO₃-N L⁻¹ and provide drinking water to more than 7,000 Nebraskans (Bartels, 2022; Figure 2.1). Though the shallow groundwater table depth in this area offers an inexpensive water supply to irrigate crops, it also results in a substantial NO_3 -N leaching risk to the groundwater in the area (Gosselin, 1991; Hobza & Steele, 2020; Hou et al., 2023). Consequently, NRDs set phase areas with increasing NO₃-N concentrations in the BGMA and other groundwater management areas of Nebraska, i.e. Phase I: 0-5 mg NO₃-N L⁻¹, Phase II: 5.1-9.0 mg L⁻¹, Phase III: >9 mg NO₃-N L^{-1} , and Phase IV – areas in Phase III for five years. In each phase management area, there are different N and irrigation regulations set to improve NUE and decrease NO_3 -N leaching (Bartels, 2022; Exner et al., 2014). For example, producers in all phases cannot apply N fertilizer during fall and before March 1st on sandy soils. In addition, producers in Phases II, III, and IV must report planted crops, expected yields, water and soil tests, and N credits, and conduct annual deep soil NO₃-N and groundwater NO₃-N analysis. Despite all these conservative efforts, NO₃-N levels in the groundwater are not showing a decreasing trend (Cannia et al., 2017; Hobza & Steele, 2020). Thus, the NRDs are looking for alternative N and water management efforts to protect groundwater quality without an economic impact.

Previous studies on N management in maize within Nebraska and neighboring states have mostly focused on N rate trials targeting optimizing N rate based on crop yield response, crop rotations, and soil textures (Banger et al., 2018; Cassman et al.,

2003; Dinnes et al., 2002; Dobermann et al., 2011; Maharjan et al., 2016; Martin et al., 1994; Ransom et al., 2020; Rubin et al., 2016; Stanford, 1973; Struffert et al., 2016; Tubaña et al., 2008). However, very few studies have focused on N recommendations based on NO₃-N leaching in environmentally sensitive sites where groundwater NO₃-N contamination is a major concern (Sexton et al., 1998) This is in part because this type of research is often costly and requires intensive sampling for NO₃-N leaching measurements. Meanwhile, in other regions, researchers have suggested to use suboptimal N rates to decrease NO₃-N leaching because maximizing the maize production with an economical optimum nitrogen rate comes with higher risks of N losses (Rose et al., 2018; Schröder et al., 1998). Moreover, the reduction of N input by half reduces the N losses by >50% (Ju et al., 2009; Vitousek et al., 2009; Quemada et al., 2013). For example, Schroder et al. (1998) in the Netherland reported that applying nitrogen at a suboptimum N rate can reduce NO₃-N leaching risk with limited effect on maize yield. Similarly, Banger et al. (2020) in 270 distinct soil-climate regions in Canada, found that adjusting the nitrogen rate by 23-32% below the optimum N rate can significantly reduce NO₃-N leaching without impacting maize yield. However, Struffert et al. (2016) in Minnesota and Beaudoin et al. (2005) in Northern France reported that reducing N below the optimum level did not decrease NO₃-N leaching. These inconsistent effects of reduced N rates on NO₃-N leaching could be due to site-specific soil and climatic conditions (Li et al., 2023; Mzuku et al., 2005; Simmelsgaard & Djurhuus, 1998; Sogbedji et al., 2000; Zheng et al., 2020).

Similar to N, adjusting the amount of irrigation is another potential strategy to minimize NO₃-N leaching, as excessive irrigation leads to deep percolation below the

root zone and results in higher NO₃-N leaching losses (Ferguson et al., 2013; Hergert, 1986; Quemada et al., 2013; Rudnick, 2013; Rudnick & Irmak, 2013, 2014). Sexton et al. (1998) found that even with optimum irrigation, significant NO₃-N leaching can occur when intensive summer thunderstorms happen soon after irrigation or fertilization. Similarly, Waddell et al. (2000) and Sexton et al. (1998) concluded that keeping deficit soil water levels between the irrigation events while maintaining soil water above the allowable depletion limit, can significantly reduce NO₃-N leaching. In concurrence, increasing droughts, depleting groundwater levels in the high plain aquifer, and increasing water demands are creating deficit irrigation situations in the central great plains (Mieno et al., 2024; Rudnick et al., 2019; Tarkalson et al., 2006). These deficit irrigations could affect crop production and will need N fertilizer adjustments to meet crop N demand (Quemada et al., 2013). As such, farmers and policymakers are increasingly looking for alternative N and irrigation management strategies to efficiently use existing water resources to protect groundwater quality.

Given the need to find alternative N and irrigation management strategies, there is an immediate need to assess the impact of reduced N and water inputs on crop production while minimizing NO₃-N leaching in the groundwater management areas. However, there is limited real-time data on the interactive effects of N and water inputs on both maize gain yield and NO₃-N leaching in Midwest sandy soils. This study assessed the impacts of suboptimal nitrogen (optimum. vs. suboptimum vs. low) and deficit irrigation (farmer's full irrigation (FIT), 80% of FIT vs. 60% of FIT) under split-N application on NO₃-N leaching and grain yield in irrigated maize of the BGMA. The specific objectives of this study were to evaluate the impacts of the above-mentioned N and irrigation rates on the maize grain yield, NO₃-N leaching, nitrogen recovery, agronomic indicators, residual soil N, and economic returns.

Materials And Methods

Experimental Conditions

The on-farm research experiment was conducted for two years (2021-2022) near Creighton, Nebraska, USA ($42^{\circ}25'02.3$ "N, $98^{\circ}02'52.3$ "W). This site has an elevation of 568 m and is located in Phase III of the Bazile Groundwater Management Area (BGMA) in the Upper Elkhorn Natural Resource District (NRD). The site has a sub-humid climate (Li et al., 2023; Singh et al., 2021) with long-term annual average precipitation of ~700 mm, and air temperature of 9.6° C (HPRCC, 2023). During the study years, the average annual temperature and precipitation were 10.5° C and 376 mm in 2021 and 9.3° C and 284 mm in 2022, respectively. Prior to the start of the experiment in the fall of 2020, the groundwater table depth at the site was around 12 meters. The predominant soil at the site is Thurman loarny sand (Soil Survey, 2022) with a 0-2% slope, 82.3% sand, 9.67% silt, and 8% clay. Before the treatment establishment, soil samples were collected at 0-20 cm depth and analyzed for soil physical and chemical properties listed in Table 2.1.

Experimental Design And Treatments

The experiment was conducted in a field with a center-pivot overhead sprinkler irrigation system. The outer two spans of the pivot were equipped with a variable rate irrigation (VRI) system (Valmont Industries, Valley, NE) and used to establish the experimental plots. The experimental design was a randomized complete block design with a factorial combination of three nitrogen (low, suboptimum, optimum) and three irrigation rates (Farmer's full irrigation (FIT), 80% of FIT, 60% of FIT) and a zeronitrogen control with three replications. Individual plots were 24 m long and 36 m wide.
The crop rotation was continuous maize. The treatments were applied to the same experimental plots in each study year. During 2021, maize was grown in a no-till field on May 12th. Due to high maize stubbles, the farmer tilled the field on April 14th, 2022, and planted maize on April 26th, 2022. Channel 20906 109 days mature maize variety was used during both years.

The three nitrogen treatments included a low N rate of 134 kg N ha⁻¹, suboptimum rate of 202 kg N ha⁻¹, and an optimum rate of 269 kg N ha⁻¹. The nitrogen at each rate was applied in 5-splits via pre-plant, sidedress at V4, and three fertigations at V8, V12, and VT. To minimize the ammonia volatilization losses at pre-plant, a urease inhibitor (AGROTAIN) from Koch Industries was used to coat urea at the recommended rate of 2.1 L AGROTAIN per ton Urea. The AGROTAIN-coated urea was surface broadcasted at pre-plant with a 3-m wide dry fertilizer drop spreader (Barber Engineering Co.). The side-dress N application with UAN (32%) was performed in furrows, using the 6-m wide liquid applicator at 4-leaf maize growth stage (V4). To minimize NH₃ volatilization losses, 19.05 mm irrigation was applied within 24 hours following side-dressing. The center pivot with variable rate sprinkler irrigation was used for irrigation and fertigation (with UAN 28%) purposes. The GPS-based irrigation and fertigation maps were uploaded before irrigation and/or fertigation events. During 2022, the application timing was adjusted by increasing early season N amounts. We assume the differences in N application timing between the two years would not affect measured parameters, as the companion study showed no significant differences in N application timing on the parameters measured in this study, likely due to below than normal precipitation during

both study years. A detailed description of the N application rate at different maize growth stages is provided in Table 3.1.

		Preplant	Side- dress	Fertigation		
Irrigation	Total Nitrogen		V*4	V8	V12	VT
	(excluding MAP)	Urea- AGROTAIN		UA	Nţ	
			kg N ha⁻¹			
	§134 (134)	45 (45)	11 (22)	11 (22)	34 (22)	34 (22)
60% FIT	202 (202)	67 (67)	34 (67)	34 (22)	34 (22)	34 (22)
	269 (269)	90 (90)	78 (157)	34 (0)	34 (11)	34 (11)
	134 (134)	45 (45)	11 (22)	11 (22)	34 (22)	34 (22)
80% FIT	202 (202)	67 (67)	34 (67)	34 (22)	34 (22)	34 (22)
	269 (269)	90 (90)	78 (157)	34 (0)	34 (11)	34 (11)
	134 (134)	45 (45)	11 (22)	11 (22)	34 (22)	34 (22)
FIT	202 (202)	67 (67)	34 (67)	34 (22)	34 (22)	34 (22)
	269 (269)	90 (90)	78 (157)	34 (0)	34 (11)	34 (11)

 Table 3.1 Nitrogen fertilizer inputs at the study site during 2021 and 2022.

§indicate N input values in 2021 and 2022 (in parenthesis).

† UAN, Urea Ammonium NO₃-N.

*V, maize stage, V4, 4-leaf stage; V8, 8-leaf stage; V12, 12-leaf stage; VT, tasseling.

To meet crop phosphorus requirements, the farmer applied Mono Ammonium Phosphate (MAP) before planting at 140 kg ha⁻¹ (equivalent to 16 kg N ha⁻¹) and 105 kg ha⁻¹ (equivalent to 12 kg N ha⁻¹) to the entire pivot field, including the experimental plots during 2021 and 2022, respectively. To meet potassium, magnesium, and sulfur needs, farmers broadcasted K-Mag from Mosaic at 86 kg K-Mag ha⁻¹ (equivalent to 19 kg K₂O, 10 kg Mg, 19 kg S) to entire pivot field, including the experimental plots before planting maize each year.

The irrigation treatments included a farmer's full irrigation rate (FIT) (close to field capacity as measured by the soil moisture sensors), 80% of farmer's full irrigation (80% FIT), and 60% of farmer's full irrigation (60% FIT). During 2021, the total

irrigation applied during the growing season for 60% FIT, 80% FIT, and FIT with 14 irrigation events was 143, 190, and 237 mm, respectively. While in 2022, the total irrigation applied during the growing season for 60% FIT, 80% FIT, and FIT with 22 irrigation events was 229, 306, and 382 mm, respectively. The management decisions such as crop hybrid selection, herbicide application, and irrigation scheduling were at the discretion of the farmer. The handheld canopy sensors were used to calculate the vegetation indices namely, normalized difference vegetation index (NDVI) and normalized difference red edge index (NDRE) to quantify vegetation greenness and measure the amount of chlorophyll in plants at the R1 maize growth stage, respectively.

Crop Yield, Nitrogen And Water Use Efficiencies, And Economic Return

At the end of the season, the middle two 3-meter rows were hand-harvested and separated into maize grain, and stover (stalk, leaves, cobs). The stover was shredded using a portable woodchipper. Ears and subsamples of chopped maize stover were weighed and dried at 71°C to determine moisture content. Ears were shelled to separate grain and cobs. Grain and stover were milled and analyzed for total nitrogen using the dry combustion method at Ward Laboratories, Inc. (Kearney, NE). Hand harvest grain yield at 15.5% moisture, nitrogen concentration in grain and stover, and plant population were used to calculate total aboveground biomass, harvest index, nitrogen uptake by grain, plant, and nitrogen harvest index. Furthermore, different nitrogen and water use efficiency indicators (Congreves et al., 2021; Rudnick & Irmak, 2013) including partial factor productivity (PFP, Eq. 3.1), maize nitrogen use efficiency (NUE_{maize}; Eq. 3.2), agronomic efficiency (AE; Eq. 3.3), nitrogen recovery efficiency (NRE; Eq. 3.4), nitrogen utilization efficiency (NUE; Eq. 3.5), crop water use efficiency (CWUE; Eq.

3.6), net return to nitrogen (RTN; Eq. 3.7), and net return to nitrogen considering environmental costs (RTN_{Env} ; Eq. 3.8) were calculated as follows:

$$PFP (kg kg^{-1}) = \frac{Grain yield}{Fertilizer N} (Eq. 3.1)$$

$$NUE_{maize} (kg kg^{-1}) = \frac{Grain N uptake}{Fertilizer N} (Eq. 3.2)$$

$$AE (kg kg^{-1}) = \frac{Yield_{trt} - Yield_{control}}{Fertilizer N} (Eq. 3.3)$$

$$NRE (\%) = \frac{Plant N uptake_{trt} - Plant N uptake_{control}}{Fertilizer N} x 100 (Eq. 3.4)$$

$$NUtE (kg kg^{-1}) = \frac{Grain Yield}{Plant N uptake} (Eq. 3.5)$$

$$CWUE (kg m^{-3}) = \frac{Grain Yield}{Crop Evapotranspiration} (Eq. 3.6)$$

$$RTN = (Yield_{Maize} x Price_{Maize}) - (Input_N x Price_N) (Eq. 3.7)$$

$$RTN_{Env} = RTN - (NO3 - N_{leached} x 18.54) (Eq. 3.8)$$

where 18.54 US\$ kg⁻¹ NO₃-N is the environmental cost associated with NO₃-N leached (Preza-Fontes et al., 2022; Sobota et al., 2015).

Lysimeter Installation And Water Sampling

To monitor the pore-water NO₃-N and NH₄-N concentration below the crop rootzone, two suction-cup lysimeters were installed approximately 30 m apart in the middle rows at 1.2 m soil depth in each experimental plot following the method described by Venterea et al. (2011) and Maharjan et al. (2014). The suction cup lysimeters were developed by the Irrometer Company Inc. (Model SSAT - Soil Solution Access Tube) and contained 100-kPa high flow ceramic cup attached to rubber tubing designed to apply the pressure and collect water samples at the soil surface. The suction cup lysimeters were installed using silica powder slurry to cover the ceramic cup at the bottom of the vertical hole bored with a soil probe. The soil from the hole was used to re-fill the hole around the lysimeter tube, followed by the placement of a finely powdered bentonite layer at the soil surface to prevent the preferential flow of water. Pore-water samples from the lysimeters were collected one to three times a week following rain or irrigation events from 20 May to 15 October 2021 and 13 May to 17 September 2022. To pull the pore water from the ceramic cup, a pressure of ~80 kpa was applied to the suction cup through the rubber tubes. After about 4 hours, the rubber tube line was opened to collect the pore-water sample with a 20 ml syringe and acidified with 0.1N HCl before transferring it to the lab in a cooler. There were 23 and 26 water sample collection events during 2021 and 2022, respectively.

Water Balance And NO₃-N Leaching Calculations

A soil water balance equation (Eq. 3.9) was used to estimate the draining water *via* deep percolation below the root zone using the following approach (Djaman & Irmak, 2013) :

$$DP_i = P_i + I_i - R_i - ET_i \pm \Delta S_i$$
 (Eq. 3.9)

where DP is deep percolation, P is precipitation, I is irrigation, ET is evapotranspiration, Δ S is change in soil water storage in the root zone, and i is current day. Units are mm day⁻¹. The value of P was determined using High Plains Regional Climate Center (HPRCC) data collected at a weather station near the site, while I is the amount of irrigation applied. The ET values were calculated as a product of an alfalfa reference mean crop coefficient (K_s and K_{cr}) based on the stage of growing degree days (Lo et al., 2019) and the potential ET estimates incorporated with the daily weather data using the Penman-Monteith equation (Allen, 2000; Allen et al., 1998). The K_{cr} values for the curve were derived from the NDVI data collected during the R₁ maize growth stage using the relationship [K_{cr} = 1.308*(NDVI) + 0.027] given by Singh & Irmak (2009) for irrigated maize in Nebraska. The water in the soil profile at the start of the growing season was assumed to be at field capacity. We estimated runoff for our experiment using the United States Department of Agriculture–Natural Resources Conservation Service (USDA NRCS) curve number method (USDA-NRCS, 1985). Daily leaching mass of NO₃-N and NH₄-N were determined as the product of daily deep percolation and daily NO₃-N and NH₄-N concentration. The daily NO₃-N (Eq. 3.10) and NH₄-N mass from suction-cup lysimeters water sample concentrations were the product of (a) daily estimation(s) of deep percolation, (b) average of previous days pore water NO₃-N and NH₄-N concentrations after the last deep percolation event occurred, and (c) 0.01 (kg ha⁻¹) unit conversion factor (Pawlick et al., 2019).

$$[NO_3 - N]_{leached} = \frac{1}{n} \sum_{i=1}^{n} [NO_3 - N]_{120cm} \ge DP_i \ge 0.01 \text{ (Eq. 10)}(Eq. 3.10)$$

To calculate seasonal average pore water NO₃-N concentrations, the daily pore water NO₃-N concentrations were averaged across days for each maize growth stage. Subseasonal pore water NO₃-N concentrations were calculated based on the maize growth stages and the sampling dates between (i) planting and 8-leaf stage (early vegetative phase), (ii) 8-leaf to tasseling (late vegetative phase), and (iii) tasseling to physiological maturity (reproductive phase), and derived and validated from field observations to compute the effect of treatments over time (Rudnick et al., 2017; Singh et al., 2021). For seasonal pore water concentrations, the average was performed across all dates while the daily NO₃-N mass was summed up for area-scaled based seasonal NO₃-N leaching losses. Our data showed that >70% of ammonium values were below the detection limit, therefore, ammonium data analysis was not performed.

Residual Soil NO₃-N And NH₄-N Analysis

After harvest each year, six undisturbed deep core (0-120 cm) soil samples were collected after maize harvest from each experimental plot within non-trafficked rows. The truck mounted Giddings hydraulic probe (Giddings Machine Co., Fort Collins, CO) was used for sampling soil cores with a diameter of 44 mm. The intact cores were sliced at the following depth increments: 0-30, 30-60, 60-90, and 90-120 cm. The six soil cores per plot were composited by depth before being transported to the lab in a cooler. The soil samples were extracted with 2M KCl solution (5:1 solution to soil ratio) after shaking for 1 hr and filtered through Whatman # 1 filter paper. Soil extracts from deep core soil samples and lysimeter water samples were analyzed for NO₃-N and NH₄-N concentration using VCl₃/Griess method (Miranda et al., 2001) and the Berthelot reaction (Kandeler & Gerber, 1988), respectively.

Statistical Analysis

The data was checked for normality assumptions using the Shapiro-Wilk test with PROC UNIVARIATE function in SAS and verified with "dplyr" package in R software. The rest of the analysis was conducted using SAS statistical analysis version 9.4. In each year, daily and sub-seasonal pore water NO₃-N concentration analysis was performed with three-way repeated measures analysis of variance (ANOVA) using PROC GLIMMIX in SAS with nitrogen, irrigation, day/stage (repeated factor), and their interactions as fixed factors while replication and all interactions with replication as random factor. The treatment effect on response variables (NO₃-N leaching, grain yield, biomass yield, grain N uptake, plant N uptake, harvest index, nitrogen harvest index, partial factor productivity, nitrogen use efficiency of maize, agronomic efficiency N recovery efficiency, nitrogen utilization efficiency, crop water use efficiency, return to N

(RTN), and RTN_{Env}) were evaluated using three-way ANOVA considering nitrogen rate, irrigation rate, and year as fixed effects, and blocks, and all interactions of blocks with other factors as a random effect. The year was considered as a fixed effect to evaluate the effects of irrigation and precipitation between the two growing seasons (Bohman et al., 2020; Maharjan et al., 2016). For residual soil N (both NO₃-N and NH₄-N) analysis, the four-way repeated measures ANOVA was performed with nitrogen, irrigation, year, depth (as repeated factor), and their interactions for residual soil N as fixed factors while the replication and interaction between replication, year, irrigation and nitrogen were considered random factors. We used least square means estimates to analyze the differences among treatments. The significance was calculated at the 0.05 probability level.

Results

Weather Conditions

The growing season precipitation during 2021 (May through October) and 2022 (April through September) was 376 and 283 mm, respectively, which was 11.49% and 24.56% lower than the last ten year's average growing season precipitation (424 mm) at the site. The frequency of precipitation was different between the two years (Figure 3.1 & 3.2). In the year 2021, precipitation accounted for 15%, 49%, and 35% of the total growing season precipitation during the early vegetative, late vegetative, and reproductive phases, respectively. In 2022, precipitation accounted for 45%, 25%, and 28% of total growing season precipitation received during the early vegetative, late vegetative, late vegetative, and reproductive phases, respectively. When total water inputs from precipitation and irrigation were considered, the water input in each growth stage differed from precipitation only. For example, in 2021, the higher total water input occurred in the

reproductive phase (43%) and late vegetative phase (43%), followed by early (14%) vegetative phase, respectively. While, in 2022, the higher total water input occurred in the reproductive phase (46%) followed by the late (28%) and early (25%) vegetative phase, respectively.



Figure 3.1 The upper panels (a-c) show water inputs (mm) for three maize growth phases – early vegetative (planting to V8), late vegetative (V8-VT) and reproductive phases (R1-R6), while daily and subseasonal pore water NO₃-N concentrations (mg L^{-1}) are shown in the middle panels (d-f) and lower panels (g-i), respectively in 2021.



Figure 3.2 The upper panels (a-c) show the water inputs (mm) for three maize growth phases – early vegetative (planting to V8), late vegetative (V8-VT) and reproductive phases (R1-R6), while daily and subseasonal pore water NO₃-N concentrations (mg L^{-1}) are shown in the middle panels (d-f) and lower panels (g-i), respectively in 2022.

NO₃-N Concentration In Lysimeters

Across both years, the NO₃-N concentration in pore-water from the suction cup

lysimeters was generally higher in the early to mid-growing season and decreased till the

end of the growing season (Figures 3.1 and 3.2). For both growing seasons, there were no

interactions among N, irrigation, and crop growth stage on pore-water NO₃-N

concentration except for significant nitrogen and crop growth stage interactions in 2022

(Table 3.2). In 2021, N rates and growth stage significantly affected the pore water NO₃-

N concentrations, but the irrigation rate had no effect (Table 3.2).

Source of	2021	2022	
effects	2021	2022	
Nitrogen (N)			
Low	4.25b§	7.78b	
Suboptimum	5.04b	8.26b	
Optimum	7.43a	15.6a	
Irrigation (I)			
60% FIT	5.47	5.39b	
80% FIT	5.29	7.67b	
FIT	5.96	18.6a	
Stage (S) †			
EV	8.18a	10.6ab	
LV	5.53b	13.3a	
R	3.01c	7.83b	
SE¶	0.3	1.9	
Significance	ANOVA	A (Pr>F)	
Ν	<.0001	<.0001	
Ι	0.134	<.0001	
S	<.0001	0.048	
N x S	0.334	0.052	
N x I	0.307	0.184	
I x S	0.606	0.069	
N x I x S	0.966	0.797	

Table 3.2 Means and probability values for the main effect of nitrogen rate, irrigation rate, crop growth stage, and their interaction on pore-water NO₃-N concentrations during 2021 and 2022.

§ Least significant difference at the 95% confidence level by PROC GLIMMIX-SAS treatment means followed by the same letter are not significantly different. Columns that do not contain letters indicate no significant difference between treatments. The bold numbers are significant at 0.05.

[†] The stages EV, LV, and R stands for early vegetative, late vegetative, and reproductive phases, respectively.

¶ SE, standard error of the mean.

Pore-water NO₃-N concentration in the optimum N rate was 48% and 75% higher

than the sub-optimum and low N rates. Though non-significant, 80% FIT had 3% and

11% lower NO₃-N concentration than 60% FIT, and FIT, respectively. The pore-water

NO₃-N concentration was highest during the early vegetative phase (8.18 mg L⁻¹),

followed by late vegetative (5.53 mg L⁻¹), and reproductive phase (3.01 mg L⁻¹). During

the 2022 growing season, N, irrigation, and growth stage had significant main effects on

pore-water NO₃-N concentration. Optimum N rates had 47% and 50% higher pore-water NO₃-N concentrations than the suboptimum and low N rates. The 60% FIT and 80% FIT had 41% and 29% lower pore-water NO₃-N concentrations than the FIT. Moreover, pore-water NO₃-N concentration was highest during the late vegetative phase (13.3 mg mg L⁻¹), followed by early vegetative (10.6 mg L⁻¹), and reproductive phase (7.8 mg L⁻¹). Among all treatment combinations, high N rates with FIT had the highest pore-water NO₃-N concentration. In contrast, the lowest N rates with 60% FIT had the lowest pore-water NO₃-N concentration.

Seasonal NO₃-N Leaching

Total seasonal NO₃-N leaching was calculated from the pore-water NO₃-N concentration and deep percolation below the maize root zone depth. Across both years, no significant N, irrigation, and year interaction effect on NO₃-N leaching existed. However, year and N rate had a significant main effect on NO₃-N leaching. The NO₃-N leaching in 2022 $(31.6 \text{ kg N ha}^{-1})$ was significantly higher than in 2021 (11.5 N ha⁻¹) (Table 3.3).



Figure 3.3 Relationships of maize yield and NO₃-N leaching across two study years for nitrogen (a) and irrigation rates (b).

	NO ₃ -N									
Source of	leaching	Yield	$(Mg ha^{-1})$	_	N uptake	$e (kg ha^{-1})$	_	R1 ma	aize growth	n stage
										ELNC
effects	$(kg ha^{-1})$	Grain	Biomass	HI	Grain	Plant‡	NHI	NDRE	NDVI	(%)
Nitrogen (N)										
Low	14.0b§	13.9b	21.8	0.66	206b	366b	0.60	0.68b	0.92b	2.60b
Suboptimum	21.8ab	14.4b	23.0	0.65	208b	371b	0.59	0.70a	0.93a	2.88a
Optimum	28.7a	15.6a	23.7	0.68	240a	433a	0.59	0.71a	0.93a	3.04a
Irrigation (I)										
60% FIT	21.7	14.1b	21.4b	0.67	213	369	0.61	0.69	0.93	2.91
80% FIT	19.0	15.1a	23.5a	0.66	217	397	0.60	0.69	0.93	2.70
FIT	23.9	14.8a	23.6a	0.65	216	403	0.58	0.69	0.93	2.92
Year (Y)										
2021	11.5b	15.2a	19.4b	0.78a	249a	309a	0.80a	0.64b	0.91b	2.67b
2022	31.6a	14.1b	26.3a	0.54b	181b	471b	0.39b	0.74a	0.94a	3.01a
SE¶	4.75	0.41	1.18	0.01	5.3	16.8	0.01	0.00	0.001	0.07
					ANOVA	$(\Pr > F)$				
Ν	0.053	0.001	0.138	0.167	<.001	0.003	0.772	<.0001	0.007	0.003
Ι	0.694	0.034	0.043	0.395	0.852	0.214	0.105	0.913	0.805	0.159
Y	0.0001	0.001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	0.002
N x I	0.413	0.257	0.292	0.689	0.106	0.111	0.527	0.764	0.720	0.242
N x Y	0.212	0.608	0.793	0.629	0.070	0.235	0.819	0.278	0.732	0.088
I x Y	0.514	0.229	0.069	0.267	0.094	0.149	0.881	0.139	0.061	0.354
N x I x Y	0.359	0.378	0.872	0.383	0.397	0.634	0.729	0.773	0.701	0.718

Table 3.3 Treatment means and significance of NO₃-N leaching, grain yield, biomass yield, harvest index, grain-N uptake, plant-N uptake, N harvest index, vegetation indices, and ear leaf nitrogen concentration (ELNC) as affected by nitrogen rate, irrigation rate, year and their interactions in 2021 and 2022 at Creighton, NE.

‡ Plant N uptake is the sum of grain and stover N uptake.

§ Least significant difference at the 95% confidence level by PROC GLIMMIX-SAS treatment means followed by the same letter are not significantly different. Columns that do not contain letters indicate no significant difference between treatments. The bold numbers are significant at 0.05.

¶ SE, standard error of the mean.

Averaged across both years, NO₃-N leaching significantly increased with increasing N rate with a quadratic response (Figure 3.3a). The low and suboptimum N rates had 51% (7 kg ha⁻¹) and 24% (15 kg N ha⁻¹) lower NO₃-N leaching than the optimum N rate (29 kg N ha⁻¹; Table 3.3). Though the irrigation rate did not significantly affect NO₃-N leaching, it had a curvilinear response with the lowest NO₃-N leaching at 80% FIT (Figure 3.3b). On the other hand, the 80% FIT had 14% (3 kg ha⁻¹) and 26% (5 kg ha⁻¹) lower NO₃-N leaching than the 60% FIT and FIT, respectively.

Grain Yield And Aboveground Biomass

There were no three-way or two-way interactions of N, irrigation, and year on grain yield and aboveground biomass (Table 3.3). However, year, N, and irrigation rate had significant main effects on grain yield and the aboveground biomass (Table 3.3). The grain yield was significantly higher in 2021 (15.2 Mg ha⁻¹) than in 2022 (14.1 Mg ha⁻¹). Across both years, grain yield responded positively to N rates and increased from 13.9 Mg ha⁻¹ at a low N rate to 15.6 Mg ha⁻¹ at an optimum N rate with a quadratic response (Figure 3.3a). Each additional N input of 1 kg N ha⁻¹ increased grain yield by 0.014 Mg ha⁻¹. On the other hand, low to suboptimum N rates significantly increased grain yield by 3.5%, while suboptimum to optimum N rates increased grain yield by 7.7% (Table 3.3). Although irrigation had a significant main effect on grain yield, increasing irrigation rates (Figure 3.3). There were no differences in grain yield between 80% FIT and FIT. However, decreasing the water input to 60% FIT reduced grain yield by 7% (1.0 Mg ha⁻¹) and 5% (0.7 Mg ha⁻¹) compared to 80% FIT, and FIT, respectively (Table 3.3).

Similar to the grain yield, aboveground maize biomass had an increasing trend with an increase in N rate but it was not significant (Table 3.3). However, irrigation had a significant effect on the aboveground biomass. Corresponding to the irrigation effect on grain yield, 80% FIT and FIT had statistically similar but higher biomass than the 60% FIT. Moreover, 2022 had significantly higher aboveground biomass compared to 2021.

Crop N Uptake And Other Agronomic Traits

There were no three-way or two-way interactions of N, irrigation, and year on crop N uptake and other agronomic traits (Table 3.3). However, year and N rate had a significant main effect on crop N uptake and other agronomic traits. Corresponding to grain yield, grain N uptake and N harvest index were significantly higher in 2021 than in 2022 (Table 3.3). In contrast, plant N uptake was higher in 2022 than in 2021. Similar to grain yield, there were significant responses of grain and plant N uptake to N rate. Adding 1 kg N ha⁻¹ as N input increased grain and plant N uptake by 0.31 and 0.50 kg N ha⁻¹, respectively. No significant differences among irrigation rates for grain and plant N uptake were observed. However, the 80% FIT and FIT had similar grain N uptake (~217 kg N ha⁻¹), which was ~4 kg N ha⁻¹ higher than the 60% FIT. Although not significantly different, the plant N uptake increased from 369 kg N ha⁻¹ at 60% FIT to 403 kg N ha⁻¹ at FIT. The N and irrigation rates did not significantly affect nitrogen harvest index (NHI) and harvest index (HI) (Table 3.3). However, the year 2021 had a significantly higher HI than the year 2022.

Nitrogen, irrigation, and year did not interact to affect NDVI, NDRE, and ear leaf N concentration (ELNC) (Table 3.3). However, N rate and year had a significant main effect on NDRE, NDVI, and ELNC (Table 3.3). The NDRE, NDVI, and ELNC were significantly higher in 2022 than in 2021 (Table 3.3). Moreover, optimum and

suboptimum N rates had significantly higher NDRE, NDVI, and ELNC compared to low nitrogen rate. However, the irrigation rate did not affect NDRE, NDVI, and ELNC (Table 3.3).

Resource (Nitrogen And Water) Use Efficiencies

No significant three- or two-way interactions between N, irrigation, and year were observed for partial factor productivity (PFP), agronomic efficiency (AE), nitrogen recovery efficiency (NRE), and crop water use efficiency (CWUE). However, there were significant N and year interaction effects on NUE_{maize} and NUtE (Table 3.4). In 2021, NUE_{maize} decreased from 1.6 kg grain kg⁻¹ N in low to 1.0 kg grain kg⁻¹ N⁻¹ in both optimum and sub-optimum N rates. However, there was a decreasing trend, from low to optimum N rates, for NUE_{maize} (NUE_{maize} = 0.22^{*} (N rate) + 1.35; R²= 0.95) in 2022. There was a significant increase in NUtE at sub-optimum N rate compared to optimum and low N rates in 2021 whereas no significant differences were observed in 2022. Furthermore, the N rate and year had a significant main effect on PFP, AE, NRE, and CWUE. The year 2021 had significantly higher PFP, AE, and CWUE compared to the year 2022 (Table 3.4). Low N rate had higher PFP, AE, NRE, and lower CWUE compared to suboptimum and optimum N rates (Table 3.4). Irrigation rates did not significantly affect all agronomic parameters except CWUE. The FIT had significantly lower CWUE than 60% FIT and 80% FIT (Table 3.4).

Economics

Considering the economic and environmental importance of N use, we computed the net returns to N (RTN) and economic returns after considering the environmental costs associated with NO₃-N leaching (RTN_{Env}). The N, irrigation, and year had no significant interaction on RTN and RTN_{Env}. However, N, irrigation, and year had

significant main effects on RTN. The year 2021 had \$214 ha⁻¹ higher RTN than 2022.

Table 3.4 Treatment means and significance of partial factor productivity (PFP), maize nitrogen use efficiency (NUE_{maize}), agronomic efficiency (AE), nitrogen utilization efficiency (NUtE), nitrogen recovery efficiency (NRE), crop water use efficiency (CWUE), return to N (RTN), and RTN considering environmental costs (RTN_{Env}) as affected by nitrogen rate, irrigation rate, year and their interactions in 2021 and 2022 at Creighton, NE

Source of	PFP	NUE _{maize}	AE	NUtE	NRE	CWUE	RTN	RTN _{Env}
effects		kg grain k	%	kg m ⁻³	\$ ha ⁻¹			
Nitrogen (N)								
Low	94.1ab [§]	1.39a	32.6a	40.3ab	108a	2.26b	609b	504
Medium	67.1b	0.92b	24.2b	42.7ab	75.0b	2.34b	692b	442
High	55.4c	0.84b	22.6b	38.1b	79.3b	2.53a	907a	529
Irrigation (I)								
60% FIT	69.4	1.05	23.5	40.5	78.2	2.42a	620b	373
80% FIT	74.6	1.07	29.1	41.1	94.6	2.42a	817b	621
100% FIT	72.6	1.04	26.8	39.6	90	2.28b	771a	482
Year (Y)								
2021	74.1a	1.21a	30.0a	50.2a	56.0b	2.72a	843a	785a
2022	70.3b	0.89b	23.0b	30.6b	119a	2.03b	629b	198b
SE¶	2.16	0.03	2.86	1.34	15.2	0.06	95	152
Significance	ANOVA $(Pr > F)$							
Ν	<.0001	<.0001	0.0006	0.046	0.015	0.0004	0.008	0.655
Ι	0.067	0.779	0.093	0.689	0.378	0.054	0.024	0.168
Y	0.038	<.0001	0.001	<.001	<.001	<.0001	<.001	0.001
N x I	0.295	0.188	0.347	0.463	0.185	0.333	0.289	0.228
N x Y	0.925	0.002	0.912	0.024	0.294	0.334	0.966	0.431
I x Y	0.209	0.09	0.252	0.53	0.117	0.445	0.124	0.145
N x I x Y	0.376	0.22	0.434	0.515	0.345	0.382	0.406	0.613

§ Least significant difference at the 95% confidence level by PROC GLIMMIX-SAS treatment means followed by the same letter are not significantly different. Columns that do not contain letters indicate no significant difference between treatments. The bold numbers are significant at 0.05.

¶ SE, standard error of the mean.

The RTN responded positively to increasing N rate (Table 3.4). The optimum N

rate had significantly higher \$215 ha⁻¹ and \$298 ha⁻¹ RTN than the suboptimum and low

N rate, respectively. Meanwhile, the 80% deficit irrigation had \$46 ha⁻¹ (5.6%) and \$197 ha⁻¹ (24.1%) higher RTN compared to FIT and 60% FIT, respectively. However, after accounting for the environmental cost of NO₃-N leaching, significant irrigation and N effects of RTN changed into insignificant RTN_{Env} effects for irrigation and N treatments (Table 3.4). However, 2021 still had \$587 ha⁻¹ higher RTN_{Env} than 2022.

Residual Soil Nitrogen

Across two years, no significant interactions existed between N, irrigation, depth, and year on residual soil NO₃-N and NH₄-N at 0-1.2 m soil depth (Table 3.5). However, the year significantly affected residual soil NO₃-N and NH₄-N (p<0.001). Compared to 2021, 2022 had 22 times and 3 times higher soil NO₃-N and NH₄-N, respectively. The N rate significantly affected residual soil NO₃-N in 2021 only (Table 3.5). Compared to the optimum nitrogen rate (5.26 kg ha⁻¹), soil NO₃-N decreased by 73% and 51% in the low (1.40 kg ha⁻¹) and suboptimum rate (2.56 kg ha⁻¹), respectively. In contrast, the irrigation and depth did not affect soil NO₃-N and NH₄-N. It was interesting to observe >3 times higher residual soil NO₃-N across both years.

Source of	Residual soil N (kg ha ⁻¹)				
effects	NO ₃ -N	NH4-N			
Nitrogen (N)					
Low	1.40b§	8.69			
Suboptimum	2.56ab	9.05			
Optimum	5.23a	9.13			
SE¶	1.15	0.70			
Irrigation (I)					
60% FIT	4.10	8.51			
80% FIT	2.35	8.71			
FIT	2.73	9.64			
SE	1.15	0.70			

Table 3.5 Treatment means and significance of post-harvest soil NO₃-N (a) and NH₄-N (b) at 0-1.2 m soil depth as affected by nitrogen rate, irrigation rate, year and their interactions in 2021 and 2022 at Creighton, NE

Year (Y)				
2021	0.26b	4.79b		
2022	5.86a	13.1a		
SE	0.99	0.57		
Depth (D)				
0-0.3m	4.49 8.26			
0.3-0.6m	2.11	9.29		
0.6-0.9m	2.20	8.86		
0.9-1.2m	3.45	9.41		
SE	1.07	0.61		
Significance	Pr>F			
Ν	0.035	0.888		
Ι	0.448	0.472		
Y	<.0001	<.0001		
D	0.131	0.377		
NxI	0.984	0.220		
IxY	0.571	0.839		
IxY	0.209	0.359		
NxD	0.945	0.661		
IxD	0.158	0.778		
YxD	0.215	0.900		
NxIxD	0.750	0.091		
NxYxD	0.887	0.252		
IxYxD	0.223	0.203		
NxIxYxD	0.943	0.353		

§ Least significant difference at the 95% confidence level by PROC GLIMMIX-SAS treatment means followed by the same letter are not significantly different. Columns that do not contain letters indicate no significant difference between treatments. The bold numbers are significant at 0.05.

 \P SE, standard error of the mean.

Discussion

NO₃-N Leaching

NO₃-N leaching in sandy soils is often driven by water inputs across years and generally increases with increasing precipitation or irrigation (Bowles et al., 2018; Martin et al., 1994; Mohseni et al., 2021; Preza-Fontes et al., 2021). In this study, although 2022 had less precipitation than 2021, higher irrigation amounts and total water input in 2022

corresponded to higher NO₃-N leaching in 2022 (31.6 kg ha⁻¹) than in 2021 (11.5 kg ha⁻¹) ¹). These results were consistent with previous studies that reported higher NO_3 -N leaching with higher irrigation amounts (Bowles et al., 2018; Quemada et al., 2013). For example, Waddell et al. (2000) showed increased NO₃-N leaching (6, 15, and 40 kg N ha⁻ ¹) with increasing irrigation rates (73, 191, and 154 mm) and deep percolation (29, 74, and 114 mm) in sandy loam soils of Minnesota. Moreover, it must be noted that, in this study, higher NO₃-N leaching in 2022 could also be due to a combination of higher irrigation water nitrogen input and disk tillage by farmer in 2022 than no-till in 2021, as rainfall intensification has been shown to increase NO₃-N leaching from tilled cropping systems compared to no-till cropping system (Hess et al., 2020; Ritter et al., 1993). Although, 2022 had a different timing of N fertilizer with more being applied early season, we assume the differences in N application amounts across times between the two years would not impact NO₃-N leaching in the study years as the companion study showed no differences in NO₃-N leaching between 2N vs. 3N vs. 4N vs. 5N splits, likely because of dry year with below than normal early season and total seasonal precipitation (Singh et al., under review).

The results of the N fertilizer and irrigation treatments within the two growing seasons indicated that N rates impacted seasonal NO₃-N leaching more than the irrigation rates. Though the deep percolation mass were not different between the N fertilizer treatments (76.70, 76.40, 76.39 mm for low, suboptimum, and optimum rates, respectively), seasonal NO₃-N leaching in these treatments was mainly driven by the pore-water NO₃-N concentration as the optimum N rate had significantly higher pore-water NO₃-N concentration and NO₃-N leaching than the suboptimum and low N rates in

both years (Table 3.2; Figure 3.2). This incremental increase in seasonal NO₃-N leaching with increasing N rate was consistent with the earlier studies (Gheysari et al., 2009; Gholamhoseini et al., 2013; Liang et al., 2011; Sexton et al., 1998). In the present study, reducing N rate by 135 kg ha⁻¹ and 67 kg ha⁻¹ in the low and suboptimum N rate reduced NO₃-N leaching by 51% (15 kg ha⁻¹) and 24% (7 kg ha⁻¹). This was consistent with previous studies that reported substantially lower NO₃-N leaching when N rates were adjusted below the optimum N rate (Banger et al., 2020; Schröder et al., 1998a). The lower losses in the reduced N rates are generally attributable to higher PFP, NUE_{maize}, and AE at lower rates as observed in this (Table 3.4) and previous studies (Dobermann, 2005; Gao et al., 2012; Morris et al., 2018; Schröder et al., 1998).

Reducing irrigation generally decreases deep percolation and seasonal NO₃-N leaching (Bowles et al., 2018; Quemada et al., 2013). For example, Saffigna et al. (1977) observed that reduced irrigation (435 to 245 mm) resulted in less deep percolation (465 to 275) and NO₃-N leaching (208 to 128 kg N ha⁻¹) in loamy sand soils of Wisconsin. In agreement with previous findings, the results from this study showed that decreasing irrigation by 20% (80% FIT) and 40% (60% FIT) reduced percolation by 4% (77 mm) and 8% (73 mm), compared to FIT (80 mm), respectively. However, the decreasing percolation did not correspond to decreasing NO₃-N leaching across these irrigation rates. This was likely because of variations in NO₃-N concentrations of pore-water from lysimeters, indicating that the pore-water NO₃-N concentration was the primary driver of NO₃-N leaching (Bohman et al., 2019, 2020; Ochsner et al., 2018; Venterea et al., 2011). Despite this observation, 80% FIT had 14% (3 kg ha⁻¹) and 26% (5 kg ha⁻¹) lower NO₃-N leaching than 60% FIT and FIT (Table 3.3; Figure 3.2). Compared to 80% FIT, relatively higher NO₃-N leaching in 60% FIT could be due to water stress leading to less N uptake and grain yield, resulting in more leftover N for leaching. In contrast, over-irrigation in famer's conventional irrigation could have resulted in more available water than the plant requirement, that combined with higher irrigation water NO₃-N concentration, led to higher NO₃-N leaching. On the other hand, the 80% FIT might have provided optimum levels of available water to the crop, resulting in optimum crop N uptake and lower NO₃-N leaching than the FIT. This was evidenced by the similar grain yield, crop biomass, and crop N uptake between the 80% FIT and FIT (Table 3.3). Correspondingly, 80% FIT had \$46 ha⁻¹ higher RTN and \$139 ha⁻¹ higher RTN_{Env} than FIT, indicating higher profitability when irrigation is reduced by 20%. Future work should further explore optimizing irrigation water inputs through irrigation scheduling methods to better match crop water requirements, reduce deep percolation, and minimize NO₃-N leaching (Singh et al., 2023; Tarkalson et al., 2006).

Regardless of N and irrigation treatments, the NO₃-N leaching losses from our study were lower than those reported in previous studies in Nebraska (Klocke et al., 1999; Spalding et al., 2001). Earlier studies have reported 53 to 75 mg L⁻¹ of NO₃-N concentrations and 91 to 146 kg ha⁻¹ of NO₃-N leaching (Klocke et al., 1999; Hergert et al., 1986). The pore-water NO₃-N concentration in our study was lower than the earlier studies and within the range of 6 to 35 mg NO₃-N L⁻¹ pore-water NO₃-N concentration reported by Spalding et al. (2001) in the Central Platte Valley of Nebraska during 1993-1996. Furthermore, the seasonal NO₃-N leaching in this study, ranging from 11.5 to 31.6 kg NO₃-N ha⁻¹ was quite lower than the five-year annual average NO₃-N leaching losses of 52 to 91 kg NO₃-N ha⁻¹ reported at the West Central Research and Extension Center

(WCREC) of Nebraska (Klocke et al., 1999). Though the N rates in this study were from a low to higher range (135 to 269 kg ha⁻¹) than WCREC study (202 kg N ha⁻¹), the lower NO₃-N leaching across all N rates in our study was likely due to use of AGROTAIN N stabilizer at pre-plant and multiple split application of N from pre-plant to R1 growth stage compared to all the N application at fourth to sixth leaf stage of maize at WCREC. Furthermore, total water application in this study in both years was lower than water inputs at the WCREC study (523 to 858 mm/season), indicating relatively improved rainfall or irrigation water adjustments to meet crop water demands in the present study. The lower NO₃-N leaching in this study than in the earlier studies (Gehl et al., 2005; Klocke et al., 1999; Shrestha et al., 2023) indicates considerable progress toward adopting best management practices in reducing NO₃-N leaching in sandy soils of Nebraska. However, the results of this study must be referred to and used in the context of dry years, since the study had lower than normal precipitation in both years. Further refinement of crop water use through accurate irrigation scheduling methods and N use through process-based models must be considered under variable weather conditions, as precipitation and N inputs are the key drivers for determining the magnitude and timing of NO₃-N leaching (Bohman et al., 2020).

Crop Yield, Nitrogen Uptake, And Net Return To Nitrogen

Nitrogen rates and irrigation water inputs are the driving factors of maize grain yield (Bhatti et al., 2020; Lo et al., 2019; Puntel et al., 2016, 2018; Rudnick et al., 2017; Rudnick & Irmak, 2013). So, the optimum levels of N and irrigation rates are desired to optimize maize grain yield, increase NUE and economic returns, and decrease N losses (Sexton et al., 1998). In this study, across both years, optimum N rate had the highest grain yield and RTN compared to suboptimum and low N rates, which was in agreement

with the previous studies in the literature (Iqbal et al., 2015; Kaur et al., 2024; Yan et al., 2021). The higher maize grain yield with optimum N rates could be explained by higher values of grain and plant N uptake, NDRE, NDVI, ELNC, and CWUE compared to lower N rates (Tables 4 and 5). As expected, lower N rates had higher PFP, NUE_{maize}, AE, NUtE, and NRE, as crops with low N rates have a higher ability to utilize N efficiently (Montemurro et al., 2006; Rubin et al., 2016; Van Dijk et al., 2020). It is worth noting that the optimum N rate (269 kg N ha⁻¹) used in this study was close to the economic optimum nitrogen (EONR) of 257 kg N ha⁻¹ and within the EONR range (247-271 kg N ha⁻¹) found in the companion study. Thus, increased maize yield and economic returns at optimum than suboptimum and lower N rates in this study can be explained by high N availability and crop N uptake (Table 3.3). Interestingly, there were no differences in N rate on RTN_{Env} after the inclusion of NO₃-N leaching cost, indicating tradeoffs between N rates, NO_3 -N- leaching, and economic returns with the environmental costs. This was similar to a study in the Netherlands where Schroder et al. (1998) reported that adjusting the N rate below the optimum rate substantially reduced NO₃-N leaching with a limited impact on maize yield. Similarly, in 270 distinct soil climate regions of Canada, Banger et al. (2020) found that reducing N by 23 to 32% below the optimum N rate significantly reduced NO_3 -N leaching without impacting maize yield. Furthermore, it is worth noting that compared to the optimum N rate used in this study, the companion study showed a similar or slightly higher grain yield (15.9 to 17.0 Mg ha⁻¹) at the same suboptimum N rate used in this study when the N stabilizer products such as SUPERU and AGROTAIN were used to meet entire season crop N demand. Furthermore, in the companion study, enhanced efficiency fertilizers reduced NO₃-N leaching by 50 to 78% at the suboptimum

rate. This clearly indicates that using alternative N fertilizer sources could mitigate the negative yield effect at suboptimum N rates and still substantially reduce NO₃-N leaching.

Across both years, unlike the N rate, higher irrigation rates did not necessarily increase grain yield (Table 3.3; Figure 3.2), which was the opposite of the general understanding that increasing irrigation increases grain yield (Vaux & Pruitt, 1983). Compared to FIT, 60% FIT significantly decreased grain yield, grain and crop N uptake, stalk N, NDRE, crop biomass, and RTN, which was similar to previous studies that reported a decrease in grain yield with a reduction in irrigation input (Gheysari et al., 2009; Pandey et al., 2000; Bennett et al., 1989). However, in this study, 80% of FIT had similar grain yield, crop biomass, RTN, and higher CWUE than FIT. These results suggest that 80% of FIT likely met the crop water demand, and additional water input did not provide yield and economic benefits. These results were similar to findings from some other studies that reported no significant grain yield response when the irrigation amount was increased from 80% to 100% ET-based irrigation (Bohman et al., 2020; El-Hendawy & Schmidhalter, 2010; Guo et al., 2022; Liu et al., 2002). In fact, in this study, 80% FIT, with relatively lower NO₃-N leaching, led to fairly higher RTN_{Env} than the other two irrigation rates. These results suggest that adjusting irrigation rates below field capacity (FIT could) decrease NO₃-N leaching without impacting maize yield. Future work should further explore optimizing irrigation water inputs through irrigation scheduling methods to better match crop water requirements and minimize NO₃-N leaching (Tarkalson et al., 2006).

117

Though the N and irrigation effects on maize yield and other agronomic parameters did not differ between the two study years, these parameters had significant year effects across all treatments. The 2022 had lower grain yield than 2021, likely because of more irrigation and NO₃-N leaching in 2022 than in 2021. Furthermore, there was much lower N uptake, HI, and NHI in 2022 than in 2021, presumably indicating N limitation for crop uptake in 2022. The lower grain yield in 2022 could also be explained by lower NUE_{maize}, AE, NutE, and CWUE in 2022 than in 2021. These results strongly support the previous convention of decreased crop yield and increased NO₃-N leaching when comparatively higher irrigation rates are applied (Bowles et al., 2018; Preza-Fontes et al., 2021; Long and Sun, 2012). Moreover, these findings indicate that irrigation rates in some years can be more critical in determining NO_3 -N leaching than rainfall, as despite having low rainfall, 2022 had higher NO₃-N leaching due to more irrigation than 2021. Interestingly, with lower grain yield and higher NO₃-N leaching losses in 2022, 2022 had \$214 ha⁻¹ lower RTN and \$593 ha⁻¹ lower RTN_{Env} than 2021. These results clearly demonstrate that year-year variability in N losses and grain yield can significantly impact yearly NO₃-N leaching losses and economic returns. Therefore, optimizing yearly irrigation rates can be critical in achieving water quality and farm profit goals.

Residual Soil Nitrogen

Nitrogen leftover in the soil after harvest has the potential to increase NO₃-N leaching during the off-growing season in the mid-west (Iqbal et al., 2017; Syswerda et al., 2012). In this study, the optimum N rates had higher residual NO₃-N, corresponding to increased NO₃-N leaching with optimum N rate during the growing season. These results suggest that despite multiple N splits, optimum N inputs could still leave high NO₃-N at the end of the growing season and increase the risk of NO₃-N leaching during

winter. On the other hand, suboptimum and low N rates left approximately half of residual soil NO_3 -N than the optimum N rate. The cumulative residual NO_3 -N across all treatments at 0-1.2m depth (12.3 kg N ha⁻¹) from this study was lower than the generally reported residual NO₃-N value of 25 kg NO₃-N ha⁻¹ at 1 meter depth in sandy soils of Nebraska (Shapiro et al., 2016). One reason for the lower residual NO_3 -N could be the optimum or lower N rates that, with multiple N-splits, resulted in higher crop N uptake (Table 3.3) and left relatively lower NO_3 -N after the crop harvest. However, compared to cumulative soil NO₃-N (12.3 kg NO₃-N ha⁻¹), it was interesting to observe three times higher cumulative residual soil NH₄-N (35.8 kg NH₄-N ha⁻¹), likely originating from fertilizer or mineralization of soil organic matter. This relatively higher NH₄-N than NO₃-N was similar to our recent study, where we found a significant amount of residual NH₄-N in silty clay loam soil in Central Nebraska (Neels et al., 2023). These results suggest that N recommendations for the next season crop could be refined using N credits from NO₃-N and NH₄-N, decreasing N fertilizer inputs, and further reducing the NO₃-N leaching risks. The irrigation rates did not affect residual soil NO₃-N or NH₄-N, indicating that irrigation rate mainly affected the N movement in the soil during the growing season and had less impact on soil N movement during the off-growing season. Compared to irrigation and N rate, year had a more pronounced effect on soil NO₃-N and NH₄-N as these values were significantly higher in 2022 than in 2021. The higher residual N in 2022 could be due to a combination of high inputs (water and nitrogen) and disk tillage by farmer in 2022 that likely increased the soil organic matter mineralization (Cassman & Munns, 1980; Contosta et al., 2011; McPherson, 2022). Notably, the higher residual N in 2022 also corresponded to higher NO₃-N leaching in 2022. Furthermore,

when averaged across all treatments, cumulative residual N at 0-1.2 m depth (5 kg N ha⁻¹ in 2021, 19 kg N ha⁻¹ in 2022) was 40-56% of NO₃-N leaching load during each growing season, indicating risk for NO₃-N leaching during the off-growing season. This was supported by previous studies that reported that a significant portion of NO₃-N leaching occurred during the off-growing season of November – April in the region (Basso & Ritchie, 2005; Power et al., 2001; Syswerda et al., 2012). Nevertheless, the result from this study indicates that only in-season N management might not be enough to reduce NO₃-N leaching, but off-season N management practices need to be adopted to better provide a whole-year approach for reducing the NO₃-N leaching.

Conclusion

High groundwater NO₃-N contamination in the sandy soils undermines the sustainability of growing row crops in vulnerable areas, including the Bazile Groundwater Management Area. So, evaluating and adopting efficient nutrient and water management practices are crucial to ensure acceptable crop production with soil and water protection. This study demonstrated that using multiple N-splits at optimum or reduced N rates can substantially reduce NO₃-N leaching in vulnerable sandy soils. Though 25% and 50% reductions in N fertilizer decreased maize yield by 8% and 11%, this reduction in N rates substantially reduced NO₃-N leaching by 24 and 51% and RTN_{Env} by \$87 ha⁻¹ and \$25 ha⁻¹, respectively. These results highlight a tradeoff between reduced grain yield, reduced NO₃-N leaching, and societal economic returns in the groundwater NO₃-N contaminated areas. Furthermore, higher maize grain yield, RTN, and relatively lower NO₃-N leaching from 80% FIT indicate that reducing irrigation can minimize NO₃-N leaching without impacting maize yield and economic returns.

Compared to N and irrigation management within the growing season, it was interesting to observe that yearly variation in irrigation and grain yield had a higher impact on determining NO₃-N leaching and economic returns i.e. despite having lower irrigation and total water inputs, 2021 had higher grain yield, lower NO₃-N leaching, lower residual NO₃-N and NH₄-N, and higher RTN than 2022. These results demonstrate that adjusting irrigation and N rates could substantially reduce NO₃-N leaching without impacting RTN_{Env} in the groundwater NO₃-N contaminated areas. Future research should explore irrigation scheduling and N rate models to better optimize the irrigation and NO₃-N inputs to reduce NO₃-N leaching.

References

- Allen, R. G. (2000). Using the FAO-56 dual crop coefficient method over an irrigated region as part of an evapotranspiration intercomparison study. *Journal of Hydrology*, 229(1–2), 27–41.
- Allen, R. G., Pereira, L. S., Raes, D., & Smith, M. (1998). Crop evapotranspiration-Guidelines for computing crop water requirements-FAO Irrigation and drainage paper 56. *Fao, Rome*, 300(9), D05109.
- Banger, K., Nafziger, E. D., Wang, J., Muhammad, U., & Pittelkow, C. M. (2018).
 Simulating nitrogen management impacts on maize production in the US Midwest. *PLoS One*, *13*(10), e0201825.
- Banger, K., Wagner-Riddle, C., Grant, B. B., Smith, W. N., Drury, C., & Yang, J. (2020).
 Modifying fertilizer rate and application method reduces environmental nitrogen
 losses and increases maize yield in Ontario. *Science of the Total Environment*, 722, 137851.
- Bartels, A. J. (2022). To protect and conserve: Fifty years of Nebraska's Natural Resources Districts. *Journal of Soil and Water Conservation*, 77(3), 37A-42A.
- Basso, B., & Ritchie, J. T. (2005). Impact of compost, manure and inorganic fertilizer on NO₃-N leaching and yield for a 6-year maize-alfalfa rotation in Michigan. *Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment, 108*(4), 329–341.
- Beaudoin, N., Saad, J. K., Van Laethem, C., Machet, J. M., Maucorps, J., & Mary, B.
 (2005). NO₃-N leaching in intensive agriculture in Northern France: Effect of farming practices, soils and crop rotations. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment*, *111*(1–4), 292–310.

- Bhatti, S., Heeren, D. M., Barker, J. B., Neale, C. M. U., Woldt, W. E., Maguire, M. S.,
 & Rudnick, D. R. (2020). Site-specific irrigation management in a sub-humid
 climate using a spatial evapotranspiration model with satellite and airborne imagery. *Agricultural Water Management*, 230, 105950.
- Bohman, B. J., Rosen, C. J., & Mulla, D. J. (2019). Evaluation of variable rate nitrogen and reduced irrigation management for potato production. *Agronomy Journal*, *111*(4), 2005–2017.
- Bohman, B. J., Rosen, C. J., & Mulla, D. J. (2020). Impact of variable rate nitrogen and reduced irrigation management on NO₃-N leaching for potato. *Journal of Environmental Quality*, 49, 281-291.
- Bowles, T. M., Atallah, S. S., Campbell, E. E., Gaudin, A. C. M., Wieder, W. R., & Grandy, A. S. (2018). Addressing agricultural nitrogen losses in a changing climate. *Nature Sustainability*, 1(8), 399–408.
- Cassman, K G, & Munns, D. N. (1980). Nitrogen mineralization as affected by soil moisture, temperature, and depth. *Soil Science Society of America Journal*, 44(6), 1233–1237.
- Cassman, Kenneth G, Dobermann, A., Walters, D. T., & Yang, H. (2003). Meeting cereal demand while protecting natural resources and improving environmental quality.
 Annual Review of Environment and Resources, 28(1), 315–358.
- Congreves, K. A., Otchere, O., Ferland, D., Farzadfar, S., Williams, S., & Arcand, M. M. (2021). Nitrogen Use Efficiency Definitions of Today and Tomorrow. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, *12*(June), 1–10.

Contosta, A. R., Frey, S. D., & Cooper, A. B. (2011). Seasonal dynamics of soil

respiration and N mineralization in chronically warmed and fertilized soils. *Ecosphere*, 2(3), 1–21.

- Dinnes, D. L., Karlen, D. L., Jaynes, D. B., Kaspar, T. C., Hatfield, J. L., Colvin, T. S., & Cambardella, C. A. (2002). Nitrogen management strategies to reduce NO₃-N leaching in tile-drained Midwestern soils. *Agronomy Journal*, 94(1), 153–171.
- Djaman, K., & Irmak, S. (2013). Actual crop evapotranspiration and alfalfa-and grassreference crop coefficients of maize under full and limited irrigation and rainfed conditions. *Journal of Irrigation and Drainage Engineering*, *139*(6), 433–446.
- Dobermann, A. R. (2005). Nitrogen use efficiency-state of the art. *Agronomy-Faculty Publications*, 316.
- Dobermann, A., Wortmann, C. S., Ferguson, R. B., Hergert, G. W., Shapiro, C. A., Tarkalson, D. D., & Walters, D. T. (2011). Nitrogen response and economics for irrigated maize in Nebraska. *Agronomy Journal*, 103(1), 67–75.
- El-Hendawy, S. E., & Schmidhalter, U. (2010). Optimal coupling combinations between irrigation frequency and rate for drip-irrigated maize grown on sandy soil. *Agricultural Water Management*, 97(3), 439–448.
- Exner, M. E., Hirsh, A. J., & Spalding, R. F. (2014). Nebraska's groundwater legacy:
 NO₃-N contamination beneath irrigated cropland. *Water Resources Research*, 50(5), 4474–4489.
- Ferguson, R., Schmer, M., Shaver, T., Wienhold, B., Van Donk, S., Irmak, S., Rudnick,
 D., Ward, N., Jin, V., & Francis, D. (2013). Variable rate irrigation and nitrogen
 fertilization of maize across landscape positions. *Precision Agriculture* '13, 729–736.

H. (1991). Nitrogen and irrigation management practices to minimize NO₃-N leaching from irrigated maize. *Journal of Production Agriculture*, *4*(2), 186–192.

- Ferguson, Richard B. (2015). Groundwater quality and nitrogen use efficiency in Nebraska's Central Platte River Valley. *Journal of Environmental Quality*, 44(2), 449–459.
- Gao, Q., Li, C., Feng, G., Wang, J., Cui, Z., Chen, X., & Zhang, F. (2012).
 Understanding yield response to nitrogen to achieve high yield and high nitrogen use efficiency in rainfed maize. *Agronomy Journal*, *104*(1), 165–168.
- Gehl, R. J., Schmidt, J. P., Stone, L. R., Schlegel, A. J., & Clark, G. A. (2005). In Situ Measurements of NO₃-N Leaching Implicate Poor Nitrogen and Irrigation Management on Sandy Soils. *Journal of Environmental Quality*, 34(6), 2243–2254.
- Gheysari, M., Mirlatifi, S. M., Homaee, M., Asadi, M. E., & Hoogenboom, G. (2009).
 NO₃-N leaching in a silage maize field under different irrigation and nitrogen
 fertilizer rates. *Agricultural Water Management*, 96(6), 946–954.
- Gholamhoseini, M., AghaAlikhani, M., Modarres Sanavy, S. A. M., & Mirlatifi, S. M. (2013). Interactions of irrigation, weed and nitrogen on maize yield, nitrogen use efficiency and NO₃-N leaching. *Agricultural Water Management*, *126*, 9–18.
- Gosselin, D. C. (1991). Bazile triangle groundwater quality study. Nebraska Water Survey Paper No. 68, Conservation and Survey Division, Institute of Agriculture and Natural Resources, The University of Nebraska-Lincoln.
- Guo, J., Fan, J., Xiang, Y., Zhang, F., Yan, S., Zhang, X., Zheng, J., Li, Y., Tang, Z., &Li, Z. (2022). Coupling effects of irrigation amount and nitrogen fertilizer type ongrain yield, water productivity and nitrogen use efficiency of drip-irrigated maize.

Agricultural Water Management, 261(December 2021), 107389.

- Hergert, G. W. (1987). NO₃-N leaching through sandy soil as affected by sprinkler irrigation management. (Vol. 15, No. 3, PP. 272-278). American Society of Agronomy, Crop Science Society of America, and Soil Science Society of America.
- Hess, L. J. T., Hinckley, E.-L. S., Robertson, G. P., & Matson, P. A. (2020). Rainfall intensification increases NO₃-N leaching from tilled but not no-till cropping systems in the US Midwest. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment, 290*, 106747.
- High Plains Regional Climate Center (HPRCC). (2023). *High Plains RCC AWDN*. https://hprcc.unl.edu/awdn/. Accessed 5 July 2023.
- Hobza, C. M., & Steele, G. V. (2020). Interpretation of Hydrogeologic Data to Support Groundwater Management, Bazile Groundwater Management Area, Northeast Nebraska, 2019—A Case Demonstration of the Nebraska Geocloud. (ver. 1.1, December 15, 2020. U.S. Geological Survey Scientific Investigations Report 2020, 5113, 46 p.
- Hou, L., Fan, X., Qi, Z., Wan, L., & Hu, K. (2023). Simulation of water drainage and NO₃-N leaching at an irrigated maize (Zea mays L.) oasis cropland with a shallow groundwater table. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment, 355*, 108573.
- Iqbal, J., Mitchell, D. C., Barker, D. W., Miguez, F., Sawyer, J. E., Pantoja, J., & Castellano, M. J. (2015). Does nitrogen fertilizer application rate to maize affect nitrous oxide emissions from the rotated soybean crop?. *Journal of environmental quality*, 44(3), 711-719.
- Iqbal, J., Necpalova, M., Archontoulis, S. V., Anex, R. P., Bourguignon, M., Herzmann,D., ... & Castellano, M. J. (2018). Extreme weather-year sequences have nonadditive

effects on environmental nitrogen losses. Global Change Biology, 24(1), e303-e317.

- Juntakut, P., Haacker, E. M. K., Snow, D. D., & Ray, C. (2020). Risk and cost assessment of NO₃-N contamination in domestic wells. *Water*, *12*(2), 428.
- Juntakut, P., Snow, D. D., Haacker, E. M. K., & Ray, C. (2019). The long term effect of agricultural, vadose zone and climatic factors on NO₃-N contamination in Nebraska's groundwater system. *Journal of Contaminant Hydrology*, 220, 33–48.
- Kandeler, E., & Gerber, H. (1988). Short-term assay of soil urease activity using colorimetric determination of ammonium. *Biology and Fertility of Soils*, 6, 68–72.
- Kaur, H., Nelson, K. A., Wikle, C. K., Ferguson, R., & Singh, G. (2024). Nitrogen fertilizer and pronitridine rates for maize production in the Midwest US. *Field Crops Research*, 306, 109200.
- Klocke, N. L., Watts, D. G., Schneekloth, J. P., Davison, D. R., Todd, R. W., & Parkhurst, A. M. (1999). NO₃-N leaching in irrigated maize and soybean in a semiarid climate. *Transactions of the ASAE*, 42(6), 1621–1630.
- Li, J., Hu, W., Chau, H. W., Beare, M., Cichota, R., Teixeira, E., Moore, T., Di, H.,
 Cameron, K., & Guo, J. (2023). Response of NO₃-N leaching to no-tillage is
 dependent on soil, climate, and management factors: A global meta-analysis. *Global Change Biology*, 29(8), 2172–2187.
- Li, L., Hosseiniaghdam, E., Drijber, R., Jeske, E., Awada, T., Hiller, J., & Kaiser, M.
 (2023). Conversion of native grassland to coniferous forests decreased stocks of soil organic carbon and microbial biomass. *Plant and Soil*, 0123456789.
- Liang, X. Q., Xu, L., Li, H., He, M. M., Qian, Y. C., Liu, J., Nie, Z. Y., Ye, Y. S., & Chen, Y. (2011). Influence of N fertilization rates, rainfall, and temperature on NO₃-

N leaching from a rainfed winter wheat field in Taihu watershed. *Physics and Chemistry of the Earth*, *36*(9–11), 395–400.

- Liu, C., Zhang, X., & Zhang, Y. (2002). Determination of daily evaporation and evapotranspiration of winter wheat and maize by large-scale weighing lysimeter and micro-lysimeter. *Agricultural and Forest Meteorology*, *111*(2), 109–120.
- Lo, T. H., Rudnick, D. R., Burr, C. A., Stockton, M. C., & Werle, R. (2019). Approaches to evaluating grower irrigation and fertilizer nitrogen amount and timing. *Agricultural Water Management*, 213, 693–706.
- Maharjan, B., Rosen, C. J., Lamb, J. A., & Venterea, R. T. (2016). Maize response to nitrogen management under fully-irrigated vs. water-stressed conditions. *Agronomy Journal*, 108(5), 2089–2098.
- Maharjan, B., Venterea, R. T., & Rosen, C. (2014). Fertilizer and irrigation management effects on nitrous oxide emissions and NO₃-N leaching. *Agronomy Journal*, *106*(2), 703–714.
- Martin, E. C., Loudon, T. L., Ritchie, J. T., & Werner, A. (1994a). Use of drainage lysimeters to evaluate nitrogen and irrigation management strategies to minimize NO₃-N leaching in maize production. *Transactions of the ASAE*, *37*(1), 79–83.
- Martin, E. C., Loudon, T. L., Ritchie, J. T., & Werner, A. (1994b). Use of drainage lysimeters to evaluate nitrogen and irrigation management strategies to minimize NO₃-N leaching in maize production. *Transactions of the American Society of Agricultural Engineers*, 37(1), 79–83.
- McPherson, M. R. (2022). Mycorrhizae in Maize (Zea mays L.) Cropping Systems Respond Differently to Nitrogen Fertilization under Increasing Crop Rotational
Diversity. [Doctoral Disseration, The University of Nebraska-Lincoln]. 239. https://digitalcommons.unl.edu/agronhortdiss/239

- Mieno, T., Foster, T., Kakimoto, S., & Brozović, N. (2024). Aquifer depletion exacerbates agricultural drought losses in the US High Plains. *Nature Water*, 1–11.
- Miranda, K. M., Espey, M. G., Yamada, K., Krishna, M., Ludwick, N., Kim, S., Jourd'heuil, D., Grisham, M. B., Feelisch, M., & Fukuto, J. M. (2001). Unique oxidative mechanisms for the reactive nitrogen oxide species, nitroxyl anion. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 276(3), 1720–1727.
- Mittelstet, A. R., Gilmore, T. E., Messer, T., Rudnick, D. R., & Heatherly, T. (2019).
 Evaluation of selected watershed characteristics to identify best management
 practices to reduce Nebraskan NO₃-N loads from Nebraska to the
 Mississippi/Atchafalaya River basin. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment, 277*, 1–10.
- Mohseni, A., Hosseini, H. M., & Abbasi, F. (2021). Evaluation of furrow fertigation on nitrogen supply and losses as a function of maize growth stages. *SN Applied Sciences*, 3(1), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1007/s42452-020-03998-z
- Montemurro, F., Maiorana, M., Ferri, D., & Convertini, G. (2006). Nitrogen indicators, uptake and utilization efficiency in a maize and barley rotation cropped at different levels and sources of N fertilization. *Field Crops Research*, *99*(2–3), 114–124.
- Morris, T. F., Murrell, T. S., Beegle, D. B., Camberato, J. J., Ferguson, R. B., Grove, J., Ketterings, Q., Kyveryga, P. M., Laboski, C. A. M., & McGrath, J. M. (2018).
 Strengths and limitations of nitrogen rate recommendations for maize and opportunities for improvement. *Agronomy Journal*, *110*(1), 1–37.

- Mzuku, M., Khosla, R., Reich, R., Inman, D., Smith, F., & MacDonald, L. (2005). Spatial variability of measured soil properties across site-specific management zones. *Soil Science Society of America Journal*, 69(5), 1572–1579.
- Neels, W., Jhala, A., Maharjan, B., Patel, S., Slator, G., & Iqbal, J. (2023). Nitrogen source affects in-season nitrogen availability more than nitrification inhibitor and herbicide in a fine-textured soil. *Soil Science Society of America Journal*.
- Ochsner, T. E., Schumacher, T. W., Venterea, R. T., Feyereisen, G. W., & Baker, J. M. (2018). Soil water dynamics and NO₃-N leaching under maize–soybean rotation, continuous maize, and kura clover. *Vadose Zone Journal*, *17*(1), 1–11.
- Ouattara, B. S. (2022). Agrichemicals (NO₃-N and Atrazine) In Drinking Water and Adverse Health Outcomes in Children in Nebraska. [Doctoral Disseration, The University of Nebraska Medical Center]. 668.

https://digitalcommons.unmc.edu/etd/668

- Owens, L. B., Edwards, W. M., & Shipitalo, M. J. (1995). NO₃-N leaching through lysimeters in a maize-soybean rotation. *Soil Science Society of America Journal*, 59(3), 902–907.
- Pandey, R. K., Maranville, J. W., & Admou, A. (2000). Deficit irrigation and nitrogen effects on maize in a Sahelian environment: I. Grain yield and yield components. *Agricultural Water Management*, 46(1), 1–13.
- Pawlick, A. A., Wagner-Riddle, C., Parkin, G. W., & Berg, A. A. (2019). Assessment of nitrification and urease inhibitors on NO₃-N leaching in maize (Zea mays L.). *Canadian Journal of Soil Science*, 99(1), 80–91.

Pennino, M. J., Leibowitz, S. G., Compton, J. E., Hill, R. A., & Sabo, R. D. (2020).

Patterns and predictions of drinking water NO₃-N violations across the conterminous United States. *Science of the Total Environment*, 722, 137661.

- Power, J. F., Wiese, R., & Flowerday, D. (2001). Managing Farming Systems for NO₃-N Control: A Research Review from Management Systems Evaluation Areas. *Journal* of Environmental Quality, 30(6), 1866–1880.
- Preza-Fontes, G., Christianson, L. E., Greer, K., Bhattarai, R., & Pittelkow, C. M. (2022).
 In-season split nitrogen application and cover cropping effects on nitrous oxide
 emissions in rainfed maize. *Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment, 326*, 107813.
- Preza-Fontes, G., Pittelkow, C. M., Greer, K. D., Bhattarai, R., & Christianson, L. E.
 (2021). Split-nitrogen application with cover cropping reduces subsurface NO₃-N
 losses while maintaining maize yields. *Journal of Environmental Quality*, *50*:1408–1418.
- Puntel, L. A., Sawyer, J. E., Barker, D. W., Dietzel, R., Poffenbarger, H., Castellano, M. J., Moore, K. J., Thorburn, P., & Archontoulis, S. V. (2016). Modeling long-term maize yield response to nitrogen rate and crop rotation. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, 7, 1630.
- Puntel, L. A., Sawyer, J. E., Barker, D. W., Thorburn, P. J., Castellano, M. J., Moore, K. J., VanLoocke, A., Heaton, E. A., & Archontoulis, S. V. (2018). A systems modeling approach to forecast maize economic optimum nitrogen rate. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, *9*, 436.
- Quemada, M., Baranski, M., Nobel-de Lange, M. N. J., Vallejo, A., & Cooper, J. M. (2013a). Meta-analysis of strategies to control NO₃-N leaching in irrigated agricultural systems and their effects on crop yield. *Agriculture, Ecosystems and*

Environment, 174, 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agee.2013.04.018

- Quemada, M., Baranski, M., Nobel-de Lange, M. N. J., Vallejo, A., & Cooper, J. M. (2013b). Meta-analysis of strategies to control nitrate leaching in irrigated agricultural systems and their effects on crop yield. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment, 174*, 1–10.
- Ransom, C. J., Kitchen, N. R., Camberato, J. J., Carter, P. R., Ferguson, R. B., Fernández,
 F. G., Franzen, D. W., Laboski, C. A. M., Nafziger, E. D., & Sawyer, J. E. (2020).
 Maize nitrogen rate recommendation tools' performance across eight US midwest
 maize belt states. *Agronomy Journal*, *112*(1), 470–492.
- Ransom, K. M., Nolan, B. T., Stackelberg, P. E., Belitz, K., & Fram, M. S. (2022).
 Machine learning predictions of NO₃-N in groundwater used for drinking supply in the conterminous United States. *Science of the Total Environment*, 807, 151065.
- Ritter, W. F., Scarborough, R. W., & Chirnside, A. E. M. (1993). NO₃-N leaching under irrigated maize. *Journal of Irrigation and Drainage Engineering*, *119*(3), 544-553...
- Rose, T. J., Quin, P., Morris, S. G., Kearney, L. J., Kimber, S., Rose, M. T., & Van Zwieten, L. (2018). No evidence for higher agronomic N use efficiency or lower nitrous oxide emissions from enhanced efficiency fertilisers in aerobic subtropical rice. *Field Crops Research*, 225, 47–54.
- Rubin, J. C., Struffert, A. M., Fernández, F. G., & Lamb, J. A. (2016). Maize yield and nitrogen use efficiency in Upper midwest irrigated sandy soils. *Agronomy Journal*, *108*(4), 1681–1691. https://doi.org/10.2134/agronj2015.0552
- Rudnick, D. (2013). Impact of Water and Nitrogen Management on Maize Actual Evapotranspiration, Soil Water Extraction and Crop Water Productivity in South

Central Nebraska, USA. [M.S. Thesis, Department of Biological Systems Engineering, University of Nebraska-Lincoln].

- Rudnick, D., Irmak, S., Ray, C., Schneekloth, J., Schipanski, M., Kisekka, I., Schlegel,
 A., Aguilar, J., Rogers, D., & Mitchell, D. (2017). Deficit irrigation management of
 maize in the high plains: A review. *Proceedings of the 29th Annual Central Plains Irrigation Conference*, 21–22.
- Rudnick, D R, Irmak, S., Djaman, K., & Sharma, V. (2017). Impact of irrigation and nitrogen fertilizer rate on soil water trends and maize evapotranspiration during the vegetative and reproductive periods. *Agricultural Water Management*, 191, 77–84.
- Rudnick, D R, Irmak, S., West, C., Chávez, J. L., Kisekka, I., Marek, T. H., Schneekloth,
 J. P., Mitchell McCallister, D., Sharma, V., & Djaman, K. (2019). Deficit irrigation
 management of maize in the high plains aquifer region: a review. *JAWRA Journal of the American Water Resources Association*, 55(1), 38–55.
- Rudnick, Daran R, & Irmak, S. (2013). Impact of water and nitrogen management strategies on maize yield and water productivity indices under linear-move sprinkler irrigation. *Transactions of the ASABE*, 56(5), 1769–1783.
- Rudnick, Daran R, & Irmak, S. (2014). Spatial and temporal maize soil water extraction (Depletion) dynamics: Part II. Impact of water and nitrogen management strategies on soil water extraction. *Transactions of the ASABE*, 57(2), 445–462.
- Saffigna, P. G., Keeney, D. R., & Tanner, C. B. (1977). Nitrogen, Chloride, and Water Balance with Irrigated Russet Burbank Potatoes in a Sandy Soil. *Agronomy Journal*, 69(2), 251–257.

Schröder, J. J., Neeteson, J. J., Withagen, J. C. M., & Noij, I. (1998). Effects of N

application on agronomic and environmental parameters in silage maize production on sandy soils. *Field Crops Research*, *58*(1), 55–67.

- Sexton, B. T., Moncrief, J. F., Rosen, C. J., Gupta, S. C., & Cheng, H. H. (1998).
 Optimizing Nitrogen and Irrigation Inputs for Maize Based on NO₃-N Leaching and Yield on a Coarse-Textured Soil. *Journal of Environmental Quality*, 27(1), 247.
- Shrestha, D., Masarik, K., & Kucharik, C. J. (2023). NO₃-N losses from Midwest US agroecosystems: Impacts of varied management and precipitation. *Journal of Soil and Water Conservation*, 78(2), 141–153.
- Silva, P. R. F. da, Strieder, M. L., Coser, R. P. da S., Rambo, L., Sangoi, L., Argenta, G., Forsthofer, E. L., & Silva, A. A. da. (2005). Grain yield and kernel crude protein content increases of maize hybrids with late nitrogen side-dressing. *Scientia Agricola*, 62(5), 487–492.
- Simmelsgaard, S. E., & Djurhuus, J. (1998). An empirical model for estimating NO₃-N leaching as affected by crop type and the long-term N fertilizer rate. *Soil Use and Management*, *14*(1), 37–43.
- Singh, A., Kukal, M. S., Shapiro, C. A., Snow, D. D., Irmak, S., & Iqbal, J. (2021).
 Growth phase-specific evaporative demand and nighttime temperatures determine
 Maize (Zea Mays L.) yield deviations as revealed from a long-term field experiment. *Agricultural and Forest Meteorology*, 308, 108543.
- Singh, G., Sharma, V., Mulla, D., Tahir, M., & Fernandez, F. G. (2023). Effect of Irrigation Scheduling Methods on Maize Grain Yield and NO₃-N Leaching in Central Minnesota. *Journal of Natural Resources and Agricultural Ecosystems*. *1*(1): 13-31.

- Singh, R. K., & Irmak, A. (2009). Estimation of crop coefficients using satellite remote sensing. *Journal of Irrigation and Drainage Engineering*, 135(5), 597–608.
- Sobota, D. J., Compton, J. E., McCrackin, M. L., & Singh, S. (2015). Cost of reactive nitrogen release from human activities to the environment in the United States. *Environmental Research Letters*, 10(2), 25006.
- Sogbedji, J. M., van Es, H. M., Yang, C. L., Geohring, L. D., & Magdoff, F. R. (2000). NO₃-N leaching and nitrogen budget as affected by maize nitrogen rate and soil type. *Journal of Environmental Quality*, 29:1813-1820.
- Spalding, R. F., Watts, D. G., Schepers, J. S., Burbach, M. E., Exner, M. E., Poreda, R. J., & Martin, G. E. (2001). Controlling NO₃-N leaching in irrigated agriculture. *Journal* of Environmental Quality, 30(4), 1184–1194.
- Stanford, G. (1973). Rationale for optimum nitrogen fertilization in maize production. *Journal of Environmental Quality*, 2(2), 159–166.
- Struffert, A. M., Rubin, J. C., Fernández, F. G., & Lamb, J. A. (2016). Nitrogen Management for Maize and Groundwater Quality in Upper Midwest Irrigated Sands. *Journal of Environmental Quality*, 45(5), 1557–1564.
- Soil Survey Staff. (2022). *Web soil survey*. USDA-NRCS. http://websoilsurvey.sc.egov.usda.gov/
- Syswerda, S. P., Basso, B., Hamilton, S. K., Tausig, J. B., & Robertson, G. P. (2012). Long-term NO₃-N loss along an agricultural intensity gradient in the Upper Midwest USA. Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment, 149, 10–19.
- Tarkalson, D. D., Payero, J. O., Ensley, S. M., & Shapiro, C. A. (2006). NO₃-N accumulation and movement under deficit irrigation in soil receiving cattle manure

and commercial fertilizer. Agricultural Water Management, 85(1-2), 201-210.

- Tubaña, B. S., Arnall, D. B., Walsh, O., Chung, B., Solie, J. B., Girma, K., & Raun, W.
 R. (2008). Adjusting midseason nitrogen rate using a sensor-based optimization algorithm to increase use efficiency in maize. *Journal of Plant Nutrition*, *31*(8), 1393–1419.
- USDA-NRCS (U.S. Department of Agriculture/Natural Resources Conservation Service).
 (1985). "Hydrology." Section 4, National engineering handbook (NEH), Soil
 Conservation Service, USDA, Washington, DC.
- Van Dijk, M., Morley, T., van Loon, M., Reidsma, P., Tesfaye, K., & van Ittersum, M. K. (2020). Reducing the maize yield gap in Ethiopia: Decomposition and policy simulation. *Agricultural Systems*, 183, 102828.
- Vaux Jr, H. J., & Pruitt, W. O. (1983). Crop-water production functions. In Advances in irrigation (Vol. 2, PP. 61–97). Academic Press Inc.
- Venterea, R. T., Hyatt, C. R., & Rosen, C. J. (2011). Fertilizer management effects on NO₃-N leaching and indirect nitrous oxide emissions in irrigated potato production. *Journal of Environmental Quality*, 40(4), 1103–1112.
- Vitousek, P. M., Naylor, R., Crews, T., David, M. B., Drinkwater, L. E., Holland, E., Johnes, P. J., Katzenberger, J., Martinelli, L. A., & Matson, P. A. (2009). Nutrient imbalances in agricultural development. *Science*, 324(5934), 1519–1520.
- Waddell, J. T., Gupta, S. C., Moncrief, J. F., Rosen, C. J., & Steele, D. D. (2000). Irrigation-and nitrogen-management impacts on NO₃-N leaching under potato. *Journal of Environmental Quality*, 29:251-261.

Yan, F., Zhang, F., Fan, X., Fan, J., Wang, Y., Zou, H., Wang, H., & Li, G. (2021).

Determining irrigation amount and fertilization rate to simultaneously optimize grain yield, grain nitrogen accumulation and economic benefit of drip-fertigated spring maize in northwest China. *Agricultural Water Management*, *243*, 106440.

Zheng, W., Wang, S., Tan, K., & Lei, Y. (2020). NO₃-N accumulation and leaching potential is controlled by land-use and extreme precipitation in a headwater catchment in the North China Plain. *Science of the Total Environment*, 707, 136168.

CHAPTER 4

IMPACT OF ENHANCED EFFICIENCY FERTILIZERS ON THE GROUNDWATER WATER QUALITY

Abstract

The increasing groundwater nitrate (NO₃-N) contamination in irrigated sandy soils poses significant economic, environmental, and health threats. The objectives of this study were to evaluate the impact of conventional nitrogen (N) split vs. pre-plant N application, with and without enhanced efficiency fertilizers (EEFs) [i.e., (a) urease inhibitor (UI), and (b) urease and nitrification inhibitor (UI+NI)] on NO₃-N leaching, maize yield, and return to N with (RTN_{Env}) and without environmental cost (RTN) in irrigated sandy soils of Bazile Groundwater Management Area in Nebraska. The twoyear (2021-2022) on-farm study included a zero N check treatment and following six treatments at a sub-optimal N rate of 202 kg N ha⁻¹: 1) Urea applied as preplant (U_{PP}), 2) and in split with conventional Urea-urea ammonium-nitrate (UAN) (U_{split}), 3) urea with UI applied as preplant ($(U+UI)_{PP}$), 4) and split with UAN ($(U+UI)_{split}$), 5) urea with UI+NI applied as pre-plant ((U+UI+NI)_{PP}), and 6) split with UAN ((U+UI+NI)_{split}). Compared to conventional U_{split} , $(U+UI)_{PP}$ and $(U+UI+NI)_{PP}$ decreased nitrate leaching by 75% (by 27 kg NO₃-N ha⁻¹) and increased RTN_{Env} by \$537 ha⁻¹ but had no considerable effect on maize yield. There were no significant differences between U_{split} and U_{PP} on NO₃-N leaching, maize yield, and RTN. Furthermore, $(U+UI)_{split}$ + (U+UI+NI)_{split} significantly reduced NO₃-N leaching by 31% (by 20 kg NO₃-N ha⁻¹) and increased grain yield by 9.6% than the UPP in 2021. However, (U+UI)split + (U+UI+NI)_{split} (29.1 kg NO₃-N ha⁻¹) significantly increased NO₃-N leaching by 139%

(2.4 times) than (U+UI)_{PP} and (U+UI+NI)_{PP} (12.2 kg NO₃-N ha⁻¹) with no effect on grain yield in both years. Notably, in both years, NO₃-N leaching from (U+UI)_{PP} and (U+UI+NI)_{PP} had similar NO₃-N leaching as the check treatment. These findings suggest that pre-plant application of EEFs can substantially reduce nitrate leaching without impacting maize yield but with higher economic returns in groundwater-contaminated areas.

Introduction

For the last six decades, maize production in Nebraska has increased from 39 to 100 million acres (USDA NASS, 2023). Nationally, Nebraska ranks third in maize production, producing 1.45 billion bushels of grains and 5.37 million tons of silage from 9.6 million acres of maize production in 2022 (USDA NASS, 2023). Increased crop production generally increases nitrogen (N) consumption (Sawyer et al., 2016), and so does it increase the potential of nitrate (NO₃-N) leaching losses to groundwater (Mittelstet et al., 2019; Zelt & Munn, 2009). The increase in NO₃-N contamination is evidenced by groundwater NO₃-N levels far exceeding the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) safe drinking water limit of 10 mg L⁻¹ on about one million hectares of Nebraska (Juntakut et al., 2019; NDEE, 2020). At the same time, more than 80% of Nebraska's rural population relies on groundwater for drinking purposes, which resulted in adverse health effects in several Nebraskan towns (Ouattara, 2022). Meanwhile, several Nebraska towns are paying millions of dollars to treat the contaminated water (Exner et al., 2014; Pennino et al., 2017, 2020; Ray et al., 2022). To address the groundwater contamination risks, Natural Resource Districts (NRDs), a watershed-level

government agency, passed legislation in 1987 and established groundwater management areas to set strategies for protecting groundwater quality.

One of the major NO₃-N contaminated areas in the state (Juntakut et al., 2019) is the Bazile Groundwater Management Area (BGMA), which was developed by Nebraska in 1986 and accepted by the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) in 2016 (Figure 2.1). BGMA comprises 1958 sq. km. area under sandy soil and lies within three counties (Antelope, Knox, Pierce) of the state. These sandy areas in BGMA are well above >10 mg NO₃-N L⁻¹ (Figure 2.1) and provide drinking water to 7000 Nebraskans (Bartels, 2022). Though the shallow groundwater table depth in this area provides an inexpensive water supply to irrigate crops, it also results in a substantial NO₃-N leaching risk to the groundwater in the area (Gosselin, 1991; Hobza & Steele, 2020; Hou et al., 2023). To address the N management in BGMA and other groundwater management areas in Nebraska, NRDs set phase areas with increasing NO₃-N concentrations in the groundwater. i.e. Phase I: 0-5 mg NO₃-N L⁻¹, Phase II: 5.1-9.0 mg L⁻¹, Phase III: >9 mg NO_3 -N L⁻¹, Phase IV – areas in Phase III for five years. In each phase management area, there are different nitrogen and irrigation regulations to improve N use efficiency (NUE) and protect groundwater quality (Bartels, 2022; Exner et al., 2014). One of the major regulations is not to apply N before March 1st but to apply N in split during the growing season. Though the producers are recommended to use the optimum N rate using the University of Nebraska-Lincoln N recommendations, they have no set limits for total N use in these phase areas.

Despite the set regulations, NO₃-N levels are not showing a decreasing trend of groundwater NO₃-N contaminants (Cannia et al., 2017; Hobza & Steele, 2020), so NRDs

are increasingly looking for alternative best management practices to reduce NO₃-N leaching. Meanwhile, researchers have shown that despite adopting best N management practices, only 40-60% of applied N is recovered by the crop, while the rest is lost into the environment (Dobermann & Cassman, 2002; Hirel et al., 2007; Zhang et al., 2015). Moreover, in a recent water quality research review, Christianson & Harmel (2015) suggested that optimizing the N rate will remain a key for research and regulations. Other researchers pointed to using suboptimal N rates to decrease NO₃-N leaching because maximizing the maize production with an economically optimum N rate comes with higher risks of N losses (Schröder et al., 1998). In the other regions, the researchers found that the reduction of N input by half reduces the N losses by >50% (Ju et al., 2009; Vitousek et al., 2009; Quemada et al., 2013). For example, Schroder et al. (1998) in the Netherlands reported that applying N at suboptimum N rate can reduce NO₃-N leaching risk with limited effect on maize yield. Similarly, Banger et al., (2020) in 270 distinct soil-climate regions in Canada, found that adjusting the N rate by 23-32% below the optimum N rate significantly reduced NO₃-N leaching without impacting corn yield. However, Struffert et al. (2016) in Minnesota and Beaudoin et al. (2005) in Northern France reported that reducing N below the optimum level did not decrease NO₃-N leaching. These inconsistent effects of reduced N rates on NO₃-N leaching could be due to site-specific soil and climatic conditions and N sources (Bhatti et al., 2020; Ferguson et al., 2002; Hussain et al., 2022; Pawlick et al., 2019; Silva et al., 2005).

Because of the affordability and ease of application, granular urea and urea ammonium nitrate (UAN) are the most commonly used fertilizer for sandy soils in the region and the world. However, previous studies have shown that urea-based fertilizers have low NUE and high vulnerability for N losses through NH₃ volatilization, nitrous oxide emissions and NO₃-N leaching (Dobermann et al., 2011; Drury et al., 2016; Woodley et al., 2020; Soares et al., 2023; Rochette et al., 2008; Maharjan et al., 2014; Venterea et al., 2021). Following surface application of urea, it is quickly hydrolyzed within 1 or 2 days to NH₄-N, increasing soil pH, and potential of NH₃-N volatilization losses in case precipitation or irrigation does not happen soon after application (Overrein & Moe, 1967; Zambelli et al., 2011; Zhengping et al., 1991). Moreover, subsequent nitrification of NH₄-N to NO₃-N in a short period increases the potential for NO₃-N leaching losses upto 80% in case of high precipitation, especially when the NO₃-N availability exceeds crop N uptake during the early season (Paul and Clark, 1996; Di and Cameron 2002; Parfitt et al., 2006). Therefore, stabilizing N availability, even with split N application, during the early growing season is critical to meet crop N needs and mitigate environmental N losses. Increasing the NUE of synthetic N fertilizers also helps to meet the demands of the Kyoto Protocol (Protocol, 1997).

Meanwhile, increasing evidence has shown that the use of enhanced efficiency fertilizers (EEFs), including the urease and nitrification inhibitors, can stabilize N and significantly reduce N losses without an impact on corn yield but higher economic returns at suboptimum N rate (Allende-Montalbán et al., 2021; Rose et al., 2018), or optimal N rates (Díez-López et al., 2008; Nelson et al., 2008; Souza et al., 2019; Wilson et al., 2010). For example, Diez et al. (2010) found that a single pre-plant application of dicyandiamide (DCD) and 3,4-dimethylpyrazole phosphate (DMPP) nitrification inhibitors at the recommended N rate significantly decreased NO₃-N leaching by 29% without any impact on corn yield when compared to split N application in sandy loam soil of irrigated corn. They attributed NO₃-N leaching reduction to 30% lower soil NO₃-N production in the nitrification inhibitor plots than with no nitrification inhibitor. Similarly, Allende-Motalban et al. (2021) found that a single application of urease inhibitors was more effective in delaying urease activity, slowing N availability, and reducing potential N losses than the split application of urea with urease inhibitors in sandy soil in corn. In parallel, Rose et al. (2018) in a meta-analysis reported that the beneficial effects of EEFs in improving NUE and corn yield are more likely at suboptimal N rates.

To our knowledge, no study has reported the use of EEFs with either single or split application at suboptimal N rates to reduce NO₃-N leaching (possibly no yield difference or higher economic effects), especially in groundwater management areas where NO_3 -N contamination poses a substantial environmental and health concerns. Moreover, only a few studies have attempted to optimize the N management for corn based on NO₃-N leaching in the sandy soils of the US Midwest (Maharjan et al., 2016; Struffert et al., 2016), as research is costly and requires intensive sampling for NO₃-N leaching measurements. Understanding that using EEFs could profoundly influence the NO₃-N leaching in the area, this study aimed to investigate the impact of EEFs in single or split applications on NO_3 -N leaching, corn yield, and economic returns. Using the suboptimal N rates, the objectives of this study were to evaluate the effects of 1) conventional U_{split} (U_{split}) vs. one-time application of urea coated with N-(n-butyl) thiophosphoric triamide (NBPT) urease inhibitor $((U+UI)_{PP})$, urea coated with NBPT + DCD ((U+UI+NI)PP), and regular urea (UPP), and 2) split application of Agrotain with UAN ((U+UI)_{split}) and SuperU with UAN ((U+UI+NI)_{split}) vs. conventional U_{split},

(U+UI)_{PP}, (U+UI+NI)_{PP}, and U_{PP}, on NO₃-N leaching, corn yield, nitrogen use efficiency, residual N, and economic returns.

Materials And Methods

Experimental Conditions

The on-farm research experiment was conducted for two years (2021-2022) near Creighton, Nebraska, USA ($42^{\circ}25'02.3$ "N, $98^{\circ}02'52.3$ "W). This site has an elevation of 568 m and is located in Phase III of the Bazile Groundwater Management Area (BGMA) in the Upper Elkhorn Natural Resource District (NRD). The site has a sub-humid climate (Li et al., 2023; Singh et al., 2021) with long-term annual average precipitation of ~700 mm, and air temperature of 9.6° C. During the study years, the average annual temperature and precipitation were 10.5° C and 376 mm in 2021 and 9.3° C and 284 mm in 2022, respectively. Prior to the start of the experiment in the fall of 2020, the groundwater table depth at the site was around 12 meters. The predominant soil at the site is Thurman loamy sand (Soil Survey, 2022) with a 0-2% slope, 82.3% sand, 9.67% silt, and 8% clay. Before the treatment establishment, soil samples were collected at 0-20 cm depth and analyzed for soil physical and chemical properties listed in Table 2.1.

Site Description, Experimental Design, And Crop Management

The experiment was conducted in a field with a center-pivot overhead sprinkler irrigation system. The outer two spans of the pivot were equipped with a variable rate irrigation (VRI) system (Valmont Industries, Valley, NE) and used to establish the experimental plots. The experimental design was a randomized complete block design with a combination of nitrogen sources and application timing and a zero-nitrogen control (check treatment) with three replications. Individual plots were 24 m long and 36 m wide. The crop rotation was continuous maize. The treatments were applied to the same experimental plots in each study year. During 2021, maize was grown in a no-till field on May 12th. Due to high maize stubbles, the farmer tilled the field on April 14th, 2022, and planted maize on April 26th, 2022. Channel 20906 maize variety, matures in 109 days, was used during both years.

In addition to a zero-N check treatment, the study included the following six treatments with a combination of nitrogen sources with and without EEFs and N application timing (pre-plant vs. split): (i) single preplant application of regular Urea (U_{PP}), (ii) conventional 5-N split of Urea and UAN (U_{split}) (iii) single preplant application of urea coated with N-(n-butyl) thiophosphoric triamide (NBPT) urease inhibitor ((U+UI)_{PP}), (iv) 5-N split of Agrotain coated urea with UAN ((U+UI)_{split}), (v) single preplant application of urea coated with NBPT + DCD ((U+UI+NI)_{PP}) and (vi) 5-N split of SuperU with UAN ((U+UI+NI)_{split}). Due to logistics issues, U_{split} was implemented in 2022 only. All N fertilizer treatments were applied at a single rate of 202 kg N ha⁻¹ in 2021 and 2022. More details about the N rates and timing are provided in Table 2. The EFFS products, including Agrotain and SuperU, were both acquired from the Koch Industries. Agrotain was used to coat urea at the recommended rate of 2.1 L Agrotain per ton Urea, while SuperU was applied as received.

The preplant N application was surface broadcasted with a 3-m wide dry fertilizer drop spreader (Barber Engineering Co.). For split applications, one-third N was applied with or without inhibitor as preplant while two-third of the N application was applied with Urea Ammonium Nitrate (UAN; 32% N) via a side-dress and three fertigations. The side-dress N application with UAN (32%) was performed in furrows, using the 6-m wide liquid applicator at 4-leaf maize growth stage (V4). To minimize NH₃ volatilization losses, 19.05 mm irrigation was applied within 24 hours following side-dressing. The center pivot with variable rate sprinkler irrigation was used for irrigation and fertigation (with UAN 28%) purposes. The GPS-based irrigation and fertigation maps were uploaded before irrigation and/or fertigation events. A detailed description of the N application rate and timing is provided in Table 4.1.

		Preplant	UAN [†]						
N timing [*]	Total N	application	V4	V8	V12	VT			
N method	101111	with N source	Side- dress		n				
N source		kg N ha ⁻¹							
I.I.	202	202	0	0	0	0			
UPP	(202) [‡]	(202)	(0)	(0)	(0)	(0)			
II	0	0	0	0	0	0			
Usplit	(202)	(68)	(68)	(22)	(22)	(22)			
	202	202	0	0	0	0			
(0+01)pp	(202)	(202)	(0)	(0)	(0)	(0)			
	202	67	33	34	34	34			
(0+01)split	(202)	(68)	(68)	(22)	(22)	(22)			
	264	264	0	0	0	0			
(U+UI+INI)PP	(202)	(202)	(0)	(0)	(0)	(0)			
(U+UI+NI) _{split}	264	88	74	34	34	34			
	(202)	(68)	(68)	(22)	(22)	(22)			
Chaolz	0	0	0	0	0	0			
CHECK	(0)	(0)	(0)	(0)	(0)	(0)			

Table 4.1 Timing of N application for various N sources at the study site in the year 2021 and 2022.

† UAN, Urea NH₄-NO₃.

*V4, 4-leaf stage; V8, 8-leaf stage; V12, 12-leaf stage; VT, tasseling.

‡ indicate N input values in 2021 and 2022 (in parenthesis).

To meet crop phosphorus requirements, the farmer applied Mono Ammonium Phosphate (MAP) before planting at 140 kg ha⁻¹ (equivalent to 16 kg N ha⁻¹) and 105 kg ha⁻¹ (equivalent to 12 kg N ha⁻¹) to the entire pivot field, including the experimental plots during 2021 and 2022, respectively. To meet potassium, magnesium, and sulfur needs, farmers broadcasted K-Mag from Mosaic at 86 kg K-Mag ha⁻¹ (equivalent to 19 kg K₂O, 10 kg Mg, 19 kg S) to entire pivot field, including the experimental plots before planting maize each year. The management decisions such as crop hybrid selection, herbicide application, and irrigation scheduling were at the discretion of the farmer.

Crop Yield, Nitrogen Use Efficiencies, And Economic Return

At the end of the season, the middle two 3-meter rows were hand-harvested and separated into maize grain, and stover (stalk, leaves, cobs). The stover was shredded using a portable woodchipper. Ears and subsamples of chopped maize stover were weighed and dried at 71°C to determine moisture content. Ears were shelled to separate grain and cobs. Grain and stover were milled and analyzed for total nitrogen using the dry combustion method at Ward Laboratories, Inc. (Kearney, NE). Hand harvest grain yield at 15.5% moisture, nitrogen concentration in grain and stover, and plant population were used to calculate total aboveground biomass, harvest index, nitrogen uptake by grain, plant, and nitrogen harvest index. Furthermore, several nitrogen use efficiency indicators (Congreves et al., 2021) including partial factor productivity (PFP, Eq. 4.1), agronomic efficiency (AE, Eq. 4.2), nitrogen recovery efficiency (NRE, Eq. 4.3), and economic returns including the net return to nitrogen (RTN; Eq. 4.4), and net return to nitrogen considering environmental costs (RTN_{Env}; Eq. 4.5) were calculated as follows:

PFP (kg kg⁻¹) =
$$\frac{\text{Grain yield}}{\text{Fertilizer N}}$$
 (Eq. 4.1)

AE
$$(\text{kg kg}^{-1}) = \frac{\text{Yield}_{trt} - \text{Yield}_{control}}{\text{Fertilizer N}}$$
 (Eq. 4.2)

 $NRE (\%) = \frac{Plant N uptake_{trt} - Plant N uptake_{control}}{Fertilizer N} x 100 (Eq. 4.3)$ $RTN = (Yield_{Corn} x Price_{Corn}) - (Input_N x Price_N) (Eq. 4.4)$

 $RTN_{Env} = RTN - (NO_3 - N_{leached} \times 18.54^*)$ (Eq. 4.5)

*18.54 US\$ kg⁻¹ NO₃-N was the environmental cost associated with NO₃-N leaching (Preza-Fontes et al., 2023; Sobota et al., 2015).

Lysimeter Installation And Water Sampling

To monitor the pore water NO₃-N and NH₄-N concentration below the crop rootzone, two suction-cup lysimeters were installed approximately 30m apart at 1.2 m soil depth in each experimental plot following the method described by Venterea et al., (2011) and Maharjan et al. (2014). The suction cup lysimeters were developed by the Irrometer Company Inc. (Model SSAT - Soil Solution Access Tube) and contained 100kPa high flow ceramic cup attached to rubber tubing designed to apply the pressure and collect water samples at the soil surface. The suction cup lysimeters were installed using silica powder slurry to cover the ceramic cup at the bottom of the vertical hole bored with a soil probe. The soil from the hole was used to re-fill the hole around the lysimeter tube, followed by the placement of a finely powdered bentonite layer at the soil surface to prevent the preferential flow of water. Pore-water samples from the lysimeters were collected one to three times a week following rain or irrigation events from 20 May to 15 October of 2021 and 13 May to 17 September of 2022. To pull the pore water from the ceramic cup, a pressure of ~80 kpa was applied to the suction cup through the rubber tubes. After about 4 hours, the rubber tube line was opened to collect the pore-water sample with a 20 ml syringe and acidified with 0.1N HCl before transferring to the lab in a cooler. There were 23 and 26 water sample collection events during the years 2021 and 2022, respectively.

Water Balance And NO₃-N Leaching Calculations

A soil water balance equation (Eq. 4.6) was used to estimate the draining water via deep percolation below the root zone using the following approach (Djaman & Irmak, 2013):

$$DP_i = P_i + I_i - R_i - ET_i \pm \Delta S_i$$
 (Eq. 4.6)

where DP is deep percolation, P is precipitation, I is irrigation, ET is evapotranspiration, ΔS is soil water storage in the root zone, and i is current day. Units are mm day⁻¹. The value of P was determined using High Plains Regional Climate Center (HPRCC) data collected at a weather station near the site, while I is the amount of irrigation applied in the field by the farmer. The ET values were calculated as a product of an alfalfa reference mean crop coefficient (Kcr) based on the stage of growing degree days (Lo et al., 2019) and the reference ET estimates incorporated with the daily weather data using the Penman-Monteith equation (Allen et al., 1998, 2000). The Kcr values for the curve were derived from the NDVI data collected during the R1 corn growth stage using the relationship [$K_{cr} = 1.308*(NDVI) + 0.027$] given by Singh & Irmak (2009) for irrigated corn in Nebraska. The water in the soil profile at the start of the growing season was assumed to be at field capacity. We estimated runoff for our experiment using the United States Department of Agriculture-Natural Resources Conservation Service (USDA NRCS) curve number method (USDA NRCS, 1985). Daily leaching amount of NO₃-N and NH₄-N were determined as the product of daily deep percolation and daily NO₃-N and NH₄-N concentration. The daily NO₃-N (Eq. 4.7) and NH₄-N amount from suctioncup lysimeters water sample were the product of (a) daily estimation(s) of deep percolation and (b) average of previous days pore water NO₃-N and NH₄-N

concentrations after last deep percolation event occurred, and (c) 0.01 (kg ha⁻¹) unit conversion factor (Pawlick et al., 2019).

$$[NO_3 - N]_{leached} = \frac{1}{n} \sum_{i=1}^{n} [NO_3 - N]_{120cm} \ge DP_i \ge 0.01 \text{ (Eq. 7)} (Eq. 4.7)$$

Seasonal average pore water NO₃-N concentrations use daily pore water NO₃ concentrations were averaged across days in the corn growth stage. Sub-seasonal pore water NO₃-N concentrations were calculated based on the corn growth stages and the sampling dates between (i) planting and 8-leaf stage (early vegetative phase), (ii) 8-leaf to tasseling (late vegetative phase), and (iii) tasseling to physiological maturity (reproductive phase), derived and validated from field observations to compute the effect of treatments over time (Rudnick et al., 2017; Singh et al., 2021). For seasonal pore water concentrations, the average was performed across all dates while the daily NO₃-N amounts were summed up for area-scaled based seasonal NO₃-N leaching losses. Our data showed that >70% of ammonium values were below detection limit, therefore, ammonium data analysis was not performed.

Residual Soil NO₃-N And NH₄-N Analysis

In fall, six undisturbed deep core (0-120 cm) soil samples were collected after corn harvest from each experimental plot within non-trafficked rows. The truck mounted Giddings hydraulic probe (Giddings Machine Co., Fort Collins, CO) was used for sampling soil cores with a diameter of 44 mm. The intact cores were sliced at the following depth increments: 0-30, 30-60, 60-90, and 90-120 cm. The six soil cores per plot were composited by depth before being transported to the lab in a cooler. The soil samples were extracted with 2M KCl solution (5:1 solution to soil ratio) after shaking for 1 hr, followed by filtration through Whatman #1 filter paper. Soil extracts from deep core soil samples and lysimeter water samples were analyzed for NO₃-N and NH₄-N concentration using VCl₃/Griess method (Miranda et al., 2001) and the Berthelot reaction (Kandeler & Gerber, 1988), respectively.

Statistical Analysis

Two-way repeated measures analysis of variance (ANOVA) was performed using PROC GLIMMIX with replication as a random factor, treatment as a fixed factor, and crop growth stage and/or date as a repeated fixed factor using the autoregressive (1) structure for the residuals (Singh et al., 2023), for analyzing the differences between (i) sub-seasonal, and (ii) daily pore water NO₃-N concentrations. One way ANOVA was performed with replication as a random factor and treatment as a fixed factor to analyze the differences among treatments for grain yield, biomass yield, grain N uptake, plant N uptake, harvest index, nitrogen harvest index, NO₃-N leaching, partial factor productivity, agronomic efficiency, N recovery efficiency, return to N, and return to N considering environmental costs. The least square means estimates were used to analyze the differences among treatments. Furthermore, the following contrasts were performed for agronomic and economic variables: "check vs. others", "U_{split} vs. (U+UI)_{PP} + (U+UI+NI)_{PP}", "(U+UI)_{split} + (U+UI+NI)_{split} vs. U_{split}", "(U+UI)_{split} + (U+UI+NI)_{split} vs. U_{PP} ", "(U+UI)_{split} + (U+UI+NI)_{split} vs. (U+UI)_{PP} + (U+UI+NI)_{PP}", "(U+UI)_{PP} + (U+UI+NI)PP vs. UPP". Two-way repeated measures ANOVA was performed each year using PROC GLIMMIX with replication as a random factor, treatment as a fixed factor, and depth as a repeated fixed factor for residual soil N (NO₃-N and NH₄-N). A contrast of "(U+UI)_{PP} vs. others" was performed for residual soil N. The significance was calculated at the 0.1 probability level.

Results

Weather Conditions

The growing season precipitation during 2021 (May through October; Figure 4.1a-c) and 2022 (April through September; Figure 4.1a-c) was 376 and 283 mm, respectively, which was 11 % and 25% lower than the last ten year's average growing season precipitation (424mm) at the site. The frequency of precipitation was different between the two years. In 2021, precipitation accounted for 15%, 49%, and 35% of the total growing season precipitation during the early vegetative, late vegetative, and reproductive phases, respectively (Figure 4.2). In 2022, the precipitation accounted for 45%, 25%, and 28% of total growing season precipitation received during the early vegetative, late vegetative, and reproductive phases, respectively. When total water inputs from precipitation and irrigation were considered, the water input in each growth stage differed from precipitation only. For example, in 2021, the higher total water input occurred in the reproductive phase (43%) and the late vegetative phase (43%) followed by early (14%) vegetative phase, respectively. While in 2022, the higher total water input occurred in the reproductive phase (46%) followed by the late (28%) and early (25%) vegetative phase, respectively.

NO₃-N Concentration In Lysimeters

The NO₃-N concentrations were analyzed from the water samples collected from the 23 and 26 leaching events following the precipitation and irrigation events during 2021 and 2022, respectively. Daily changes in pore-water NO₃-N concentrations are shown in Figures 4.1 (d-f) and 4.2 (d-f). During both years, pore-water nitrate concentration significantly varied over time, ranging from 0.01-18.30 mg L⁻¹ in 2021 and 0.23-393.44 mg L⁻¹ in 2022. In both years, significant treatment and crop growth stage interactions existed on pore-water NO₃-N concentration. In 2021, all EEF treatments including single and split applications had significantly lower pore-water NO₃-N concentrations than U_{PP} during early vegetative phases. However, these significant differences changed into marginally significant differences during the late vegetative phases. During late vegetative phases, pore-water NO₃-N concentration in (U+UI)_{split} and (U+UI+NI)_{PP} were significantly higher than U_{PP}, (U+UI)_{PP}, and (U+UI+NI)_{split}. During all growth stage, the check treatment had significantly lower pore-water NO₃-N concentration than all N-fertilized treatments.



Figure 4.1 The upper panels (a-c) show water inputs (mm) for three maize growth phases – early vegetative (planting to V8), late vegetative (V8-VT) and reproductive phases (R1-R6), while daily and subseasonal pore water NO₃-N concentrations (mg L⁻¹) are shown in the middle panels (d-f) and lower panels (g-i), respectively in 2021.



Figure 4.2 The upper panels (a-c) show water inputs (mm) for three maize growth phases – early vegetative (planting to V8), late vegetative (V8-VT) and reproductive phases (R1-R6), while daily and subseasonal pore water NO₃-N concentrations (mg L⁻¹) are shown in the middle panels (d-f) and lower panels (g-i), respectively in 2022.

In 2022, there were no statistical differences in pore-water NO₃-N concentration among all N-fertilized treatments during early reproductive phases. However, during the late vegetative phase, significant differences among N-fertilized treatments occurred due to pore-water NO₃-N concentration peaks for U_{split} , and $(U+UI+NI)_{split}$ treatments following UAN sidedressing. Conventional U_{split} had significantly higher pore-water NO₃-N concentration than all other N fertilizer treatments. $(U+UI)_{split}$ had significantly lower pore-water NO₃-N concentration than U_{PP} and U_{split} . While $(U+UI+NI)_{split}$ had a lower pore-water NO₃-N concentration than U_{split} , it had no differences with other N- fertilized treatments. There were no differences in pore-water NO₃-N concentration during reproductive phases among all N fertilizer treatments except U_{PP} , with significantly higher pore-water NO₃-N concentration. Like 2021, check had significantly lower pore-water NO₃-N concentration than N fertilized treatments during all crop growth stages.

When averaged across the entire season, there were significant treatment effect on pore-water NO₃-N concentration in both years (Figure 4.3). Pore-water NO₃-N concentrations from all the N fertilized treatments were significantly higher by 3-11 times than the check in both years. The $(U+UI)_{PP}$ (12.7 mg L⁻¹) and $(U+UI+NI)_{PP}$ (34.8 mg L⁻¹) decreased pore-water NO₃-N concentration by 78% and 39% than the conventional U_{split} (57.2 mg L⁻¹), respectively. Contrast analysis revealed that $(U+UI)_{PP} + (U+UI+NI)_{PP}$ (14.3 mg L⁻¹) had significantly lower average pore-water NO₃-N concentration by 64% than U_{PP} (39.5 mg L⁻¹) in both years. $(U+UI)_{split} + (U+UI+NI)_{split}$ (17.4 mg L⁻¹) had significantly lower pore-water NO₃-N concentration by 56% than the U_{PP}, but had significantly higher pore-water NO₃-N concentration by 21% than $(U+UI)_{PP} +$ $(U+UI+NI)_{PP}$ (14.3 mg L⁻¹) in both years. When averaged across all N fertilizer treatments, pore-water NO₃-N concentrations were six times higher in 2022 than in 2021.

			2021		2022						
Source of effects	ET‡	τd	NO ₃ -N	NO ₃ -N	ET:	τd	NO ₃ -N	NO ₃ -N			
Source of effects	L1.	DI	concentration	leaching	L1.	DI	concentration	leaching			
	mm		mg L ⁻¹	kg ha⁻¹	mm		mg L ⁻¹	kg ha ⁻¹			
UPP	583	85	7.5a [§]	20.9a	691	75	71a	63a			
U _{split}	-	-	-	-	687	76	57ab	43ab			
(U+UI) _{PP}	590	84	3.7c	7.4b	697	74	13cd	14b			
(U+UI) _{split}	590	84	7.2a	13.5ab	664	74	14cd	26ab			
(U+UI+NI) _{PP}	588	84	6.2b	10.3ab	695	74	35bc	17b			
(U+UI+NI)split	586	85	5.6b	15.9ab	693	75	43b	61a			
Check	579	86	2.0d	7.0b	657	76	3.4d	10b			
SE¶	-	-	0.7	2.7	-	-	8	14			
				Signif	ïcance (Pr>F	^r)					
ANOVA	-	-	<.0001	0.010	-	-	<.0001	0.059			
Check vs. Others	-	-	<.0002	0.025	-	-	<.0001	0.078			
U _{split} vs. EEF _{PP}	-	-	-	-	-	-	0.001	0.121			
U _{split} vs. EEF _{split}	-	-	-	-	-	-	0.005	0.956			
EEF _{split} vs. U _{PP}	-	-	0.039	0.048	-	-	<.0001	0.242			
EEF _{split} vs. EEF _{PP}	-	-	0.001	0.028	-	-	0.579	0.056			
EEF _{PP} vs. U _{PP}	-	-	<.0001	0.002	-	-	<.0001	0.012			

Table 4.2 Means, probability values, and contrast analysis for the effect of N treatments on NO₃-N concentrations and NO₃-N leaching during 2021 and 2022.

‡ ET, Evapotranspiration.

† DP, Deep Percolation.

§ Least significant difference at the 90% confidence level by PROC GLIMMIX-SAS treatment means followed by the same letter are not significantly different. Columns that do not contain letters indicate no significant difference between treatments. The bold represents significant p-values at 0.10.

SE, standard error



Figure 4.3 Seasonal average pore water NO₃-N concentrations (mg L⁻¹; a, b) and NO₃-N leaching (kg ha⁻¹; c, d) as affected by N treatments in 2021 and 2022.

Seasonal NO₃-N leaching

Total seasonal NO₃-N leaching was calculated from the pore-water NO₃-N concentration and deep percolation below the corn root zone depth. Averaged across the entire season, there were significant treatment effects on NO₃-N leaching in both years. Nitrate leaching from all the N fertilized treatments was significantly higher by three times (202%) than the check treatment in both years. Though not significantly different, $(U+UI)_{PP}$ (14 kg ha⁻¹) and $(U+UI+NI)_{PP}$ (17 kg ha⁻¹) decreased NO₃-N leaching by 67% and 60% than conventional U_{split} (64 kg ha⁻¹), respectively, in 2022. Contrast analysis showed both $(U+UI)_{PP} + (U+UI+NI)_{PP}$ (12 kg ha⁻¹) decreased NO₃-N leaching by 74% and 68% than U_{PP} (42 kg ha⁻¹) in 2021 and 2022, respectively. $(U+UI)_{split}$ had significantly lower NO₃-N leaching than conventional U_{split}, however, there were no

significant differences between $(U+UI+NI)_{split}$ (17 kg ha⁻¹) and conventional U_{split} (43 kg ha⁻¹) in 2022. $(U+UI)_{split} + (U+UI+NI)_{split}$ (15 kg ha⁻¹) had significantly lower NO₃-N leaching by 35% than the U_{PP} (21 kg ha⁻¹) in 2021, but $(U+UI)_{split} + (U+UI+NI)_{split}$ (29 kg ha⁻¹) had significantly higher NO₃-N leaching by 138% than $(U+UI)_{PP} + (U+UI+NI)_{PP}$ (12 kg ha⁻¹) in both years. When averaged across all N fertilizer treatments, NO₃-N leaching was 2.7 times higher in 2022 than in 2021.

Grain Yield And Other Agronomic Parameters

There were significant treatment effects on grain and biomass yield in both years (Table 4.3). Contrast analysis revealed that all the N fertilized treatments had significantly higher grain and biomass yield than the check treatment in both years. However, there were no significant treatment differences in grain yield among N fertilizer treatments in 2022. Despite insignificant yield differences, there were 2.0-2.4 Mg ha⁻¹ higher grain yield in Agrotain and (U+UI+NI)_{split} than other fertilized treatments in 2022. In 2021, $(U+UI)_{PP} + (U+UI+NI)_{PP}$ (16.8 Mg ha⁻¹) significantly increased corn grain yield by 15% than U_{PP} (14.6 Mg ha⁻¹). Similarly, (U+UI)_{split} + (U+UI+NI)_{split} (16.1 Mg ha⁻¹) significantly increased grain yield by 10% than U_{PP} (14.6 Mg ha⁻¹). Though there was a tendency for higher grain yield with a single application of EEFs, EEFs applied as pre-plant were statistically insignificant than when used in a split application (i.e., (U+UI)_{split} + (U+UI+NI)_{split}). When averaged across all N fertilizer treatments, grain yield was 56% (9.1 Mg ha⁻¹) higher in 2021 than in 2022. There were significant treatment differences in grain and plant N uptake in both years. Contrast analysis revealed that all the N-fertilized treatments had significantly higher grain and plant N uptake than the check in both years. Unlike grain yield, N fertilizer treatments had an inconsistent effect on grain and plant N uptake in both years. In 2021, N fertilizer

treatment did not affect grain and plant N uptake except for significantly higher grain N uptake with $(U+UI)_{PP} + (U+UI+NI)_{PP}$ than the $(U+UI)_{split} + (U+UI+NI)_{split}$. Likewise, in 2022, N fertilizer treatments had no significant effect on grain and plant N uptake, except significantly higher plant N uptake in $(U+UI)_{PP} + (U+UI+NI)_{PP}$ and $(U+UI)_{split} + (U+UI+NI)_{split}$ than in U_{PP} (Table 4.3).

For PFP, there was a trend of higher PFP values with the use of EEFs either in single or split application than the U_{PP} and conventional U_{split} treatments with significant effects in 2021 only (Table 4.4). A similar trend was observed for AE. Though there was no significant effect of N fertilizer treatments on NRE in both years, EEF treatments including both preplant and split N application had significantly higher NRE than the U_{PP} in 2022.

Economics

Considering the economic and environmental importance of N use, we computed the net returns to N (RTN) and economic returns after considering the environmental costs associated with NO₃-N leaching (RTN_{Env}). Treatments had a variable effect on RTN and RTN_{Env} across both years. There were more significant N fertilizer treatment effects on RTN and RTN_{Env} in 2021 than in 2022. The contrast analysis revealed \$415 ha⁻¹ and \$639 ha⁻¹ higher RTN and RTN_{Env} in (U+UI)_{PP} + (U+UI+NI)_{PP} than the U_{PP} in 2021. Similarly, RTN and RTN_{Env} were \$268 ha⁻¹ and \$384 ha⁻¹ higher in (U+UI)_{split} + (U+UI+NI)_{split} than in the U_{PP} in 2021. Moreover, (U+UI)_{PP} + (U+UI+NI)_{PP} had \$255 ha⁻¹ higher RTN_{Env} than (U+UI)_{split} + (U+UI+NI)_{split} in 2021 (Table 4.4). While in 2022, (U+UI)_{PP} + (U+UI+NI)_{PP} had \$1114 ha⁻¹ and \$537 ha⁻¹ higher RTN_{Env} than the U_{PP} and conventional U_{split}, respectively. When averaged across all N fertilizer treatments, RTN and RTN_{Env} were \$351 ha⁻¹ and \$408 ha⁻¹ higher in 2021 than 2022, respectively.

Source 2021							2022					
of of	Yield (Mg ha ⁻¹)		N uptake (kg ha ⁻¹)		NDRE	ELNC	Yield (Mg ha ⁻¹)		N uptake (kg ha ⁻¹)		NDRE	ELNC
effects	Grain	Biomass	Grain	Plant [‡]		%	Grain	Biomass	Grain	Plant [‡]		%
U_{PP}	14.6	18.7	258	321	0.7	2.71	13.5	21.0	160	352	0.71	2.85
	b§	a	а	а	а	a	ab	bc	ab	ab	ab	ab
U _{split}	_	_	_	_	_	_	13.3	22.7	171	413	0.75	3.00
	_	_	-	-	-	_	ab	abc	ab	ab	a	а
(U+ UI)pp	17.0	21.2	296	363	0.7	2.89	15.9	25.8	201	473	0.75	2.98
	а	a	а	а	а	а	а	ab	а	а	а	ab
(U+ UI) _{split}	15.7 ab	19.7 a	222 ab	279 ab	0.6 a	2.88 a	13.8 ab	29.1 a	176 ab	488 a	0.76 a	2.96 ab
(U+UI +NI)pp	16.7 а	20.6 a	255 ab	305 ab	0.6 a	3.02 a	13.7 ab	24.7 ab	166 ab	430 ab	0.73 ab	2.96 ab
(U+UI+ NI) _{split}	16.5 ab	20.9 a	251 a	323 a	0.6 a	3.09 a	15.6 a	27.6 ab	193 a	460 a	0.75 a	2.92 ab
Check	9.4	12.3	158	200	0.5	2.10	10.5	16.8	116	250	0.67	2.67
	с	b	b	b	b	b	b	с	b	b	b	b
SE¶	0.5	0.6	19	25	0.01	0.10	1.0	1.8	17	45	0.01	0.08
					S	ignifican	ce (Pr>l	F)				
ANOVA	<.001	<.001	0.01	0.01	<.001	0.01	0.019	0.002	0.015	0.008	0.006	0.105

Table 4.3 Treatment means, significance, and contrast analysis of grain yield, biomass yield, grain-N uptake, plant-N uptake, vegetation indices, and ear leaf nitrogen concentration (ELNC) as affected by treatments in 2021 and 2022 at Creighton, NE.

Check												
VS.	<.001	<.001	0.01	0.01	<.001	<.001	0.002	0.000	0.001			
Others										0.001	0.000	0.006
U _{split} vs.							0.185	0 105	0 425			
EEF _{PP}	-	-	-	-	-	-	0.165	0.195	0.433	0.413	0.355	0.729
U _{split} vs.							0 222	0.011	0 421			
EEF _{split}	-	-	-	-	-	-	0.222	0.011	0.421	0.207	0.965	0.525
EEF _{split}	0.02	0.04	0.312	0 503	0.015	0.030	0.201	0.002	0.162			
vs. U _{PP}	0.02	0.04	0.312	0.505	0.013	0.039	0.291	0.002	0.102	0.020	0.031	0.367
EEF _{split}												
VS.	0.119	0.292	0.039	0.192	0.190	0.785	0.889	0.069	0.976			
EEF _{PP}										0.562	0.283	0.719
EEF _{PP}	0.002	0 000	0.404	0 663	0 109	0.057	0.245	0.045	0 168			
vs. U _{PP}	0.002	0.009	0.404	0.005	0.108	0.057	0.243	0.045	0.108	0.049	0.151	0.239

‡ Plant N uptake is the sum of grain and stover N uptake.

§ Least significant difference at the 90% confidence level by PROC GLIMMIX-SAS treatment means followed by the same letter are not significantly different. Columns that do not contain letters indicate no significant difference between treatments. The bold represents significant p-values at 0.10.

¶ SE, standard error of the mean.

	2021						2022					
Source of effects	PFP	AE	$\mathbf{NDE}(0/)$	RTN	RTN _{Env}	PFP	AE	$\mathbf{NDE}(0/)$	RTN	RTN _{Env}		
	kg	kg ⁻¹	- INKE (%)	\$	\$ ha ⁻¹		kg ⁻¹	- INKE (%)	9	ha^{-1}		
Upp	72b [§]	26b	60	915b	528c	63	15	51	621	-131		
U _{split}						62	14	81	568	445		
(U+UI) _{PP}	84a	37a	81	1365a	1229a	74	27	111	1284	1203		
(U+UI) _{split}	78ab	31ab	39	1116ab	866b	64	16	118	700	393		
(U+UI+NI) _{PP}	83a	36a	52	1295a	1104ab	64	16	89	651	763		
(U+UI+NI) _{split}	82a	35a	58	1250a	956b	73	25	104	1199	499		
SE	2.5	2.5	13	100	120	5	8	19	269	304		
					Significat	nce (Pr>F)					
ANOVA	0.039	0.039	0.223	0.051	0.003	0.149	0.145	0.230	0.150	0.121		
U _{split} vs. EEF _{PP}	-	-	-	-	-	0.145	0.141	0.431	0.167	0.161		
U _{split} vs. EEF _{split}	-	-	-	-	-	0.178	0.174	0.225	0.186	0.998		
EEF _{split} vs. U _{PP}	0.030	0.030	0.433	0.043	0.006	0.243	0.246	0.027	0.250	0.135		
EEF _{split} vs. EEF _{PP}	0.161	0.161	0.153	0.145	0.016	0.875	0.871	0.576	0.936	0.094		
EEF _{PP} vs. U _{PP}	0.005	0.005	0.654	0.006	0.001	0.200	0.198	0.060	0.226	0.011		

Table 4.4 Treatment means, significance, and contrast analysis of partial factor productivity (PFP), agronomic efficiency (AE), nitrogen recovery efficiency (NRE), return to N (RTN), and RTN considering environmental costs (RTN_{Env}) as affected by treatments in 2021 and 2022 at Creighton, NE

§ Least significant difference at the 90% confidence level by PROC GLIMMIX-SAS treatment means followed by the same letter are not significantly different. Columns that do not contain letters indicate no significant difference between treatments. The bold represents significant p-values at 0.10.

¶ SE, standard error of the mean.

Source of affacts	Residual soil N (kg ha ⁻¹)								
Source of effects	20	21	2022						
Treatment	NO ₃ -N	NH ₄ -N	NO ₃ -N	NH ₄ -N					
U _{PP}	0.17	3.79	4.04cd	14.78ab					
U _{split}	-	-	9.93ab	13.47ab					
(U+UI) _{PP}	0.57	17.43	10.79a	15.44a					
(U+UI) _{split}	0.01	5.90	5.04bcd	15.66a					
(U+UI+NI) _{PP}	0.65	4.58	7.96abc	13.50ab					
(U+UI+NI) _{split}	0.18	6.03	3.39d	13.20ab					
Check	0.00	4.13	1.89d	11.15b					
SE¶	0.30	6.51	1.74	1.86					
Depth (cm)									
0-30	0.21b§	12.29	7.43a	12.49b					
30-60	0.15b	4.76	3.40b	13.40ab					
60-90	0.06b	5.04	3.48b	14.77a					
90-120	0.63a	5.82	9.71a	14.87a					
SE	0.23	4.88	1.12	1.4					
	ANOVA	(Pr > F)							
Treatment	0.415	0.631	0.046	0.094					
Depth	0.063	0.535	0.001	0.063					
Treatment x Depth	0.115	0.719	0.595	0.529					
	Contrast	analysis							
Others vs. Check	0.312	0.001	0.002	0.009					
U _{split} vs. EEF _{PP}	-	-	0.797	0.440					
U _{split} vs. EEF Split	-	-	0.008	0.460					
EEF Split vs. U _{PP}	0.854	0.824	0.924	0.643					
EEF split vs. EEF _{PP}	0.080	0.441	0.001	0.968					
EEF _{PP} vs. U _{PP}	0.327	0.464	0.004	0.620					
(U+UI) _{PP} vs. others	0.216	0.093	0.001	0.083					

Table 4.5 Treatment means, significance, and contrast analysis for post-harvest soil NO₃-N and NH₄-N at 0-1.2 m soil depth as affected by treatments in 2021 and 2022 at Creighton, NE

§ Least significant difference at the 90% confidence level by PROC GLIMMIX-SAS treatment means followed by the same letter are not significantly different. Columns that do not contain letters indicate no significant difference between treatments.
¶ SE, standard error of the mean.

Residual Soil Nitrogen

Across both years, no significant interactions existed between treatment and soil depth on residual soil NO₃-N and NH₄-N (Table 4.5). In 2021, treatments did not affect soil NO₃-N and NH₄-N; however, soil depth significantly affected soil NO₃-N. Soil NO₃-N was considerably higher at the lower 90-120cm (0.63 kg N ha⁻¹) than the Upper soil depths (0.06-0.21 kg N ha⁻¹). Though not significant, NH₄-N was four times higher in $(U+UI)_{PP}$ (17 kg N ha⁻¹) than in check (4 kg N ha⁻¹) and 3 to 5 times higher than all N fertilized treatments (4-6 kg N ha⁻¹) in 2021.

In 2022, both treatments and depth significantly affected soil NO₃-N and soil NH₄-N (Table 4.5). Both soil residual NO₃-N and NH₄-N increased with soil depth. Most N-fertilized treatments had significantly higher soil NO₃-N and NH₄-N than the check. Within N fertilized treatments, soil residual NO₃-N ranged from 3.4-11 kg N ha⁻¹ with the highest soil residual NO₃-N in $(U+UI)_{PP}$ (11 kg N ha⁻¹) and lowest in $(U+UI+NI)_{split}$ (3.4 kg N ha⁻¹). In 2022, residual NH₄-N ranged from 13.2-15.7 kg N ha⁻¹ and had the highest NH₄-N concentration in the $(U+UI)_{PP}$ (15.4 kg N ha⁻¹) and $(U+UI)_{split}$ (15.7 kg N ha⁻¹) treatments. It was interesting to observe that all the treatments had higher soil NH₄-N than the NO₃-N. Compared to 2021, 2022 had 23 times and two times higher soil NO₃-N and NH₄-N was 1.1 kg NO₃-N ha⁻¹ and 28 kg NH₄-N ha⁻¹ in 2021 and 24 kg NO₃-N ha⁻¹ and 55 kg NH₄-N ha⁻¹ in 2022, respectively.
Discussion

NO₃-N Leaching

Split N application is considered as an effective strategy to reduce NO₃-N leaching in sandy soils (Mueller et al., 2017; Preza-Fontes et al., 2021; C. A. Shapiro et al., 2019; Sitthaphanit et al., 2009). The University of Nebraska-Lincoln recommends using at least 60% of total N inputs during the growing season for sandy soils (Iqbal et al., 2023). Given the increasing NO_3 -N concentration in the groundwater of Nebraska, Natural Resource Districts of Nebraska are increasingly looking to find additional strategies to minimize the NO₃-N leaching in the wellhead protection areas. Meanwhile, there is increasing evidence that the use of EEFs, including the urease and nitrification inhibitors, can significantly reduce N losses without impacting corn yield and economic returns at suboptimal (Rose et al., 2018; Allende-Montalbán et al., 2021), or optimal N rates (Abalos et al., 2014; Díez-López et al., 2008; Diez et al., 2010; Nelson et al., 2008; Sanz-Cobena et al., 2012; M D Serna et al., 1994; María D Serna et al., 2000; Wilson et al., 2010). However, no study has reported the use of EEFs at suboptimal N rates to reduce NO₃-N leaching, especially in comparison with conventional split N application. Moreover, very few studies have evaluated the effect of urease inhibitors on NO₃-N leaching under field conditions (Dawar et al., 2011a, 2011b; Sanz-Cobena et al., 2012; Zaman et al., 2009).

In this study, 40-78% lower pore-water NO₃-N concentration and 60-67% NO₃-N leaching with $(U+UI)_{PP}$ and $(U+UI+NI)_{PP}$ compared to conventional U_{split} indicate that the use of EEFs can be very effective in reducing NO₃-N leaching in the vulnerable sandy soils of BGMA and elsewhere. These results were similar to Deiz et al. (2010), who found that a single pre-plant application of DCD and DMPP (3,4-dimethylpyrazole

phosphate) nitrification inhibitors at the recommended N rate significantly decreased NO₃-N leaching by 29% without impacting corn yield when compared to split N application. They attributed the reduction in NO₃-N leaching to 30% lower soil NO₃-N production in the nitrification inhibitor plots than with no nitrification inhibitor. The lower NO₃-N leaching from (U+UI)_{PP} + (U+UI+NI)_{PP} in our study could be due to delay in urea hydrolysis and ammonium oxidation as the previous studies have shown that urease and nitrification inhibitors can slow the release of NH₄-N and NO₃-N for 16-95 days under favorable conditions and thus, reduce the risk of NO₃-N leaching compared to conventional N sources with single pre-plant or split N application (Allende-Montalbán et al., 2021; Chaves et al., 2006; Irigoyen et al., 2003; Serna et al., 2000). Additionally, the dry years in our study might have delayed the conversion of urea to NH₄-N, resulting in lower NO₃-N concentrations and, subsequently, NO₃-N leaching.

In contrast, Mateo-Marín et al. (2020) observed no differences in NO₃-N leaching and grain yield between EEFs when used as pre-plant vs. split application in the sandy soil of a maize-wheat rotation in Spain. However, the insignificant effect in their study could be due to non-limiting N availability at an optimum N rate than a suboptimum N rate, as Rose et al. (2018) in a meta-analysis suggested that beneficial effects of EEFs on improving nitrogen use efficiency and reducing N losses are more likely at suboptimal N rates. Furthermore, it is worth mentioning that grain yield across both years from suboptimal rates of (U+UI)_{PP} and (U+UI+NI)_{PP} in this study (16.4 and 15.2 Mg ha⁻¹ at 180 kg N ha⁻¹) was similar to grain yield at optimum N rates with (U+UI)_{split} application (15.6 Mg ha⁻¹ at 230 kg N ha⁻¹) in our companion study (Singh et al., under review). At the same time, (U+UI)_{PP} and (U+UI+NI)_{PP} at suboptimal N rate in this study had 53-62% lower NO₃-N leaching (10.8 and 13.6 kg NO₃-N ha⁻¹ at 180 kg N ha⁻¹) than (U+UI)_{split} application at optimal N rate (28.7 kg NO₃-N ha⁻¹ at 230 kg N ha⁻¹) in the companion study. This clearly provides evidence that using EEFs at suboptimal N rates could substantially mitigate NO₃-N leaching without impacting corn yield. Furthermore, as expected, (U+UI)_{PP} + (U+UI+NI)_{PP} had 71% lower NO₃-N leaching than U_{PP}, confirming the significant advantage of using urease and nitrification inhibitors in slowing the release of nitrogen and decreasing NO₃-N leaching losses than the conventional urea nitrogen source, as reported in previous studies (Prakash et al., 1999; Zaman et al., 2009; Zvomuya et al., 2003).

Though urease inhibitor, when used in the split application (i.e., $(U+UI)_{split}$), showed a trend of lower NO₃-N leaching than the conventional U_{split} and U_{PP}, the NO₃-N leaching from $(U+UI)_{split} + (U+UI+NI)_{split}$ was generally higher than $(U+UI)_{PP} +$ $(U+UI+NI)_{PP}$, indicating significant benefits of using EEFs in a single application than split nitrogen application with EFFs. These results were similar to the observation by Allende-Motalban et al. (2021) who found that a single application of urease inhibitors was more effective in delaying urease activity, slowing N availability, and reducing potential N losses than the split application of urea with urease inhibitors in sandy soil in corn. Moreover, in this study, though conventional U_{split} decreased NO₃-N leaching by 33% compared to U_{PP} (63.5 vs. 42.6 kg N ha⁻¹) in 2022, it did not provide as many benefits in decreasing NO₃-N leaching as indicated by insignificant differences between U_{PP} vs. U_{split}. This was likely due to significant NO₃-N leaching losses immediately after UAN sidedressing, as reflected by higher pore-water NO₃-N concentration during the early part of the late vegetative phase (Figure 4.1). This illustrates the significant vulnerability of UAN to NO₃-N leaching losses during the early growing season (VE to V8) when there is less crop N uptake (Liu et al., 2019; Rutan & Steinke, 2018; Shapiro et al., 2016; Woolfolk et al., 2002).

Regardless of the treatment's effect on NO₃-N leaching, we observed more considerable differences in NO₃-N leaching between the two study years. It was interesting to observe that higher NO₃-N leaching losses in 2022 than in 2021 were not due to percolation but higher NO₃-N concentration in water samples (Table 4.3.2), contradicting the common understanding that NO₃-N leaching amount is mainly driven by drainage amount (Diez et al., 1997; Pittelkow et al., 2017; Sanz-Cobena et al., 2012; Tan et al., 1996; Yagüe & Quílez, 2010). The higher NO₃-N concentration in 2022 could partly be due to disk tillage by farmer in 2022 than no-till in 2021, as rainfall intensification has been shown to increase NO₃-N leaching from tilled cropping systems compared to no-till cropping system (Hess et al., 2020; Ritter et al., 1993). Nonetheless, the dry conditions of this experimental study must be considered when interpreting the NO₃-N leaching results. However, we speculate an even greater benefit of using EEFs with normal or wet years when there could be more vulnerable conditions for NO₃-N leaching losses with higher drainage volume during the early growing season.

Crop Yield, Nitrogen Uptake, And Net Returns

Previous studies have reported either a significant improvement (Allende-Montalbán et al., 2021; Khan et al., 2014) or no effect of EEFs on crop yield (Diez et al., 2010; Woodley et al., 2020). In a meta-analysis, Rose et al. (2018) suggested that EEFs are unlikely to increase crop and biomass yields beyond conventional nitrogen fertilizers when applied at the economic optimum N rate. In this study, although using EEFs did not consistently improve corn grain yield across both years, there was a trend of higher grain yield and plant biomass with EEF treatments compared to the conventional U_{split} and U_{PP} in 2022. Moreover, there was a significantly higher grain yield with EEFs than U_{PP} in 2021. The higher grain yield with EEFs was reflected by relatively higher grain and plant N uptake, PFP, AE, and NRE in the EFF treatments (particularly $(U+UI)_{PP}$) than the conventional U_{split} and U_{PP} treatments (Tables 4 and 5). These results confirm the previous findings that the urease and nitrification inhibitors significantly improve nitrogen use efficiency and crop N uptake (Abalos et al., 2014; Shapiro et al., 2016; Zaman et al., 2009). Moreover, the higher NRE with the $(U+UI)_{PP} + (U+UI+NI)_{PP}$ than the U_{split} and U_{PP} illustrates the ability of these nitrogen products to stabilize the N during the growing season, as previous studies revealed that the effect of urease and nitrification inhibitors in stabilizing N in the soil can last for 16-95 days during the favorable conditions (Allende-Montalbán et al., 2021; Chaves et al., 2006; Irigoyen et al., 2003; Serna et al., 2000). These results were consistent with the improvement in crop yield benefits with EEFs in the previous findings (Allende-Montalbán et al., 2021; Khan et al., 2014; Maharjan et al., 2014b; Shapiro et al., 2016; Woodley et al., 2020). In a metaanalysis, Rose et al. (2018) revealed that using EEFs significantly enhanced crop yield upto 11% at sub-optimal N rates. In another study, Allende-Montalban et al. (2021) reported that a single pre-plant application of N inhibitors resulted in higher corn yield and NUE than the split application of Urea with inhibitor. They attributed the improved grain yield and NUE from a single pre-plant application of N inhibitor to decreased urease activity, better synchronization of N release from EEFs and crop N uptake, and higher grain N uptake. Meanwhile, other studies found no difference between single preplant application of EEFs and split application with conventional N source on corn yield (Allende-Montalbán et al., 2021; B. Ren et al., 2022).

In this study, the relatively higher NRE with EEFs than the U_{split} and U_{PP} can also be explained by lower NO₃-N leaching losses and potentially higher soil N availability with high crop N uptake in EEFs treatments (Drury et al., 2017; Ren et al., 2022). Zaman et al. (2008) reported that plants take less energy to convert NH₄-N or Urea-N to amides, amino acids, and proteins from the Agrotain-coated urea. Similar trends of increased efficiency of plants in utilizing NH₄-N and Urea-N from the Agrotain-coated fertilizer than the regular urea was reported in literature (Blennerhassett et al., 2006; Quin et al., 2006). These facts suggest that in our study, $(U+UI)_{PP} + (U+UI+NI)_{PP}$ might have retained the nitrogen in urea-N or NH₄-N forms for a more extended period of time, thereby increasing the crop N uptake, NRE, and resulting in less NO_3 -N leaching losses. Overall, the better crop yield, NRE, and lower NO_3 -N leaching from EEFs, particularly from the $(U+UI)_{PP} + (U+UI+NI)_{PP}$ in our study, indicate that the use of EEFs can be a win-win strategy to largely increase the environmental and economic benefits in the groundwater contaminated areas. This was further illustrated by the significantly higher RTN and RTN_{Env} values from the EEF treatments than U_{PP} in 2021 and significantly higher RTN_{Env} from the EEF treatments than U_{split} and U_{PP} in 2022. In fact, these results provide clear evidence that the use of EEFs can not only reduce the environmental damage cost associated with NO₃-N removal from the NO₃-N contaminated water but also increase farm profits. Moreover, in addition to higher RTN and RTN_{Env} benefits, single pre-plant application of EEFs ((U+UI)_{PP} and (U+UI+NI)_{PP}) can also provide other economic and environmental benefits (not included in our economic analysis) including

less machinery use (farmer's time, gas, CO₂ emissions, oil, and soil compaction effect) (Allende-Motalban et al., 2021) and reduced in-season N₂O emissions and NH₃ volatilization associated with split N application (Ren et al., 2019; Venterea et al., 2011). Furthermore, using EEF at suboptimal rates provides a similar corn yield than the optimum N rate with regular N fertilizers (as referred to above with companion study -Singh et al., under review; Shapiro et al., 2016), thereby further increasing economic benefits with less N input and more environmental benefits. Reduced N rates can also result in other long-term benefits including reduced soil acidification, liming needs, and other associated long-term management costs (Rose et al., 2018). Therefore, we recommend that in addition to crop yield and environmental advantages, additional benefits of using EEFs at a reduced N rate be considered when evaluating their economic and environmental performance.

Residual Soil Nitrogen

Post-harvest soil N can significantly impact NO₃-N leaching losses during the winter period in the US Midwest (Bohman et al., 2020; Iqbal et al., 2018). In this study, (U+UI)_{PP} had higher residual soil NH₄-N than the other treatments in 2021, which indicates some effects of urease inhibitors in retaining nitrogen in stable NH₄-N form for a prolonged time. These results were consistent with the findings of Allende-Montalbán et al. (2021) who reported lower urease activity in soil after maize harvest in the pre-plant urease inhibitor treatment than in the check treatment. However, in 2022 of this study, (U+UI)_{PP} had statistically similar NH₄-N than other fertilized treatments and similar NO₃-N than U_{split} and (U+UI+NI)_{PP} which suggests that different effect of urease inhibitor in 2022 than in 2021 on residual soil N could be due to specific site-year's soil, tillage management, crop phenology, and weather conditions (Corrochano-Monsalve et al.,

2020; Dong et al., 2018). Nevertheless, the significantly higher residual soil NO₃-N and NH₄-N in all fertilizer treatments in 2022 suggests that despite adopting the best practice of split N application, there remains considerable potential for off-season N losses in some years. Moreover, the sum of residual soil inorganic N at 0-1.2 m depth was two times higher than the NO₃-N leaching losses each year (14 kg NO₃-N ha⁻¹ in 2021, 37 kg NO₃-N ha⁻¹ in 2022). These results were supported by previous studies that indicated considerable risk for off-season N losses in the US Midwest agricultural system (Bohman et al., 2020; Shapiro et al., 2016; Tan et al., 1996).

Notably, 2022 had 23 times higher soil residual NO₃-N and two times higher soil residual NH₄-N across all treatments than in 2021, which coincided with higher NO₃-N leaching losses (14-63 kg NO₃-N ha⁻¹) and lowering grain yield (13-16 Mg ha⁻¹) in 2022 than in 2021 (7-21 kg NO₃-N ha⁻¹, 15-17 Mg ha⁻¹). Though lower grain yield in 2022 could explain the higher NO_3 -N leaching losses and high residual N, we believe the higher NO₃-N losses and residual in 2022 could partly be due to disk tillage practice in 2022 that could have led to higher organic matter mineralization, as indicated by higher NRE than applied N in some treatments in 2022 (Table 4.4). These results suggest that change in N dynamics (organic matter mineralization, crop N uptake, and NO₃-N leaching, etc.) resulting from inter-annual variability is the major impediment to mitigating N losses into the environment (Bohman et al., 2020). Moreover, across both years, it was interesting to observe 2.7 times higher residual soil NH₄-N than residual soil NO₃-N, likely originating from fertilizer and organic matter mineralization. This was similar to the results of companion studies (Singh et al., under review) and another of our recent study in central Nebraska, where we found significantly higher NH₄-N than NO₃-

N (Neels et al., 2024). The higher levels of NH₄-N in these studies indicate a missing N credit in UNL fertilizer recommendation where only NO₃-N credits are considered for N recommendations (Iqbal et al., 2023).

Conclusion

Using conventional N sources presents a significant challenge in reducing N losses. Meanwhile, EEFs are emerging to stabilize N and better synchronize the N availability with crop N uptake, thereby decreasing environmental N losses in soils vulnerable to NO₃-N leaching. In this study, conventional U_{split} application did not significantly decrease NO₃-N leaching, corn yield, and economic returns compared to U_{PP}. However, the use of EEFs (i.e., UI and UI+NI) in single pre-plant application not only substantially decreased NO₃-N leaching with the levels approaching check treatments in both years but had the same or even better crop yield and improved economic returns than conventional U_{split} and U_{PP}. Notably, though the split application of EEFs with UAN decreased NO₃-N leaching and increased corn yield than U_{PP}, the single application of EEFs had significantly lower NO₃-N leaching than their split application with UAN (i.e., (U+UI)_{split}, and (U+UI+NI)_{split}). Across all N treatments, the lower NO₃-N leaching from single pre-plant application of EEFs was also explained by relatively higher grain and biomass yield, crop N uptake, NRE, PFP, and AE, indicating these treatments as the most efficient N management system for improving N recovery efficiency. These findings provide clear evidence that using EEFs as pre-plant could be a very effective strategy in mitigating NO₃-N leaching losses while improving economic benefits in groundwater-contaminated areas. We propose further exploring additional environmental (potentially reduced greenhouse gas emissions) and economic benefits

(reduced N rate, soil acidification, liming needs, oil use, machinery use, etc.) of using EEFs in the future.

References

- Abalos, D., Jeffery, S., Sanz-Cobena, A., Guardia, G., & Vallejo, A. (2014). Metaanalysis of the effect of urease and nitrification inhibitors on crop productivity and nitrogen use efficiency. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment, 189*, 136–144.
- Allen, R. G., Pereira, L. S., Raes, D., & Smith, M. (1998). Crop evapotranspiration-Guidelines for computing crop water requirements-FAO Irrigation and drainage paper 56. *Fao, Rome*, 300(9), D05109.
- Allen, R. G., Smith, M., Pereira, L. S., Raes, D., & Wright, J. L. (2000). Revised FAO procedures for calculating evapotranspiration: irrigation and drainage paper no. 56 with testing in Idaho. In *Watershed Management and Operations Management 2000* (pp. 1–10).
- Allende-Montalbán, R., Martín-Lammerding, D., Delgado, M. del M., Porcel, M. A., &
 Gabriel, J. L. (2021). Urease inhibitors effects on the nitrogen use efficiency in a
 maize–wheat rotation with or without water deficit. *Agriculture*, *11*(7), 684.
- Banger, K., Wagner-Riddle, C., Grant, B. B., Smith, W. N., Drury, C., & Yang, J. (2020).
 Modifying fertilizer rate and application method reduces environmental nitrogen
 losses and increases corn yield in Ontario. *Science of the Total Environment*, 722, 137851. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.137851
- Bartels, A. J. (2022). To protect and conserve: Fifty years of Nebraska's Natural Resources Districts. *Journal of Soil and Water Conservation*, 77(3), 37A-42A.

- Beaudoin, N., Saad, J. K., Van Laethem, C., Machet, J. M., Maucorps, J., & Mary, B. (2005). Nitrate leaching in intensive agriculture in Northern France: Effect of farming practices, soils and crop rotations. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment, 111*(1–4), 292–310.
- Bhatti, S., Heeren, D. M., Barker, J. B., Neale, C. M. U., Woldt, W. E., Maguire, M. S.,
 & Rudnick, D. R. (2020). Site-specific irrigation management in a sub-humid
 climate using a spatial evapotranspiration model with satellite and airborne imagery. *Agricultural Water Management*, 230, 105950.
- Blennerhassett, J. D., Quin, B. F., Zaman, M., & Ramakrishnan, C. (2006). The potential for increasing nitrogen responses using Agrotain treated urea. *Proceedings of the New Zealand Grassland Association*, 297–301.
- Bohman, B. J., Rosen, C. J., & Mulla, D. J. (2020). Impact of variable rate nitrogen and reduced irrigation management on nitrate leaching for potato. *Journal of Environmental Quality*, 49(2), 281-291.
- Chaves, B., Opoku, A., De Neve, S., Boeckx, P., Van Cleemput, O., & Hofman, G.(2006). Influence of DCD and DMPP on soil N dynamics after incorporation of vegetable crop residues. *Biology and Fertility of Soils*, 43, 62–68.
- Christianson, L. E., & Harmel, R. D. (2015). 4R Water quality impacts: An assessment and synthesis of forty years of drainage nitrogen losses. *Journal of Environmental Quality*, 44(6), 1852–1860.
- Corrochano-Monsalve, M., Huérfano, X., Menéndez, S., Torralbo, F., Fuertes-Mendizábal, T., Estavillo, J.-M., & González-Murua, C. (2020). Relationship

between tillage management and DMPSA nitrification inhibitor efficiency. *Science* of the Total Environment, 718, 134748.

- Dawar, K., Zaman, M., Rowarth, J. S., Blennerhassett, J., & Turnbull, M. H. (2011a).Urea hydrolysis and lateral and vertical movement in the soil: effects of urease inhibitor and irrigation. *Biology and Fertility of Soils*, 47, 139–146.
- Dawar, K., Zaman, M., Rowarth, J. S., Blennerhassett, J., & Turnbull, M. H. (2011b).
 Urease inhibitor reduces N losses and improves plant-bioavailability of urea applied in fine particle and granular forms under field conditions. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment*, 144(1), 41–50.
- Díez-López, J. A., Hernaiz-Algarra, P., Arauzo-Sánchez, M., & Carrasco-Martín, I.
 (2008). Effect of a nitrification inhibitor (DMPP) on nitrate leaching and maize yield during two growing seasons. *Spanish Journal of Agricultural Research*, 6(2), 294– 303. https://doi.org/10.5424/sjar/2008062-320
- Diez, J. A., Arauzo, M., Hernaiz, P. J., Sanz, A., & Vallejo, A. (2010). Comparison of nitrification inhibitors to restrict nitrate leaching in a maize crop irrigated under mediterranean conditions. *Spanish Journal of Agricultural Research*, 8(2), 481–492.
- Diez, J. A., Roman, R., Caballero, R., & Caballero, A. (1997). Nitrate leaching from soils under a maize-wheat-maize sequence, two irrigation schedules and three types of fertilisers. *Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment*, 65(3), 189–199. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0167-8809(97)00045-5
- Djaman, K., & Irmak, S. (2013). Actual crop evapotranspiration and alfalfa-and grassreference crop coefficients of maize under full and limited irrigation and rainfed

- Dobermann, A., & Cassman, K. G. (2002). Plant nutrient management for enhanced productivity in intensive grain production systems of the United States and Asia. *Plant and Soil*, 247, 153–175.
- Dobermann, A., Wortmann, C. S., Ferguson, R. B., Hergert, G. W., Shapiro, C. A., Tarkalson, D. D., & Walters, D. T. (2011). Nitrogen response and economics for irrigated corn in Nebraska. *Agronomy Journal*, 103(1), 67–75.
- Dong, D., Kou, Y., Yang, W., Chen, G., & Xu, H. (2018). Effects of urease and nitrification inhibitors on nitrous oxide emissions and nitrifying/denitrifying microbial communities in a rainfed maize soil: A 6-year field observation. *Soil and Tillage Research*, 180, 82–90.
- Drury, C F, Reynolds, W. D., Parkin, G. W., Lauzon, J. D., Saso, J. K., Zhang, T. Q., Yang, X. M., Tan, C. S., Liu, K., & Calder, W. (2016). Solute dynamics and the Ontario nitrogen index: II. Nitrate leaching. *Canadian Journal of Soil Science*, 96(2), 122–135.
- Drury, Craig F, Yang, X., Reynolds, W. D., Calder, W., Oloya, T. O., & Woodley, A. L. (2017). Combining urease and nitrification inhibitors with incorporation reduces ammonia and nitrous oxide emissions and increases corn yields. *Journal of Environmental Quality*, 46(5), 939–949.
- Exner, M. E., Hirsh, A. J., & Spalding, R. F. (2014). Nebraska's groundwater legacy:
 Nitrate contamination beneath irrigated cropland. *Water Resources Research*, 50(5), 4474–4489.

- Ferguson, R. B., Hergert, G. W., Schepers, J. S., Gotway, C. A., Cahoon, J. E., & Peterson, T. A. (2002). Site-Specific Nitrogen Management of Irrigated Maize. *Soil Science Society of America Journal*, 66(2), 544–553.
- Gosselin, D. C. (1991). *Bazile triangle groundwater quality study*. Lincoln, Ne: Conservation and Survey Division._{PP}. 29.
- Hess, L. J. T., Hinckley, E.-L. S., Robertson, G. P., & Matson, P. A. (2020). Rainfall intensification increases nitrate leaching from tilled but not no-till cropping systems in the US Midwest. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment, 290*, 106747.
- Hirel, B., Le Gouis, J., Ney, B., & Gallais, A. (2007). The challenge of improving nitrogen use efficiency in crop plants: towards a more central role for genetic variability and quantitative genetics within integrated approaches. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, 58(9), 2369–2387.
- Hobza, C. M., & Steele, G. V. (2020). Interpretation of Hydrogeologic Data to Support Groundwater Management, Bazile Groundwater Management Area, Northeast Nebraska, 2019—A Case Demonstration of the Nebraska Geocloud.
- Hou, L., Fan, X., Qi, Z., Wan, L., & Hu, K. (2023). Simulation of water drainage and nitrate leaching at an irrigated maize (Zea mays L.) oasis cropland with a shallow groundwater table. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment, 355*, 108573.
- Hussain, Z., Cheng, T., Irshad, M., Khattak, R. A., Yao, C., Song, D., & Mohiuddin, M.(2022). Bentonite clay with different nitrogen sources can effectively reduce nitrate leaching from sandy soil. *Plos One*, *17*(12), e0278824.

- Iqbal, J., Necpalova, M., Archontoulis, S. V, Anex, R. P., Bourguignon, M., Herzmann, D., Mitchell, D. C., Sawyer, J. E., Zhu, Q., & Castellano, M. J. (2018). Extreme weather-year sequences have nonadditive effects on environmental nitrogen losses. *Global Change Biology*, 24(1), e303–e317.
- Iqbal, J., Ferguson, R. B., Maharjan, B., & Thompson, L. (2023) Nutrient Management Suggestions for Corn. Nebraska Extension, EC 117.
- Irigoyen, I., Muro, J., Azpilikueta, M., Aparicio-Tejo, P., & Lamsfus, C. (2003).Ammonium oxidation kinetics in the presence of nitrification inhibitors DCD and DMPP at various temperatures. *Soil Research*, *41*(6), 1177–1183.
- Juntakut, P., Snow, D. D., Haacker, E. M. K., & Ray, C. (2019). The long term effect of agricultural, vadose zone and climatic factors on nitrate contamination in Nebraska's groundwater system. *Journal of Contaminant Hydrology*, 220, 33–48.
- Kandeler, E., & Gerber, H. (1988). Short-term assay of soil urease activity using colorimetric determination of ammonium. *Biology and Fertility of Soils*, *6*, 68–72.
- Khan, M. J., Abdul Malik, A. M., Zaman, M., Qudratullah Khan, Q. K., Habib-ur-Rehman, H.-R., & Kalimullah, K. (2014). *Nitrogen use efficiency and yield of maize crop as affected by Agrotain coated urea in arid calcareous soils.*
- Li, L., Hosseiniaghdam, E., Drijber, R., Jeske, E., Awada, T., Hiller, J., & Kaiser, M. (2023). Conversion of native grassland to coniferous forests decreased stocks of soil organic carbon and microbial biomass. *Plant and Soil*, 0123456789. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11104-023-06138-9

- Liu, S., Wang, X., Yin, X., Savoy, H. J., McClure, A., & Essington, M. E. (2019). Ammonia volatilization loss and corn nitrogen nutrition and productivity with efficiency enhanced UAN and urea under no-tillage. *Scientific Reports*, *9*(1), 6610.
- Lo TszHim, L. T., Rudnick, D. R., Burr, C. A., Stockton, M. C., & Werle, R. (2019). Approaches to evaluating grower irrigation and fertilizer nitrogen amount and timing.
- Maharjan, B., Rosen, C. J., Lamb, J. A., & Venterea, R. T. (2016). Corn response to nitrogen management under fully-irrigated vs. water-stressed conditions. *Agronomy Journal*, 108(5), 2089–2098. https://doi.org/10.2134/agronj2016.01.0006
- Maharjan, B., Venterea, R. T., & Rosen, C. (2014a). Fertilizer and irrigation management effects on nitrous oxide emissions and nitrate leaching. *Agronomy Journal*, 106(2), 703–714.
- Maharjan, B., Venterea, R. T., & Rosen, C. (2014b). Fertilizer and irrigation management effects on nitrous oxide emissions and nitrate leaching. *Agronomy Journal*, 106(2), 703–714. https://doi.org/10.2134/agronj2013.0179
- Mateo-Marín, N., Quílez, D., & Isla, R. (2020). Utility of stabilized nitrogen fertilizers to reduce nitrate leaching under optimal management practices. *Journal of Plant Nutrition and Soil Science*, 183(5), 567–578.
- Miranda, K. M., Espey, M. G., Yamada, K., Krishna, M., Ludwick, N., Kim, S., Jourd'heuil, D., Grisham, M. B., Feelisch, M., & Fukuto, J. M. (2001). Unique oxidative mechanisms for the reactive nitrogen oxide species, nitroxyl anion. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 276(3), 1720–1727.

- Mittelstet, A. R., Gilmore, T. E., Messer, T., Rudnick, D. R., & Heatherly, T. (2019).
 Evaluation of selected watershed characteristics to identify best management
 practices to reduce Nebraskan nitrate loads from Nebraska to the
 Mississippi/Atchafalaya River basin. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment, 277*, 1–10.
- Mueller, S. M., Camberato, J. J., Messina, C., Shanahan, J., Zhang, H., & Vyn, T. J. (2017). Late-split nitrogen applications increased maize plant nitrogen recovery but not yield under moderate to high nitrogen rates. *Agronomy Journal*, 109(6), 2689– 2699.
- Neels, W., Jhala, A., Maharjan, B., Patel, S., Slator, G., & Iqbal, J. (2024). Nitrogen source affects in-season nitrogen availability more than nitrification inhibitor and herbicide in a fine-textured soil. *Soil Science Society of America Journal*, 88(2), 419–433.
- Nelson, K. A., Scharf, P. C., Bundy, L. G., & Tracy, P. (2008). Agricultural Managment of Enhanced-Efficiency Fertilizers in the North-Central United States. *Crop Management*. https://doi.org/10.1094/CM-2008-0730-03-RV
- Ouattara, B. S. (2022). Agrichemicals (Nitrate and Atrazine) In Drinking Water and Adverse Health Outcomes in Children in Nebraska.
- Overrein, L. N., & Moe, P. G. (1967). Factors affecting urea hydrolysis and ammonia volatilization in soil. *Soil Science Society of America Journal*, *31*(1), 57–61.
- Pawlick, A. A., Wagner-Riddle, C., Parkin, G. W., & Berg, A. A. (2019). Assessment of nitrification and urease inhibitors on nitrate leaching in corn (Zea mays L.).

Canadian Journal of Soil Science, 99(1), 80–91.

- Pennino, M. J., Compton, J. E., & Leibowitz, S. G. (2017). Trends in drinking water nitrate violations across the United States. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 51(22), 13450–13460.
- Pennino, M. J., Leibowitz, S. G., Compton, J. E., Hill, R. A., & Sabo, R. D. (2020).
 Patterns and predictions of drinking water nitrate violations across the conterminous United States. *Science of the Total Environment*, 722, 137661.
- Pittelkow, C. M., Clover, M. W., Hoeft, R. G., Nafziger, E. D., Warren, J. J., Gonzini, L. C., & Greer, K. D. (2017). Tile drainage nitrate losses and corn yield response to fall and spring nitrogen management. *Journal of Environmental Quality*, 46(5), 1057–1064.
- Prakash, O., Alva, A. K., & Paramasivam, S. (1999). Use of the urease inhibitor N-(nbutyl)-thiophosphoric triamide decreased nitrogen leaching from urea in a fine sandy soil. *Water, Air, and Soil Pollution*, 116, 587–595.
- Preza-Fontes, G., Pittelkow, C. M., Greer, K. D., Bhattarai, R., & Christianson, L. E. (2021). Split-nitrogen application with cover cropping reduces subsurface nitrate losses while maintaining corn yields. Wiley Online Library.
- Protocol, K. (1997). Kyoto protocol. UNFCCC Website. Available Online: Http://Unfccc. Int/Kyoto_protocol/Items/2830. Php (Accessed on 1 January 2011).
- Quin, B. F., Rowarth, J. S., Blennerhassett, J. D., Crush, J. R., & Cornforth, I. S. (2006). Removing the barriers to improved response to fertiliser N–the plant" s perspective.

Proceedings of the Workshop "Implementing Sustainable Nutrient Management Strategies in Agriculture, 8–9.

- Ray, C., Malakar, A., & Snow, D. D. (2022). Letter to editor: response to "groundwater storage recovery raises the risk of nitrate pollution." *Environmental Science & Technology*, 56(5), 2841–2842.
- Ren, B., Ma, Z., Zhao, B., Liu, P., & Zhang, J. (2022). Influences of split application and nitrification inhibitor on nitrogen losses, grain yield, and net income for summer maize production. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, 13, 982373.
- Ren, L. T., Zhang, X., Yang, L., Hao, B., Shao, Q. Q., & Zhang, C. J. (2019). Effect of biological nitrification inhibitor on nitrogen fixation and emission reduction in straw and dairy manure composting. *Applied Ecology & Environmental Research*, 17(5).
- Ritter, W. F., Scarborough, R. W., & Chirnside, A. E. M. (1993). Nitrate leaching under irrigated corn. *Journal of Irrigation and Drainage Engineering*, *119*(3), 544–553.
- Rose, T. J., Quin, P., Morris, S. G., Kearney, L. J., Kimber, S., Rose, M. T., & Van Zwieten, L. (2018). No evidence for higher agronomic N use efficiency or lower nitrous oxide emissions from enhanced efficiency fertilisers in aerobic subtropical rice. *Field Crops Research*, 225, 47–54.
- Rudnick, D. R., Irmak, S., Djaman, K., & Sharma, V. (2017). Impact of irrigation and nitrogen fertilizer rate on soil water trends and maize evapotranspiration during the vegetative and reproductive periods. *Agricultural Water Management*, 191, 77–84.

Rutan, J., & Steinke, K. (2018). Pre-plant and in-season nitrogen combinations for the

Northern Corn Belt. Agronomy Journal, 110(5), 2059–2069.

- Sanz-Cobena, A., Sánchez-Martín, L., García-Torres, L., & Vallejo, A. (2012). Gaseous emissions of N2O and NO and NO₃– leaching from urea applied with urease and nitrification inhibitors to a maize (Zea mays) crop. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment, 149*, 64–73.
- Schröder, J. J., Neeteson, J. J., Withagen, J. C. M., & Noij, I. (1998). Effects of N application on agronomic and environmental parameters in silage maize production on sandy soils. *Field Crops Research*, 58(1), 55–67.
- United States Department of Agriculture, Natural Resources Conservation Service (USDA NRCS) (1985). National engineering handbook, section 4: hydrology. US Soil Conservation Service, USDA, Washington, DC.
- Serna, M D, Legaz, F., & Primo-Millo, E. (1994). Efficacy of dicyandiamide as a soil nitrification inhibitor in citrus production. *Soil Science Society of America Journal*, 58(6), 1817–1824.
- Serna, María D, Banuls, J., Quinones, A., Primo-Millo, E., & Legaz, F. (2000). Evaluation of 3, 4-dimethylpyrazole phosphate as a nitrification inhibitor in a Citruscultivated soil. *Biology and Fertility of Soils*, *32*, 41–46.
- Shapiro, C. A., Ferguson, R., Wortmann, C. S., Maharjan, B., & Krienke, B. T. (2019). Nutrient management suggestions for corn. University of Nebraska_Extension, EC-117.
- Shapiro, C., Attia, A., Ulloa, S., & Mainz, M. (2016). Use of five nitrogen source and

placement systems for improved nitrogen management of irrigated corn. *Soil Science Society of America Journal*, 80(6), 1663–1674.

- Silva, R. G., Holub, S. M., Jorgensen, E. E., & Ashanuzzaman, A. N. M. (2005).
 Indicators of nitrate leaching loss under different land use of clayey and sandy soils in southeastern Oklahoma. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment, 109*(3–4), 346– 359.
- Singh, A., Afzal, T., Woodbury, B., Wortmann, C., & Iqbal, J. (2023). *Alfalfa in rotation* with annual crops reduced nitrate leaching potential. Wiley Online Library.
- Singh, A., Kukal, M. S., Shapiro, C. A., Snow, D. D., Irmak, S., & Iqbal, J. (2021).
 Growth phase-specific evaporative demand and nighttime temperatures determine
 Maize (*Zea Mays* L.) yield deviations as revealed from a long-term field experiment. *Agricultural and Forest Meteorology*, 308, 108543.
- Singh, R. K., & Irmak, A. (2009). Estimation of crop coefficients using satellite remote sensing. *Journal of Irrigation and Drainage Engineering*, 135(5), 597–608.
- Sitthaphanit, S., Limpinuntana, V., Toomsan, B., Panchaban, S., & Bell, R. (2009). Fertiliser strategies for improved nutrient use efficiency on sandy soils in high rainfall regimes. *Nutr Cycl Agroecosyst*, 85, 123–139.
- Souza, E. F. C., Rosen, C. J., & Venterea, R. T. (2019). Contrasting effects of inhibitors and biostimulants on agronomic performance and reactive nitrogen losses during irrigated potato production. *Field Crops Research*, 240, 143–153.

Struffert, A. M., Rubin, J. C., Fernández, F. G., & Lamb, J. A. (2016). Nitrogen

management for corn and groundwater quality in Upper Midwest irrigated sands. Journal of Environmental Quality, 45(5), 1557–1564.

- Tan, C. S., Drury, C. F., Gaynor, J. D., Wesenbeeck, I. van, & Soultani, M. (1996). Effect of water-table management and nitrogen supply on yield, plant growth and water use of corn in undisturbed soil columns. *Canadian Journal of Plant Science*, 76(2), 229– 235.
- Venterea, R. T., Hyatt, C. R., & Rosen, C. J. (2011). Fertilizer management effects on nitrate leaching and indirect nitrous oxide emissions in irrigated potato production. *Journal of Environmental Quality*, 40(4), 1103–1112.
- Vitousek, P. M., Naylor, R., Crews, T., David, M. B., Drinkwater, L. E., Holland, E., Johnes, P. J., Katzenberger, J., Martinelli, L. A., & Matson, P. A. (2009). Nutrient imbalances in agricultural development. *Science*, 324(5934), 1519–1520.
- Wilson, M. L., Rosen, C. J., & Moncrief, J. F. (2010). Effects of polymer-coated urea on nitrate leaching and nitrogen uptake by potato. *Journal of Environmental Quality*, 39(2), 492–499.
- Woodley, A. L., Drury, C. F., Yang, X. Y., Phillips, L. A., Reynolds, D. W., Calder, W., & Oloya, T. O. (2020). Ammonia volatilization, nitrous oxide emissions, and corn yields as influenced by nitrogen placement and enhanced efficiency fertilizers. *Soil Science Society of America Journal*, *84*(4), 1327–1341.
- Woolfolk, C. W., Raun, W. R., Johnson, G. V, Thomason, W. E., Mullen, R. W., Wynn,K. J., & Freeman, K. W. (2002). Influence of late-season foliar nitrogen applicationson yield and grain nitrogen in winter wheat. *Agronomy Journal*, 94(3), 429–434.

- Yagüe, M. R., & Quílez, D. (2010). Response of Maize Yield, Nitrate Leaching, and Soil Nitrogen to Pig Slurry Combined with Mineral Nitrogen. *Journal of Environmental Quality*, 39(2), 686–696.
- Zaman, M., Saggar, S., Blennerhassett, J. D., & Singh, J. (2009). Effect of urease and nitrification inhibitors on N transformation, gaseous emissions of ammonia and nitrous oxide, pasture yield and N uptake in grazed pasture system. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, 41(6), 1270–1280.
- Zambelli, B., Musiani, F., Benini, S., & Ciurli, S. (2011). Chemistry of Ni2+ in urease: sensing, trafficking, and catalysis. *Accounts of Chemical Research*, 44(7), 520–530.
- Zelt, R. B., & Munn, M. D. (2009). Riparian and associated habitat characteristics related to nutrient concentrations and biological responses of small streams in selected agricultural areas, United States, 2003–04: U.S. G.S. Scientific Investigations Report 2009–5224, 78 p.
- Zhang, X., Davidson, E. A., Mauzerall, D. L., Searchinger, T. D., Dumas, P., & Shen, Y.(2015). Managing nitrogen for sustainable development. *Nature*, 528(7580), 51–59.
- Zhengping, W., Van Cleemput, O., Demeyer, P., & Baert, L. (1991). Effect of urease inhibitors on urea hydrolysis and ammonia volatilization. *Biology and Fertility of Soils*, 11, 43–47.
- Zvomuya, F., Rosen, C. J., Russelle, M. P., & Gupta, S. C. (2003). Nitrate leaching and nitrogen recovery following application of polyolefin-coated urea to potato. *Journal of Environmental Quality*, *32*(2), 480–489.

CHAPTER 5

IMPACT OF SPLIT NITROGEN APPLICATIONS ON NITRATE LEACHING AND CORN YIELD

Abstract

Little information is available on optimizing the number of nitrogen (N) splits based on nitrate (NO₃-N) leaching and crop yield in sandy soils. To test this, we evaluated the impact of multiple N splits (2, 3, 4 and 5-N splits) on NO₃-N leaching and corn grain yield in an irrigated loamy sand soil on a producer site in Northeast Nebraska. Porous suction cup lysimeters were installed at a depth of 120 cm to collect pore water samples from 23 leaching events in 2021, a dry year. Increasing the number of N-splits did not affect the pore-water NO₃-N concentration, however, it was 169%, 152%, 150%, and 129% higher in 2-(6.1 mg L^{-1}), 3-(5.1 mg L^{-1}), 4-(5.6 mg L^{-1}), and 5-N (5.7 mg L^{-1}) split treatments compared to a control (2.2 mg L⁻¹) i.e., without N application. Though the 2-, 3-, 4-, and 5-N-splits had 110%, 71%, 120%, and 91% higher area-based NO₃-N leaching than control, less deep percolation and more evapotranspiration in control led to no significant differences in area-based NO₃-N leaching among all treatments. All Nsplits had higher crop yield, nitrogen use efficiency, plant N uptake, HI, and aboveground biomass than control; however, no significant differences of these parameters were observed among all N-splits. Across all N-split treatments, the inclusion of environmental cost reduced the return to nitrogen (RTN) by 92-143 US\$ ha⁻¹ but had no significant effect among the N-splits. The results indicate that increasing the number of N-splits does not provide agronomic, economic, and environmental benefits in a dry year.

Introduction

Nitrogen (N) fertilizer is the most yield limiting nutrient for maize production with agronomic, economic, and environmental consequences (Poffenbarger et al., 2017). The nitrogen use efficiency of maize production has recently improved in Nebraska from 1988 to 2012 (49 to 67 kg grain kg N⁻¹) due to adoption of N management practices including N application timing, economy-based N recommendation strategies, improved hybrids, and N credits accounting from irrigated water, legumes, manure. (Ferguson, 2015). However, significant challenges remain for sustaining crop production while protecting environmental quality. Currently, about 40 to 50% of applied N is used by crops (Zhang et al., 2015), while the remaining N is either lost to the atmosphere through ammonia volatilization and nitrous oxide emission, or to the groundwater through nitrate (NO₃-N) leaching (Powlson, 1993). Evidence of annual N-leaching loss is reflected in groundwater NO₃-N concentration far exceeding the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) drinking water limit of 10 mg NO₃-N L⁻¹ for about one million hectares (ha) area of Nebraska (Juntakut et al., 2019; NDEQ, 2018). High NO₃-N in groundwater poses significant environmental and human health risks, as more than 90% of Nebraska residents rely on groundwater for drinking purposes (Nolan & Hitt, 2006; Ouattara et al., 2022). Therefore, it is imperative to continuously improve N management by increasing nitrogen use efficiency (NUE) and economic returns while decreasing NO₃-N leaching losses to the groundwater (Grant et al., 2012; Motasim et al., 2022).

Previous studies have identified several factors influencing N-leaching loss to groundwater, including fertilizer management, crop cultivation practices, irrigation management, precipitation surplus, soil texture, manure management, and others (Ebrahimian et al., 2012; Wick et al., 2012). In general, higher NO₃-N leaching losses are linked to poor synchrony between the N supply and crop N uptake (Cassman et al., 2002; Robertson & Vitousek, 2009), excessive N inputs (Cassman et al., 2002; Shanahan et al., 2008), and heavy rainfall during the early growing season (Fernandez et al., 2020; Zhou et al., 2018). These N losses tend to be greater during April-June period when soil N is available due to soil organic matter mineralization and fertilizer application but have limited crop N uptake (Bowles et al., 2018). Meanwhile, narrowing the time between soil N application and crop N uptake can shorten the time for N losses (Nafziger & Rapp, 2020). Therefore, splitting the N application during the growing season is an effective strategy for matching soil N availability with crop N needs (Chen et al., 2006; Ciampitti & Vyn, 2012), improving NUE (Lü et al., 2012; Olson et al., 1986) and reducing N losses (Preza-Fontes et al., 2022; Sitthaphanit et al., 2009).

Contrasting results on the number of multiple N-splits on NUE, crop yield, and N losses exist in the literature. For example, Venterea & Coulter (2015) found that applying N in three equal splits did not affect crop yield, but increased nitrous oxide emissions more than early season N application in a silt loam soil. Similar results have been reported by Mueller et al. (2017), who found no yield response to the late split-N application at the R1 growth stage of corn in sandy loam soil. Other studies reported that delaying N application for too long until tasseling (Walsh et al., 2012) or silking (Silva et al., 2005) can have negative impacts on grain yields and NUE (Adriaanse & Human, 1993; Jung et al., 1972). However, some studies reported either a decrease (Binder et al., 2000; Sitthaphanit et al., 2009; Walsh et al., 2012) or no crop yield response (Jaynes & Colvin, 2006; Ning et al., 2017; Roberts et al., 2016; Scharf et al., 2002; Yan et al., 2014)

with late split-N application. The authors of these studies attributed the yield decrease or no yield response to either irreversible yield loss with early season N stress or sufficient N availability early in the growing season, respectively. In contrast, Lü et al. (2012) and Zhou et al. (2019) found that applying N in 3-splits (V6, V10, and R1) and 4-Splits (sowing, V6, V12, and R1) increased grain yield than applying N at 2-N splits (sowing and V6). Nevertheless, optimizing the number of N-splits to improve NUE, increase crop yield, and decrease NO₃-N leaching risk, especially in sand soils, remain unresolved as an approach to minimize groundwater contamination (Azad et al., 2020; Scharf et al., 2002; Wang et al., 2016). However, none of the studies have investigated the number of Nsplits based on NO_3 -N leaching in the Midwest, probably because this type of research is often costly and requires intensive sampling for NO₃-N leaching measurements. Meanwhile, in other regions, studies have reported either a decrease (Sitthaphanit et al., 2009) or no effect (Wang et al., 2016) with increasing the number of split-N applications on NO₃-N leaching in sandy soils. Rubin et al. (2016) recommended split N application for irrigated sandy soils along with economic optimum N rate to minimize NO₃-N leaching risk.

Sandy soils possess greater NO₃-N leaching risk to groundwater due to high soil porosity, hydraulic conductivity, and lower water holding capacity, compared to clay soils (Silva et al., 2005). With the increasing risk of nitrate contamination in sandy soils of the Bazile Groundwater Management Area (BGMA) in Nebraska, the Natural Resource Districts (NRDs) have begun to more strongly regulate N fertilizer use. The BGMA is one of the groundwater quality management areas developed by Nebraska in 1986 and accepted by the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) in 2016 (Figure 2.1).

The BGMA has approximately 1958 sq. km. area with >10 mg NO₃-N L⁻¹ in groundwater and provides drinking water to 7,000 Nebraskans. Depending on the groundwater NO_3 -N concentration levels, the groundwater management plans in the BGMA and Nebraska are divided into different areas, known as phase levels. If the groundwater has 0-5 mg NO₃-N L^{-1} , it is categorized as Phase I. If the NO₃-N in the groundwater ranges from 5.1-9.0 mg NO₃-N L⁻¹, it is considered Phase II. While Phase III constitutes the irrigation wells with >9 mg NO₃-N L⁻¹. If areas are under Phase III for five years, those areas would be considered under Phase IV. One of the many requirements in the Phase III area is not to exceed spring pre-plant N application above 112 kg N ha⁻¹. Although the current recommendations can result in higher corn yield with potentially fewer N losses; environmental stewardship has ignited the need to optimize the number of N-splits and determine a cut-off to last N application during the growing season to minimize NO₃-N leaching while maintaining crop yield and profitability. Understanding that optimizing the number of N-splits would profoundly influence the NO₃-N leaching in the area, this study aimed to optimize the number of N-splits based on NO₃-N leaching and grain yield. The objectives of this study were to (1) optimize the number of N splits based on crop yield, NO₃-N leaching losses, and profitability, and (2) assess the impact of N splits on nitrogen use efficiency, nitrogen recovery efficiency, return on nitrogen, and residual nitrogen. We hypothesized that increasing the number of N-split applications before tasseling would decrease the NO₃-N leaching and improve corn yield in irrigated sandy soils of the BGMA and similar water management areas of Nebraska and elsewhere.

Materials And Methods

Experimental Site

This on-farm study was designed as a two-year experiment in 2021 and 2022 near Creighton, NE (42°25'02.3"N, 98°02'52.3"W), however, due to an equipment calibration error, the planned N application rates did not occur in 2022, so we are presenting 2021 data only. The experimental site was in a Phase III area of the Bazile Groundwater Management Area (BGMA) in the Upper Elkhorn Natural Resource District (NRD). Soil at the experimental site is an excessively drained Thurman loamy sand soil (Soil Survey Staff, 2022) that contained 82.3% sand, 9.7% silt, and 8% clay. The groundwater table depth at the site was approximately twelve meters in Fall 2020. The site is at an altitude of 568 m and has a humid climate (Li et al., 2023; Singh et al., 2021) with an annual average precipitation of 714 mm with significant interannual variability. The longterm annual and growing season average temperature at the site is 9.6°C and 20°C, respectively (HPRCC, 2023). Before the treatment establishment, soil samples were collected at 0-20 cm soil depth to determine soil physical and chemical properties. The specific soil properties are listed in Table 2.1.

Experimental Design And Treatments

The experiment was conducted in a field with a center pivot overhead sprinkler irrigation system. The outer two spans of the pivot were equipped with a variable rate irrigation (VRI) system (Valmont Industries, Valley, NE), used to establish experimental plots in a randomized complete block design with one control and four N-split treatments (2-N splits, 3-N splits, 4-N splits, and 5-N splits). The details of N application timings and rates are given in Table 5.1. The treatments were replicated three times on 24 m long and 36 m wide plots. All the experimental plots including the non-treated control

received MAP (mono ammonium phosphate) broadcast by the farmer at the rate of 140 kg ha⁻¹ (equivalent to 16 kg N ha⁻¹) at pre-plant. All the treatments, except the control, received the same total seasonal N application rate at 202 kg N ha⁻¹ (excluding N rate from MAP application) at different timings (Table 5.1), which was closer to the economical optimum N rate in the area.

N source	Total N	Urea- Agrotain	UAN†			
N timing*	applied		V4	V8	V12	VT
N method		Preplant	Side-dress	fer	tigation	l
			kg N ha ⁻¹			
2 N-splits	202	67	135	0	0	0
3 N-splits	202	67	101	0	34	0
4 N-splits	202	67	67	34	34	0
5 N-splits	202	67	33	34	34	34

Table 5.1 Nitrogen fertilizer treatments in 2021 at the study site.

† UAN, Urea Ammonium nitrate.

*V4, 4-leaf stage; V8, 8-leaf stage; V12, 12-leaf stage; VT, tasseling.

To minimize the NH₃ volatilization losses at pre-plant, a urease inhibitor (AGROTAIN) from Koch industries was used to coat urea at the recommended rate of 2.1 L AGROTAIN per ton Urea. The AGROTAIN-coated urea was surface broadcasted at pre-plant with a 3-m wide dry fertilizer drop spreader (Barber Engineering Co.). The UAN (32%N) was side-dressed with a 6-m wide liquid applicator in the furrow at the V4 crop growth stage on June 4th, 2021. To minimize NH3 volatilization losses, 19.05 mm irrigation was applied within 24 hours following side-dressing. The treatments 3-N, 4-N, and 5-N were fertigated (UAN 28% N) through the central pivot at growth stages listed in Table 5.1. The management decisions such as crop hybrid selection, herbicide application, and irrigation scheduling were at the discretion of the farmer.

Crop Yield, Nitrogen Use Efficiencies, And Economic Return

At physiological maturity, the middle 12 rows were harvested with a commercial combine by the farmer. To determine corn N uptake, we hand harvested two 3 m rows per plot and separated them into corn grain and stover (stalk, leaves, cobs). The stover was shredded using a portable woodchipper. Ears and subsamples of chopped corn stover were weighed and dried at 71°C to determine moisture content. Ears were shelled to separate grain and cobs. Grain and stover were milled and analyzed for total N using the dry combustion method at a commercial laboratory (Ward Laboratories Inc., Kearney, NE). Hand harvest grain yield was adjusted to 15.5% moisture content. The N concentration in grain and stover, and plant population were used to calculate total aboveground biomass, harvest index (HI), N uptake by grain, plant, and N harvest index. We also calculated different nitrogen use efficiency indicators (Congreves et al., 2021) including partial factor productivity (PFP, Eq. 5.1), corn nitrogen use efficiency (NUE_{corn}, Eq. 5.2), agronomic efficiency (AE, Eq. 5.3), nitrogen recovery efficiency (NRE, Eq. 5.4), nitrogen utilization efficiency (NutE, Eq. 5.5), and the economic indicators including the net return to nitrogen (RTN; Eq. 5.6) and net return to nitrogen considering environmental costs (RTN_{Env} ; Eq. 5.7) as follows:

PFP (kg kg⁻¹) =
$$\frac{\text{Grain yield}}{\text{Fertilizer N}}$$
 (Eq. 5.1)

$$NUE_{corn}(kg kg^{-1}) = \frac{Grain N uptake}{Fertilizer N} (Eq. 5.2)$$

- $AE (kg kg^{-1}) = \frac{Yield_{trt} Yield_{control}}{Fertilizer N} (Eq. 5.3)$
- NRE (%) = $\frac{\text{Plant N uptake}_{trt} \text{Plant N uptake}_{control}}{\text{Fertilizer N}} \times 100 \text{ (Eq. 5.4)}$

NUTE
$$(\text{kg kg}^{-1}) = \frac{\text{Grain Yield}}{\text{Plant N uptake}}$$
 (Eq. 5.5)

 $RTN = (Yield_{Corn} \times Price_{Corn}) - (Input_N \times Price_N) (Eq. 5.6)$ $RTN_{Env} = RTN - (NO_3 - N_{leached} \times 18.54^*) (Eq. 5.7)$ *18.54 US\$ kg⁻¹ NO₃-N was the environmental cost associated with NO₃-N leaching (Preza-Fontes et al., 2023; Sobota et al., 2015).

Lysimeter Installation And Water Sampling

To monitor the pore water NO₃-N and NH₄-N concentration below the crop rootzone, two suction-cup lysimeters were installed approximately 30 m apart at 1.2 m soil depth in each experimental plot following the method described by Venterea et al. (2011) and Maharjan et al. (2014). The suction cup lysimeters were purchased from Irrometer Company Inc. (Model SSAT - Soil Solution Access Tube) and contained 100kPa high flow ceramic cup attached to rubber tubing designed to apply the pressure and collect water samples at the soil surface. The suction cup lysimeters were installed using silica powder slurry to cover the ceramic cup at the bottom of the vertical hole bored with a 1.2 m long and ~19 mm wide soil probe. The soil from the hole was used to re-fill the hole around the lysimeter tube, followed by the placement of a finely powdered bentonite layer at the soil surface to prevent the preferential flow of water. Pore-water samples from the lysimeters were collected one to three times a week following rain or irrigation events from 20 May to 15 October, 2021. To pull the pore water from the ceramic cup, a pressure of ~ 80 kpa was applied to the suction cup through the rubber tubes. After about 4 hours, the rubber tube line was opened to collect the pore-water sample with a 20 mL syringe and samples were acidified with 0.1N hydrochloric acid before transferring to the lab in a cooler. In total, there were 690 water samples collected during the 23 leaching events.

Water Balance And NO₃-N Leaching Calculations

A soil water balance equation (Eq. 5.8) was used to estimate the draining water *via* deep percolation below the root zone using the following approach (Djaman & Irmak, 2013):

$$DP_i = P_i + I_i - R_i - ET_i \pm \Delta S_i (Eq. 5.8)$$

where DP is deep percolation, P is precipitation, I is irrigation, ET is evapotranspiration, ΔS is soil water storage in the root zone, and i is current day. Units are mm day⁻¹. The value of P was determined using High Plains Regional Climate Center (HPRCC) data collected at a weather station near the site, while I is the amount of irrigation applied in the field by the farmer (249 mm throughout the growing season). The ET values were calculated as a product of an alfalfa reference (Djaman & Irmak, 2013) mean crop coefficient (Kcr) based on the stage of growing degree days (Lo et al., 2019) and the reference ET estimates incorporated with the daily weather data using the Penman-Monteith equation (Allen et al.,1998, Allen et al., 2000). The model output ET values for 2-, 3-, 4-, 5- N splits and control were 591, 587, 588, 590, and 579 mm, respectively. The K_{cr} values for the curve was derived from the NDVI data collected during the R_1 corn growth stage using the relationship $[K_{cr} = 1.308*(NDVI) + 0.027]$ given by Singh & Irmak (2009) for irrigated corn in Nebraska. The water in the soil profile at the start of the growing season was assumed to be at field capacity. We estimated runoff for our experiment using the United States Department of Agriculture–Natural Resources Conservation Service (USDA NRCS) curve number method (USDA-NRCS, 1985). The model output for daily percolation for 2-, 3-, 4, 5-N split and control treatments were 83.6, 84.4, 84.3, 83.8, and 86.1 mm, respectively. Daily leaching mass of NO₃-N and NH₄-N were determined as the product of daily deep percolation and daily NO₃-N and NH₄-N concentration. The daily NO₃-N (Eq.

5.9) and NH₄-N mass from suction-cup lysimeters water sample were the product of (a) daily estimation(s) of deep percolation and (b) average of previous days pore water NO₃-N and NH₄-N concentrations after last deep percolation event occurred, and (c) 0.01 (kg ha⁻¹) unit conversion factor (Pawlick et al., 2019).

$$[NO_3 - N]_{leached} = \frac{1}{n} \sum_{i=1}^{n} [NO_3 - N]_{120cm} \ge DP_i \ge 0.01 \text{ (Eq. 9)(Eq. 5.9)}$$

Where i is the day when deep percolation happens, and n refers to the days since last deep percolation occurred. To calculate seasonal average pore water NO₃-N concentrations, the daily pore water NO₃ concentrations were averaged across days in the corn growth stage. Sub-seasonal pore water NO₃-N concentrations were calculated based on the corn growth stages and the sampling dates between (i) planting and 8-leaf stage (early vegetative phase), (ii) 8-leaf to tasseling (late vegetative phase), and (iii) tasseling to physiological maturity (reproductive phase), derived and validated from field observations to compute the effect of treatments over time (Rudnick et al., 2017; Singh et al., 2021). For seasonal pore water concentrations, the average was performed across all dates while the daily NO₃-N amounts were summed up for area-scaled based seasonal NO₃-N leaching losses. Our data showed that >70% of ammonium values were below detection limit, therefore, ammonium data analysis was not performed.

Residual Soil Nitrate And Ammonium Analysis

In fall 2021, six undisturbed deep core (0-120 cm) soil samples were collected after corn harvest from each experimental plot within non-trafficked rows. The truck mounted Giddings hydraulic probe (Giddings Machine Co., Fort Collins, CO) was used for sampling soil cores with a diameter of 44 mm. The intact cores were sliced at the following depth increments: 0-30, 30-60, 60-90, and 90-120 cm. The six soil cores per plot were composited

by depth before being transported to the lab in a cooler. The soil samples were extracted with 2M KCL solution (5:1 solution to soil ratio) after shaking for 1 hr, followed by filtration through Whatman #1 filter paper. Soil extracts from deep core soil samples and lysimeter water samples were analyzed for NO₃-N and NH₄-N concentration using VCl₃/Griess method (Miranda et al., 2001) and the Berthelot reaction (Kandeler & Gerber, 1988), respectively.

Statistical Analysis

Two-way repeated measures analysis of variance (ANOVA) was performed using PROC GLIMMIX with replication as a random factor, treatment as a fixed factor, and crop growth stage and/or date as a repeated fixed factor using the autoregressive (1) structure for the residuals (Singh et al., 2023), for analyzing the differences between (i) sub-seasonal, and (ii) daily pore water NO₃-N concentrations. Similarly, two-way repeated measures ANOVA was performed using PROC GLIMMIX with replication as random factor, treatment as a fixed factor, and depth as a repeated fixed factor for residual soil N (both NO₃-N and NH₄-N). One way ANOVA was performed with replication as a random factor and treatment as a fixed factor to analyze the differences among treatments for grain yield, biomass yield, grain N uptake, plant N uptake, harvest index, N harvest index, NO₃-N leaching, partial factor productivity, N use efficiency, agronomic efficiency, N recovery efficiency, N utilization efficiency, return to N, and return to N considering environmental costs. The least square means estimates were used to analyze the differences among treatments. The significance was calculated at the 0.05 probability level.

RESULTS

Climate

Figure 5.1 (a-c) shows the total water input received by the experimental site during the 2021 growing season. During the entire season, the total water input by precipitation and irrigation was 376 mm and 249 mm, respectively. The total precipitation during the growing season (376 mm) was 11% lower than the last ten year's average growing season precipitation (424 mm) at the site. Within the growing season, the precipitation during the early vegetative, late vegetative, and reproductive phases was consistently lower than the average last ten years of precipitation during the same period. The precipitation accounted for 50% (57 mm), 76% (185 mm), and 50% (133 mm) of total water received during the early vegetative (116 mm; Figure 5.1a), late vegetative (243 mm; Figure 5.1b) and reproductive (266 mm: Figure 5.1c) stages, respectively. The irrigation accounted for 50% (59 mm), 24% (58 mm), and 50% (133 mm) of total water received during the early vegetative (116 mm; Figure 5.1a), late vegetative (243 mm; Figure 5.1b) and reproductive (266 mm: Figure 5.1c) stages, respectively. Overall, the higher total water input occurred in the reproductive phase (43%), followed by the late (39%) and early (19%) vegetative phase, respectively.

NO₃-N Leaching

The pore water NO₃-N concentrations from the daily water samples from the lysimeter are shown in Figure 5.1 (d-f). During the 2021 growing season, 23 leaching events occurred following the precipitation or irrigation events (Figure 5.1d-f). The daily pore water NO₃-N concentration significantly varied during the entire season, ranging from 0.002 to 12.95 mg NO₃-N L⁻¹ across all treatments. A higher pore water NO₃-N concentration was observed at the start of the season, which decreased as the season




Figure 5.1 The upper panels (a-c) show water inputs (mm) for three maize growth phases – early vegetative (planting to V8), late vegetative (V8-VT) and reproductive phases (R1-R6), while daily and subseasonal pore water NO₃-N concentrations (mg L^{-1}) are shown in the middle panels (d-f) and lower panels (g-i), respectively.

There were significant main as well as interaction effects of treatment and sampling date on pore water NO₃-N concentrations (Figure 5.1d-f). The pore water NO₃-N concentrations were significantly higher in the split-N treatments than the control throughout the growing season. However, no differences among the 2-, 3-, 4-, and 5-N split treatments were observed on daily pore water NO₃-N concentrations. When averaged across the season, the daily pore water NO₃-N concentrations were 6.06, 5.14,

5.59, and 5.65 mg NO₃-N L⁻¹ which were 169%, 128%, 148%, and 151% higher in 2-, 3-, 4-, and 5-N split treatments compared to control (2.25 mg NO₃-N L⁻¹), respectively. To evaluate the treatment impact on the pore water NO_3 -N concentrations within the season, we segregated the data into three crop growth stages i.e. Early Vegetative phase (VT-V8), Late Vegetative phase (V8-VT), and Reproductive phase (R1-R6). There were no significant interaction effects between treatment and crop growth phases (p = 0.12). However, treatment (p < 0.001) and crop growth stages main effects (p = 0.001) on pore water NO₃-N concentrations were significant (Figure 5.1g-i). The pore water NO₃-N concentrations in the early vegetative (7.08) stage were 58% and 207% higher than the late vegetative (4.48; p = 0.0065) and reproductive phases (2.30; p = 0.0001), respectively. Similarly, the pore water NO_3 -N concentration in the late vegetative phase was 94% higher than in the reproductive phase (p = 0.0033; Figure 5.1 g-i). Furthermore, there were significant treatment effects within the three crop growth stages. No significant differences in pore water NO_3 -N concentration among the four N splits (2-N, 3-N, 4-N, 5-N) occurred in the early vegetative phases. However, the control treatment $(2.03 \text{ mg NO}_3\text{-}\text{N L}^{-1})$ had significantly lower pore water NO₃-N concentrations than the four N-split treatments $(4.79 - 5.78 \text{ mg NO}_3\text{-}\text{N L}^{-1})$. A similar trend with significantly lower pore water NO₃-N concentration in control than four N splits was observed during the late vegetative phases. Unlike vegetative growth stages, a different treatment effect on pore water NO₃-N concentration was observed during the reproductive phases, where the 2-N split had significantly higher pore water NO₃-N concentration than other three N

splits (3-, 4- and 5-N) and control.



Figure 5.2 Treatment means and significance (error bars) of (a) seasonal average pore-water NO₃-N concentration (mg L^{-1}) and (b) area-based NO₃-N leaching (kg ha⁻¹) as affected by N-splits.

The cumulative area-based NO₃-N leaching losses were determined for the treatments using soil water NO₃-N concentrations and deep percolation measured from the soil water balance equation. This area-based NO₃-N leaching ranged from 7.0 - 15.5 kg NO₃-N ha⁻¹ across all treatments. The treatments neither significantly affected NO₃-N leaching across the entire season (p = 0.46; Figure 5.2), nor within each growth stage. Though not significantly different, the 2-, 3-, 4-, and 5-N splits had 110%, 71%, 120%, and 91% higher NO₃-N leaching than the control across the entire season. Total NO₃-N leaching losses across the split N treatments were equivalent to 5.5-7.1% of the applied

nitrogen. Crop growth stages had a significant effect on NO₃-N leaching. Early, late, and reproductive crop stages had NO₃-N leaching of 5.4, 4.9, and 2.3 NO₃-N ha⁻¹, respectively. On the other hand, early and late vegetative growth stages had 33 and 16% higher NO₃-N leaching than the reproductive phases. When averaged across treatments, early vegetative, late vegetative, and reproductive phases accounted for 51, 32 and 17% of the entire season NO₃-N leaching, respectively.

Agronomic Response, Residual Soil Nitrogen, And Economical Analysis

The NDRE, the crop tissue N concentration, grain yield, total biomass, and plant N uptake across treatments are shown in Table 5.2 and Figure 5.3. There were significant differences among the treatments for the NDRE, crop tissue N concentration, corn grain yield, total biomass, HI, and grain and plant N uptake. Across all the treatments, the NDRE values for all the treatments were low at V6 and gradually increased at V12 and VT. Compared to the control treatment, NDRE values were significantly higher in all split-N treatments; however, there were no differences among the four N splits. Furthermore, the crop tissue N concentration, grain yield, total biomass, HI, and grain and plant N uptake were significantly higher in the 2-5N splits than in the control (Figure 5.3 & Table 5.2). On the other hand, an N-addition of 202 kg N ha⁻¹ in split-N treatments resulted in a yield increase of 57-70%, depicting yield benefits with N addition. However, increasing the number of split applications did not result in yield benefits as there were no significant differences among all N-split treatments on corn yield (Figure 5.3a). Likewise, the number of N-splits did not affect crop total biomass and HI, although these were 53-64% and 2.7-3.9% higher for N-splits than the control treatment, respectively. Furthermore, there were no differences in the NHI (p = 0.17) among the treatments.



Figure 5.3 Treatment means and significance (error bars) of grain yield (a), biomass yield (b), harvest index (c), grain-N uptake (d), plant-N uptake (e), and N harvest index (f) as affected by N-splits.

Compared to the control treatment, all split N treatments significantly increased grain (p = 0.0003) and plant N-uptake (p = 0.0001). However, there were no grain and plant N uptake differences among the four N-split treatments (Figure 5.3d-e). No significant differences were observed among the treatments for PFP (p = 0.39: Table 5.2), NUE_{crop} (p = 0.51), AE (p = 0.41), NUtE (p = 0.18), and NRE (p=0.51) (Table 5.2). Across all treatments, PFP, NUE_{crop}, AE, NUtE, and NRE ranged from 73 to 80 kg kg⁻¹, 0.87 to 0.96 kg kg⁻¹, 31 to 33 kg kg⁻¹, 45 to 48 kg kg⁻¹, and 67 to 81%, respectively.

Increasing the number of N-splits did not affect the RTN or RTN_{Env} (Table 5.2). Adding N in split-N treatments increased the RTN by 954-1203 US\$ ha-1. However, when environmental costs were considered in the analysis, there was a decrease in net returns of 13-17% (92-143 US\$ ha-1), resulting in RTN_{Env} of 798-1082 US\$ ha-1 across all N-split treatments. Though not statistically significant, 2-N splits had modestly higher RTN and RTN_{Env} than three or more N-splits, indicating no economic benefit of

increasing the number of split-N applications during the dry growing conditions observed

in this study.

There were no significant main or interaction effects of treatments and depth on

residual soil NO₃-N and NH₄-N (Figure 5.4a, b). However, it was interesting to note

higher values of residual soil NH₄-N than NO₃-N across all treatments and depths.

Residual soil NH₄-N ranged from 70 to 101 kg ha⁻¹, while residual soil NO₃-N ranged

from 0 to 12 kg ha⁻¹ across all treatments and depths.

Table 5.2 Treatment means and significance of partial factor productivity (PFP), corn nitrogen use efficiency (NUE_{corn}), agronomic efficiency (AE), nitrogen utilization efficiency (NUE), nitrogen recovery efficiency (NRE), return to N (RTN), and RTN considering environmental costs (RTN_{Env}) as affected by nitrogen splits at Creighton, NE

Treatmen t	PFP	NUE corn	AE	N Ut E	NR E	RT N	RTN Env	NDRE			ELN C†
	kg grain kg ⁻¹ N				(%)	ha^{-1}		V6	V12	R1	(%)
2 N-splits	80	0.96	33	45	81	120 3a§	1060 а	0.3 a	0.5 a	0.68 a	3.1 a
3 N-splits	79	0.91	32	46	73	117 5a	1083 а	0.3 a	0.6 a	0.66 a	3.0 a
4 N-splits	73	0.87	27	45	67	954 а	798 a	0.3 a	0.5 a	0.65 a	2.9 a
5 N-splits	78	0.88	31	47	68	112 5a	1006 а	0.3 a	0.6 a	0.65 a	2.9 a
Control	-	-	-	48	-	-	-	0.2 b	0.4 b	0.53 b	2.1 b
SE¶	2.6	0.5	2.6	2	7	104	162	0	0	0.01	0.2
Significa nce (P _r > F)	0.4	0.51	0.4	0.2	0.5	0.4	0.62	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.01

§ Least significant difference at the 95% confidence level by PROC GLIMMIX-SAS treatment means followed by the same letter are not significantly different. Columns that do not contain letters indicate no significant difference between treatments.

† ELNC, Ear leaf N concentration at R1 stage.



¶ SE, standard error of the mean.

Figure 5.4 The residual soil N in the soil profile (0 - 120 cm) at the end of the growing season.

DISCUSSION

NO₃-N Leaching

NO₃-N leaching losses in the sandy soils of Nebraska have caused much concern due to environmental contamination and risks to human health (Ferguson, 2015; Power & Schepers, 1989). So, continuous efforts have been made to introduce best management practices to reduce NO₃-N leaching to groundwater. The pore water NO₃-N concentrations in this study were within the range of 6-35 mg NO₃-N L⁻¹ concentration in the lysimeter water reported by Spalding et al. (2001) in the Central Platte Valley of Nebraska during 1993-1996. However, the NO₃-N leaching losses of this study, ranging from 7.0 to 15.5 kg NO₃-N ha⁻¹, were lower than the NO₃-N leaching of 52 kg NO₃-N ha⁻¹ for continuous corn observed at the West Central Research and Extension Center (WCREC) of Nebraska (Klocke et al., 1999). Although the N rates used in this study (202 kg N ha⁻¹) were comparable to the N rate used by Klocke et al. (1999), the lower NO₃-N leaching in our study could be attributed to timing and source of N application as the WCREC study applied all the N in ammonium nitrate form at fourth to sixth leaf stage of corn which could be prone to NO₃-N leaching. In contrast, N application in this study was spread from pre-plant to R1, which might have better synchronized soil N availability with crop N uptake. Furthermore, the total water inputs from precipitation and irrigation in this study (376 mm) were lower than in the WCREC study (523-858 mm/season), reflecting less NO₃-N leaching in the soil. Splitting N application and use of N stabilizer in this study demonstrate that a combination of best management practices could reduce NO₃-N leaching in soils vulnerable to NO₃-N leaching in the area.

In this study, the decreasing trend for NO₃-N leaching over the growing season appeared stronger than the treatments themselves. The higher NO₃-N leaching in the early vegetative phase indicated higher potential N losses when the crop N requirement is low at early vegetative phases compared to late vegetative phases (Herrmann & Taube, 2004; Hirel et al., 2007; Jokela & Randall, 1997; Ma et al., 2021). These results support the previous findings that applying some N during the late vegetative phase can better synchronize N availability with crop N uptake and reduce the NO₃-N leaching losses (Kabir, 2020; Pawlick et al., 2019; Sitthaphanit et al., 2009). However, optimizing the number of N-splits to increase N uptake and reduce NO₃-N leaching remains uncertain. To our knowledge, no previous study has reported the effect of the number of N splits on NO₃-N leaching in the Midwest arable cropping system. However, in other regions, studies have reported either a decrease (Sitthaphanit et al., 2009) or no effect (Wang et al., 2016) with increasing the number of split-N applications on NO₃-N leaching in sandy soils. Though we tested multiple N applications to optimize N splits in this study, we did not find a significant effect of early vs. late season N splits on NO₃-N leaching across the entire season, except with some trend of higher NO₃-N concentration with 2 splits than 3, 4, and 5 splits during the reproductive phases.

The insignificant effect of the number of N-splits on area-based NO₃-N leaching across the entire season in our study could be due to several reasons. First, using an AGROTAIN urease inhibitor across all treatments at pre-plant might have diminished the treatment effect on NO₃-N leaching during the early vegetative phase. This was confirmed in a companion study at the same farm and year, where AGROTAIN slowed the release of N after pre-plant application (data not yet published). Second, the variability of NO₃-N leaching could have led to insignificant treatment effects as the NO₃-N concentration variability of samples collected from the lysimeters is often higher when compared to NO₃-N concentration in shallow groundwater (Spalding et al., 2001). Although this variability can be due to site-specific conditions or spatial variation (Gärdenäs et al., 2005), the higher variation (i.e. standard errors) in this study failed to detect the differences among the treatments. Third, the site observed 26% less rainfall in the early vegetative phase (May until mid-June; 79 mm) compared to an average of the

last ten years precipitation (108 mm) which might have reduced the NO₃-N leaching potential during the early season, especially in high N inputs in 2N-splits at V4, as timing of precipitation significantly affects NO₃-N leaching in sandy soils (Petrovic, 2003; Yahdjian & Sala, 2010). Overall, the lack of significant effect due to the number of Nsplits on NO₃-N leaching indicates that multiple N-splits may not consistently decrease NO₃-N leaching, but this in part depends on when the period of high deep percolation happens relative to the time of N application (Preza-Fontes et al., 2021). Had we conducted this study without the use of AGROTAIN urease inhibitor at pre-plant or had heavy precipitation during the vegetative phases, then early season application with less N-splits might have increased NO₃-N leaching compared to a greater number of N-splits during late vegetative or early reproductive phases. Although these results were for one year, they highlight the need to test N-spits to minimize NO₃-N leaching across more years.

Although we found significantly higher NO₃-N concentration in all four split-N treatments than control, these effects were not significant when NO₃-N leaching was calculated based on the area scale NO₃-N leaching. However, it is important to note that the insignificant differences of area-based NO₃-N leaching between N-splits and control were more likely due to lower evapotranspiration leading to higher deep percolation and area-based NO₃-N leaching in control than all the fertilized treatments, especially during the later vegetative and reproductive phases (Table 5.2) (Bowles et al., 2018). This kind of effect where NO₃-N leaching increases with high deep percolation, has been observed in previous studies (e.g. Bowles et al., 2018). Similar to the findings of this study,

Maharjan et al. (2014) reported no differences in NO₃-N leaching between split N application and control in sandy loam soil in Minnesota. Despite having no significant differences in NO₃-N leaching between split-N and control treatments, NO₃-N leaching from split-N treatments was almost two times greater than the NO₃-N leaching losses from the control, demonstrating the environmental impact of using N fertilizers in the cropping system. These results indicate that further optimization of N splits would be necessary to control NO₃-N leaching, as groundwater contamination is a concern for public health. Meanwhile, it is important to note that NO₃-N leaching cannot be minimized to zero even when no nitrogen is applied. Relatively higher NO₃-N leaching in control might be due to continuous mineralization of soil organic matter or irrigation of water with high NO₃-N concentration. Previous studies have reported similar or higher levels of NO₃-N leaching from control than observed from control in this study (Helmers et al., 2012; Lawlor et al., 2008; Preza-Fontes et al., 2021; Ruffatti et al., 2019).

Crop Yield and Nitrogen Use Efficiency

In-season N application have been shown to improve NUE and decrease N losses (Walsh et al., 2012). In this study, although all split-N applications significantly increased crop yield compared to control, no differences in crop yield among the split-N treatments indicate that N availability was not limited at any crop growth stage in the fertilized treatments. These insignificant differences in crop yield were reflected by no differences in NDRE values from V6 to R1, NUE, crop tissue N concentration at R1, and crop N uptake at harvest among these treatments (Tables 4). On the other hand, there was an adequate N supply with N recovery reaching 68-81% of the applied N across all split-N treatments. Similar results have been reported by Mueller et al. (2017) who found no

yield response to the late split-N application at the R1 growth stage of corn in sandy loam soil. They attributed this to sufficient soil N availability by late N application at the R1 growth stage. A positive yield response to late-season N application may be more likely when most of the N is applied early in the season (Mueller et al., 2017). On the other hand, late season application response could be observed when the initial N application is insufficient or lost through leaching or other denitrification process (Jaynes and Colvin, 2006). Other studies (Ning et al., 2017; Jaynes and Colvin, 2006; Roberts et al., 2016; Yan et al., 2014) also found no crop yield response to late season N application when N was already present in sufficient amounts in soil. In contrast, Lu et al. (2012) and Zhou et al. (2019) found that applying N in 3-splits (V6, V10, and R1) and 4-splits (sowing, V6, V12, R1) increased grain yield than applying nitrogen at 2-N splits (sowing and V6). The difference in crop yield response between the studies could be attributed to differences in N management and growing conditions between the sites. In our study, using a urease inhibitor at pre-plant might have delayed the N release and reduced NO₃-N leaching losses (observed in a companion study), and hence, N application with all-N splits might have satisfied the crop N requirements. Had we conducted this trial without the AGROTAIN urease inhibitor or with heavy precipitation in the early season, increasing the number of N-splits during late vegetative or early reproductive phases might have increased crop yield in this study.

Despite the lack of corn yield response to the number of split-N applications, 2-N splits had slightly higher values for corn yield, crop tissue N concentration, and NRE than 3, 4, and 5-N splits, indicating better source-sink performance of the 2-N splits in a dry

year. This was similar to previous studies where 2-N splits were sufficient to meet crop N demand (Deng et al., 2023; Mueller & Vyn, 2018; Rutan & Steinke, 2018; Wang et al., 2016) while late-split N application negatively impacted the crop yield (Scharf et al., 2002; Adriaanse and Human, 1993; Walsh et al., 2012; Mueller and Vyn, 2018; Jaynes and Colvin, 2006), as late N application can ignore the N demand for early crop growth and cause some irreparable damage to the crop by affecting absorption of N during later crop growth stages (Deng et al., 2023). In a similar study, Deng et al., 2023 found that 4-N spits had slightly lower grain yield than 2-N and 3-N splits, supporting the results of this study. These results also highlight the importance of adequate early season N nutrition on the corn yield (Schepers et al., 1995).

Residual Soil Nitrogen

Split-N application during the growing season is often implied to synchronize better the soil N availability with the crop N uptake and reduce N losses (Pawlick et al., 2019: Perza-Fontes et al., 2021; Zhou et al., 2019). However, any N left in the soil at harvest can be prone to NO₃-N leaching during the non-growing season (Tan et al., 2002; Jayasundara et al., 2007). Previous research has shown that mid-late season N application in case of less crop N uptake can leave a significant amount of residual N at harvest, which becomes available for leaching during the non-growing season (Jaynes and Colvin, 2006; Wang et al., 2016: Randall et al., 1997). In this study, no differences in residual soil NO₃-N and NH₄-N among split N-treatments corresponded to no differences in NO₃-N leaching and crop yield, indicating that most of the applied N in irrigated sandy soil was either taken up by the crop or lost during the growing season. Furthermore, the cumulative residual soil NO₃-N at 0-1.2 m depth in this study was lower (0 – 12 kg NO₃- N ha⁻¹) than the generally reported residual soil NO₃-N value of 50 kg NO₃-N in soils of Nebraska (Shapiro et al., 2008). One reason for the less residual NO₃-N could be the soil characteristics of this study (loamy sand soil), that with sufficient water inputs via rainfall and irrigation, might have resulted in either crop N uptake or downward movement of nitrogen in soil profile, thus leaving less residual NO₃-N for the next year crop. However, compared to residual NO₃-N, it was interesting to note higher cumulative residual NH₄-N (70-101 kg NH₄-N ha⁻¹) across all treatments, either originating from fertilizer or soil organic matter mineralization.

Despite the lack of significant differences in soil NH₄-N among the treatments, 5-N split had relatively higher NH₄-N at the lower depths of 0.4-1.2m (Figure 5.4). This higher NH₄-N movement into the lower depths might have resulted from the last fertigation at R1, as NH₄-N from UAN might have moved into the soil profile without going through the nitrification process or interception by the plant roots. This NH₄-N in the soil profile at harvest could cause a significant risk of contaminating the groundwater during the non-growing season as NH₄-N would eventually convert to NO₃-N due to microbial activity (Subarao et al., 2021). Moreover, when averaged across all the treatments, cumulative residual N at 0-1.2m soil depth at harvest (70-101 kg N ha⁻¹) was 7-10 times higher than NO₃-N leaching load during the growing season, clearly indicating more risk for NO₃-N leaching during the non-growing season. This was supported by previous studies that reported that a significant portion of NO₃-N leaching occurred during the non-growing season of November – April in the region (Tan et al., 2002; Drury et al., 1996; Jayasundara et al., 2007).

Conclusion

Corn production with early season precipitation in sandy soils at the BGMA and other groundwater management areas poses a high risk of NO₃-N leaching even when high N rates are not used. So, optimizing the number of N splits with a cut-off date for N application during the late growing season is critical for protecting groundwater quality. Our one-year study occurred in a dry year where we did not observe any benefit of increasing the number of split-N applications on protecting groundwater quality or improving corn yield. The lack of significant effect of the number of N-splits on NO₃-N leaching indicates that multiple N-splits may not consistently decrease NO₃-N leaching across all years. Had we conducted this study in a normal to wet year, we may have seen the effect of increasing the number of split-N on agronomic, economic, and environmental benefits. Nevertheless, in this study, the general trend for higher NO₃-N leaching early in the season with a decreasing trend over the growing season appeared stronger than the treatments themselves, emphasizing the need for controlling the NO₃-N leaching during the early season. Furthermore, the significant treatment effect on seasonal NO₃-N concentration with insignificant treatment effect on seasonal NO₃-N leaching from this study indicates that higher pore water NO₃-N concentrations may not always translate into higher NO₃-N leaching losses, but rather deep percolation counts towards an accurate accounting of NO₃-N leaching losses. Nevertheless, this study highlights the limitation of increasing the number of split-N during a dry year and emphasizes the need to collect more data to optimize the number of split-N across multiple years with a range of dry, normal, and wet seasons.

References

- Adriaanse, F. G., & Human, J. J. (1993). Effect of time of application and nitrate: ammonium ratio on maize grain yield, grain N concentration and soil mineral N concentration in a semi-arid region. *Field Crops Research*, 34(1), 57–70.
- Allen, R. G., Pereira, L. S., Raes, D., & Smith, M. (1998). Crop evapotranspiration-Guidelines for computing crop water requirements-FAO Irrigation and drainage paper 56. *Fao, Rome, 300*(9), D05109.
- Allen, R. G., Smith, M., Pereira, L. S., Raes, D., & Wright, J. L. (2000). Revised FAO procedures for calculating evapotranspiration: irrigation and drainage paper no. 56 with testing in Idaho. In *Watershed Management and Operations Management* (pp. 1–10).
- Azad, N., Behmanesh, J., Rezaverdinejad, V., Abbasi, F., & Navabian, M. (2020). An analysis of optimal fertigation implications in different soils on reducing environmental impacts of agricultural nitrate leaching. *Scientific Reports*, *10*(1), 1–
- Binder, D. L., Sander, D. H., & Walters, D. T. (2000). Maize response to time of nitrogen application as affected by level of nitrogen deficiency. *Agronomy Journal*, 92(6), 1228–1236.
- Bowles, T. M., Jackson, L. E., & Cavagnaro, T. R. (2018). Mycorrhizal fungi enhance plant nutrient acquisition and modulate nitrogen loss with variable water regimes. *Global Change Biology*, 24(1), e171–e182.
- Cassman, K. G., Dobermann, A., & Walters, D. T. (2002). Agroecosystems, nitrogen-use efficiency, and nitrogen management. *AMBIO: A Journal of the Human*

Environment, 31(2), 132–140.

- Chen, X., Zhang, F., Römheld, V., Horlacher, D., Schulz, R., Böning-Zilkens, M., Wang,
 P., & Claupein, W. (2006). Synchronizing N supply from soil and fertilizer and N
 demand of winter wheat by an improved Nmin method. *Nutrient Cycling in Agroecosystems*, 74(2), 91–98.
- Ciampitti, I. A., & Vyn, T. J. (2012). Physiological perspectives of changes over time in maize yield dependency on nitrogen uptake and associated nitrogen efficiencies : A review. *Field Crops Research*, 133, 48–67.
- Congreves, K. A., Otchere, O., Ferland, D., Farzadfar, S., Williams, S., & Arcand, M. M. (2021). Nitrogen Use Efficiency Definitions of Today and Tomorrow. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, *12*(June), 1–10.
- Deng, T., Wang, J., Gao, Z., Shen, S., Liang, X., Zhao, X., Chen, X., Wu, G., Wang, X., & Zhou, S. (2023). Late Split-Application with Reduced Nitrogen Fertilizer
 Increases Yield by Mediating Source Sink Relations during the Grain Filling Stage in Summer Maize. *Plants*, *12*(3), 625.
- Djaman, K., & Irmak, S. (2013). Actual crop evapotranspiration and alfalfa-and grassreference crop coefficients of maize under full and limited irrigation and rainfed conditions. *Journal of Irrigation and Drainage Engineering*, *139*(6), 433–446.
- Ebrahimian, H., Liaghat, A., Parsinejad, M., Abbasi, F., & Navabian, M. (2012).
 Comparison of one-and two-dimensional models to simulate alternate and conventional furrow fertigation. *Journal of Irrigation and Drainage Engineering*, *138*(10), 929–938.

- Ferguson, R. B. (2015). Groundwater quality and nitrogen use efficiency in Nebraska's Central Platte River Valley. *Journal of Environmental Quality*, 44(2), 449–459.
- Fernandez, J. A., DeBruin, J., Messina, C. D., & Ciampitti, I. A. (2020). Late-season nitrogen fertilization on maize yield: A meta-analysis. *Field Crops Research*, 247, 107586.
- Gärdenäs, A. I., Hopmans, J. W., Hanson, B. R., & Šimůnek, J. (2005). Two-dimensional modeling of nitrate leaching for various fertigation scenarios under micro-irrigation. *Agricultural Water Management*, 74(3), 219–242.
- Grant, C. A., Wu, R., Selles, F., Harker, K. N., Clayton, G. W., Bittman, S., Zebarth, B.
 J., & Lupwayi, N. Z. (2012). Crop yield and nitrogen concentration with controlled release urea and split applications of nitrogen as compared to non-coated urea applied at seeding. *Field Crops Research*, *127*, 170–180.
- Helmers, M. J., Zhou, X., Baker, J. L., Melvin, S. W., & Lemke, D. W. (2012). Nitrogen loss on tile-drained Mollisols as affected by nitrogen application rate under continuous corn and corn-soybean rotation systems. *Canadian Journal of Soil Science*, 92(3), 493–499.
- Herrmann, A., & Taube, F. (2004). The range of the critical nitrogen dilution curve for maize (Zea mays L.) can be extended until silage maturity. *Agronomy Journal*, 96(4), 1131–1138.
- High Plains Regional Climate Center (HPRCC). 2023. High Plains RCC AWDN. https://hprcc.unl.edu/awdn/. Accessed 31 Jan 2023.

Hirel, B., Le Gouis, J., Ney, B., & Gallais, A. (2007). The challenge of improving

nitrogen use efficiency in crop plants: towards a more central role for genetic variability and quantitative genetics within integrated approaches. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, *58*(9), 2369–2387.

- Jaynes, D. B., & Colvin, T. S. (2006). Corn yield and nitrate loss in subsurface drainage from midseason nitrogen fertilizer application. *Agronomy Journal*, 98(6), 1479– 1487. https://doi.org/10.2134/agronj2006.0046
- Jokela, W. E., & Randall, G. W. (1997). Fate of fertilizer nitrogen as affected by time and rate of application on corn. *Soil Science Society of America Journal*, *61*(6), 1695–1703.
- Jung, P. E., Peterson, L. A., & Schrader, L. E. (1972). Response of Irrigated Corn to Time, Rate, and Source of Applied N on Sandy Soils. *Agronomy Journal*, 64(5), 668–670.
- Juntakut, P., Snow, D. D., Haacker, E. M. K., & Ray, C. (2019). The long term effect of agricultural, vadose zone and climatic factors on nitrate contamination in Nebraska's groundwater system. *Journal of Contaminant Hydrology*, 220, 33–48.
- Kabir, T. (2020). The Effects of Split Nitrogen Application and Weather on the Profitability and Environmental Performance of Ontario Corn Production. [Masters Thesis, The University of Guelph]. https://atrium.lib.uoguelph.ca/server/api/core/bitstreams/a6f5b7ec-f12f-4041-8bf3-

51deae1f9583/content

Kandeler, E., & Gerber, H. (1988). Short-term assay of soil urease activity using colorimetric determination of ammonium. *Biology and Fertility of Soils*, 6, 68–72.

- Klocke, N. L., Watts, D. G., Schneekloth, J. P., Davison, D. R., Todd, R. W., & Parkhurst, A. M. (1999). Nitrate leaching in irrigated corn and soybean in a semiarid climate. *Transactions of the ASAE*, 42(6), 1621–1630.
- Lawlor, P. A., Helmers, M. J., Baker, J. L., Melvin, S. W., & Lemke, D. W. (2008).
 Nitrogen application rate effect on nitrate-nitrogen concentration and loss in subsurface drainage for a corn-soybean rotation. *Transactions of the ASABE*, *51*(1), 83–94.
- Li, L., Hosseiniaghdam, E., Drijber, R., Jeske, E., Awada, T., Hiller, J., & Kaiser, M.
 (2023). Conversion of native grassland to coniferous forests decreased stocks of soil organic carbon and microbial biomass. *Plant and Soil*, 0123456789.
- Lo, T. H., Rudnick, D. R., Burr, C. A., Stockton, M. C., & Werle, R. (2019). Approaches to evaluating grower irrigation and fertilizer nitrogen amount and timing. *Agricultural Water Management*, 213, 693–706.
- Lü, P., Zhang, J. W., Jin, L. B., Liu, W., Dong, S. T., & Liu, P. (2012). Effects of nitrogen application stage on grain yield and nitrogen use efficiency of high-yield summer maize. *Plant, Soil and Environment*, 58(5), 211–216.
- Ma, Q., Wang, M., Zheng, G., Yao, Y., Tao, R., Zhu, M., Ding, J., Li, C., Guo, W., &
 Zhu, X. (2021). Twice-split application of controlled-release nitrogen fertilizer met the nitrogen demand of winter wheat. *Field Crops Research*, 267(April), 1–9.
- Maharjan, B., Venterea, R. T., & Rosen, C. (2014). Fertilizer and irrigation management effects on nitrous oxide emissions and nitrate leaching. *Agronomy Journal*, 106(2), 703–714.

- Miranda, K. M., Espey, M. G., Yamada, K., Krishna, M., Ludwick, N., Kim, S., Jourd'heuil, D., Grisham, M. B., Feelisch, M., & Fukuto, J. M. (2001). Unique oxidative mechanisms for the reactive nitrogen oxide species, nitroxyl anion. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 276(3), 1720–1727.
- Motasim, A., Samsuri, A. W., Shairah, A., & Sukor, A. (2022). Split application of liquid urea as a tool to nitrogen loss minimization and NUE improvement of corn A review. *Chilean Journal of Agricultural Research*, 82(Otober-December), 645–657.
- Mueller, S. M., Camberato, J., Messina, C., Shanahan, J., Zhang, H., & Vyn, T. J. (2017).
 Late-Split Nitrogen Applications Increased Maize Plant Nitrogen Recovery but not
 Yield under Moderate to High Nitrogen Rates. *Agronomy Journal*, *109*(6), 2689–2699.
- Mueller, S. M., & Vyn, T. J. (2018). Can Late-Split Nitrogen Application Increase Ear Nitrogen Accumulation Rate During the Critical Period in Maize? *Crop Science*, 58(4), 1717–1728.
- Nafziger, E. D., & Rapp, D. (2020). Corn yield response to late-split nitrogen fertilizer. *Agronomy Journal*, *113*(1), 527-536.
- Ning, P., Fritschi, F. B., & Li, C. (2017). Temporal dynamics of post-silking nitrogen fluxes and their effects on grain yield in maize under low to high nitrogen inputs. *Field Crops Research*, 204, 249–259.
- Nolan, B. T., & Hitt, K. J. (2006). Vulnerability of shallow groundwater and drinkingwater wells to nitrate in the United States. *Environmental Science and Technology*, 40(24), 7834–7840.

- Olson, R. A., Raun, W. R., Chun, yang S., & Skopp, J. (1986). Nitrogen Management and Interseeding Effects on Irrigated Corn and Sorghum and on Soil Strength 1. *Agronomy Journal*, 78(5), 856–862.
- Ouattara, B. S., Zahid, M., Rahman, F. I., Weber, K. A., Bartelt-Hunt, S. L., & Rogan, E.
 G. (2022). Investigation of a possible relationship between anthropogenic and geogenic water contaminants and birth defects occurrence in Rural Nebraska. *Water*, *14*(15), 2289.
- Pawlick, A. A., Wagner-Riddle, C., Parkin, G. W., & Berg, A. A. (2019). Assessment of nitrification and urease inhibitors on nitrate leaching in corn (*Zea mays* L.). *Canadian Journal of Soil Science*, 99(1), 80–91.
- Petrovic, A. M. (2003). Nitrogen source and timing impact on nitrate leaching from turf. International Conference on Turfgrass Management and Science for Sports Fields 661, 427–432.
- Poffenbarger, H. J., Barker, D. W., Helmers, M., Miguez, F., Olk, D., Sawyer, J., Six, J., & Castellano, M. (2017). Maximum soil organic carbon storage in Midwest US. cropping systems when crops are optimally nitrogen- fertilized. *PLoS One*, *12*(3), e0172293.
- Power, J. F. Y., & Schepers, J. S. (1989). Nitrate contamination of groundwater in North America. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment*, 26(3–4), 165–187.
- Powlson, D. S. (1993). Understanding the soil nitrogen cycle. *Soil Use and Management*, 9(3), 86–93.

Preza-Fontes, G., Christianson, L. E., Greer, K., Bhattarai, R., & Pittelkow, C. M. (2022).

In-season split nitrogen application and cover cropping effects on nitrous oxide emissions in rainfed maize. *Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment, 326*, 107813.

- Preza-Fontes, G., Christianson, L. E., & Pittelkow, C. M. (2023). Investigating tradeoffs in nitrogen loss pathways using an environmental damage cost framework. *Agricultural & Environmental Letters*, 8(1), e20103.
- Preza-Fontes, G., Pittelkow, C. M., Greer, K. D., Bhattarai, R., & Christianson, L. E. (2021). Split-nitrogen application with cover cropping reduces subsurface nitrate losses while maintaining corn yields. J *Environ Qual.* 50:1408–1418.
- Roberts, T. L., Slaton, N. A., Kelley, J. P., Greub, C. E., & Fulford, A. M. (2016).
 Fertilizer nitrogen recovery efficiency of furrow-irrigated corn. *Agronomy Journal*, *108*(5), 2123–2128. https://doi.org/10.2134/agronj2016.02.0092
- Robertson, G. P., & Vitousek, P. M. (2009). Nitrogen in agriculture: balancing the cost of an essential resource. *Annual Review of Environment and Resources*, *34*, 97–125.
- Rubin, J. C., Struffert, A. M., Fernández, F. G., & Lamb, J. A. (2016). Maize yield and nitrogen use efficiency in Upper midwest irrigated sandy soils. *Agronomy Journal*, 108(4), 1681–1691.
- Rudnick, D. R., Irmak, S., Djaman, K., & Sharma, V. (2017). Impact of irrigation and nitrogen fertilizer rate on soil water trends and maize evapotranspiration during the vegetative and reproductive periods. *Agricultural Water Management*, 191, 77–84.
- Ruffatti, M. D., Roth, R. T., Lacey, C. G., & Armstrong, S. D. (2019). Impacts of nitrogen application timing and cover crop inclusion on subsurface drainage water quality. *Agricultural Water Management*, 211, 81–88.

- Rutan, J., & Steinke, K. (2018). Pre-plant and in-season nitrogen combinations for the Northern Corn Belt. *Agronomy Journal*, *110*(5), 2059–2069.
- Scharf, P. C., Weibold, W., & Lory, J. (2002). Corn Yield Reponse to Nitrogen Fertilizer Timing and Deficiency Level. Agronomy Journal, 94, 435–441.
- Schepers, J. S., Varvel, G. E., & Watts, D. G. (1995). Nitrogen and water management strategies to reduce nitrate leaching under irrigated maize. *Journal of Contaminant Hydrology*, 20(3–4), 227–239.
- Shanahan, J. F., Kitchen, N. R., Raun, W. R., & Schepers, J. S. (2008). Responsive inseason nitrogen management for cereals. *Computers and Electronics in Agriculture*, 61(1), 51–62.
- Silva, P. R. F. da, Strieder, M. L., Coser, R. P. da S., Rambo, L., Sangoi, L., Argenta, G., Forsthofer, E. L., & Silva, A. A. da. (2005). Grain yield and kernel crude protein content increases of maize hybrids with late nitrogen side-dressing. *Scientia Agricola*, 62(5), 487–492.
- Singh, A., Afzal, T., Woodbury, B., Wortmann, C., & Iqbal, J. (2023). Alfalfa in rotation with annual crops reduced nitrate leaching potential. *Journal of Environmental Quality*, 52, 930–938.
- Singh, A., Kukal, M. S., Shapiro, C. A., Snow, D. D., Irmak, S., & Iqbal, J. (2021).
 Growth phase-specific evaporative demand and nighttime temperatures determine
 Maize (Zea Mays L.) yield deviations as revealed from a long-term field experiment. *Agricultural and Forest Meteorology*, 308, 108543.

Singh, R. K., & Irmak, A. (2009). Estimation of crop coefficients using satellite remote

sensing. Journal of Irrigation and Drainage Engineering, 135(5), 597–608.

- Sitthaphanit, S., Limpinuntana, V., Toomsan, B., Panchaban, S., & Bell, R. (2009). Fertiliser strategies for improved nutrient use efficiency on sandy soils in high rainfall regimes. *Nutr Cycl Agroecosyst*, 85, 123–139.
- Sobota, D. J., Compton, J. E., McCrackin, M. L., & Singh, S. (2015). Cost of reactive nitrogen release from human activities to the environment in the United States. *Environmental Research Letters*, 10(2), 25006.
- Spalding, R. F., Watts, D. G., Schepers, J. S., Burbach, M. E., Exner, M. E., Poreda, R. J., & Martin, G. E. (2001). Controlling nitrate leaching in irrigated agriculture. *Journal* of Environmental Quality, 30(4), 1184–1194.
- USDA-NRCS (1985). National engineering handbook, section 4: hydrology. US Soil Conservation Service, USDA, Washington, DC.
- Venterea, R. T., & Coulter, J. A. (2015). Split application of urea does not decrease and may increase nitrous oxide emissions in rainfed corn. *Agronomy Journal*, 107(1), 337–348.
- Venterea, R. T., Hyatt, C. R., & Rosen, C. J. (2011). Fertilizer management effects on nitrate leaching and indirect nitrous oxide emissions in irrigated potato production. *Journal of Environmental Quality*, 40(4), 1103–1112.
- Walsh, O., Raun, W., Klatt, A., & Solie, J. (2012). Effect of delayed nitrogen fertilization on maize (Zea mays L.) grain yields and nitrogen use efficiency. *Journal of Plant Nutrition*, 35(4), 538–555.

Wang, S., Luo, S., & Yue, S. (2016). Fate of 15 N fertilizer under different nitrogen split

applications to plastic mulched maize in semiarid farmland. *Nutrient Cycling in Agroecosystems*, *105*(2), 129–140.

- Wick, K., Heumesser, C., & Schmid, E. (2012). Groundwater nitrate contamination: factors and indicators. *Journal of Environmental Management*, 111, 178–186.
- Yahdjian, L., & Sala, O. E. (2010). Size of precipitation pulses controls nitrogen transformation and losses in an arid Patagonian ecosystem. *Ecosystems*, 13, 575– 585.
- Yan, P., Yue, S., Qiu, M., Chen, X., Cui, Z., & Chen, F. (2014). Using maize hybrids and in-season nitrogen management to improve grain yield and grain nitrogen concentrations. *Field Crops Research*, 166, 38–45.
- Zhang, X., Davidson, E. A., Mauzerall, D. L., Searchinger, T. D., Dumas, P., & Shen, Y. (2015). Managing nitrogen for sustainable development. *Nature*, 528(7580), 51–59. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature15743
- Zhou, B., Sun, X., Wang, D., Ding, Z., Li, C., Ma, W., & Zhao, M. (2019). Integrated agronomic practice increases maize grain yield and nitrogen use efficiency under various soil fertility conditions. *The Crop Journal*, 7(4), 527–538.
- Zhou, Z., Plauborg, F., Liu, F., Kristensen, K., & Andersen, M. N. (2018). Yield and crop growth of table potato affected by different split-N fertigation regimes in sandy soil. *European Journal of Agronomy*, 92, 41–50.

CHAPTER 6

SUMMARY AND GENERAL CONCLUSIONS

Higher groundwater nitrate contamination in the sandy soils of the BGMA poses a high risk to the environment and human health. Identifying and evaluating the best nitrogen management practices are critical to sustaining crop production with minimal impact on water quality in this area. A series of studies were conducted to understand the effects of N recommendation tools on agronomic, economic, and environmental performance and explore the possibility of integrating sub-optimum N rate with deficit irrigation, enhanced efficiency fertilizers, and N-splits to improve nitrogen use efficiency, and water quality in the groundwater management areas of Nebraska.

The first study showed that the static NE YG tool was more effective in predicting EONR and grain yield than the dynamic N tools. The dynamic N tools predicted nitrogen rates below EONR, resulting in yield penalties more than half of the time. However, three dynamic N tools (Canopy Reflectance Sensing, Granular, and Adapt-N) reduced nitrate leaching by 18% more than half of the time, suggesting the potential for environmental benefits using these tools. Economically, all N tools were equally effective in determining economic returns when environmental costs of NO₃-N leaching (RTN_{Env}) were included. These results highlight challenges in adopting dynamic N tools as these provide some environmental benefits but with yield penalties and no economic benefits. On the other hand, the static NE YG can provide agronomic and economic benefits but no environmental benefits. Policymakers and farmers need to prioritize environmental or economic benefits while preferring any of these N recommendation tools.

The second study demonstrated that using multiple N-splits at sub-optimum or reduced N rates can substantially reduce NO₃-N leaching in vulnerable sandy soils. Though 25% and 50% reductions in N fertilizer decreased maize yield by 8% and 11%, this reduction in N rates substantially reduced NO₃-N leaching by 24 and 51% and RTN_{Env} by \$87 ha⁻¹ and \$25 ha⁻¹, respectively. These results highlight a tradeoff between reduced grain yield, reduced NO₃-N leaching, and societal economic returns in the groundwater NO₃-N contaminated areas. Furthermore, higher maize grain yield, RTN, and relatively lower NO₃-N leaching from 80% FIT indicate that reducing irrigation can minimize NO₃-N leaching without impacting maize yield and economic returns. Compared to N and irrigation management within the growing season, it was interesting to observe that yearly variation in irrigation and grain yield had a higher impact on determining NO₃-N leaching and economic returns i.e. despite having lower irrigation and total water inputs, 2021 had higher grain yield, lower NO₃-N leaching, lower residual NO₃-N and NH₄-N, and higher RTN than 2022. These results demonstrate that adjusting irrigation and N rates could substantially reduce NO₃-N leaching without impacting RTN_{Env} in the groundwater NO₃-N contaminated areas. Future research should explore irrigation scheduling and N rate models to optimize irrigation and N inputs to reduce NO₃-N leaching.

In the third study, conventional U_{split} application did not significantly decrease NO₃-N leaching, corn yield, and economic returns compared to U_{PP} . However, the use of EEFs (i.e., Agrotain and SuperU) in single pre-plant application not only substantially decreased NO₃-N leaching with the levels approaching control treatments in both years,

but had the same or even better crop yield, and improved economic returns than conventional U_{split} and U_{PP}. Notably, though the split application of EEFs with UAN decreased NO₃-N leaching and increased corn yield than U_{PP}, but the single application of these EEFs had significantly lower NO₃-N leaching than their split application with UAN (i.e., (U+UI)_{split}, (U+UI+NI)_{split}). Across all nitrogen treatments, the lower NO₃-N leaching from single pre-plant application of EEFs were also explained by relatively higher grain and biomass yield, crop N uptake, NRE, PFP, and AE, indicating these treatments as the most efficient N management system for improving N recovery efficiency. These findings provide clear evidence that EEF_{PP} could be a very effective strategy in mitigating NO₃-N leaching losses while improving economic benefits in the groundwater contaminated areas.

The fourth study aimed to optimize the number of N splits with a cut-off date for N application during the late growing season to maximize the agronomic and economic benefits while protecting groundwater quality. Our one-year study occurred in a dry year where we did not observe any benefit of increasing the number of split-N applications on protecting groundwater quality or improving corn yield. The lack of significant effect of the number of N-splits on NO₃-N leaching indicates that multiple N-splits may not consistently decrease NO₃-N leaching across all years. Had we conducted this study in a normal to wet year, we may have seen the effect of increasing the number of split-N on agronomic, economic, and environmental benefits. Nevertheless, in this study, the general trend for higher NO₃-N leaching early in the season with a decreasing trend over the growing season appeared stronger than the treatments themselves, emphasizing the need for controlling the NO₃-N leaching during the early season. Furthermore, the significant treatment effect on seasonal NO₃-N concentration with insignificant treatment effect on seasonal NO₃-N leaching from this study indicates that higher pore water NO₃-N concentrations may not always translate into higher NO₃-N leaching losses, but rather deep percolation counts towards an accurate accounting of NO₃-N leaching losses. Nevertheless, this study highlights the limitation of increasing the number of split-N during a dry year and emphasizes the need to collect more data to optimize the number of split-N across multiple years with a range of dry, normal, and wet seasons.

Overall, these studies' findings will help producers and policymakers in decisionmaking for the right nitrogen recommendation tools, nitrogen source, and irrigation rates for improving agronomic, economic, and environmental performance in groundwater management areas of Nebraska. However, more research trials across multiple sites with variable environmental conditions could help to validate the observed results. Furthermore, future research should integrate irrigation scheduling, N rate models, and the number of N-splits to optimize the irrigation and N inputs to improve agronomic, economic, and environmental performance in the area.